
Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee
Date: Monday, 19 June 2017
Time: 6.00 pm
Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer: Patrick Sebastian
Tel: 0151 691 8424
e-mail: patricksebastian@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

/ PARTY WHIP 

Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 
pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.
 
Members are reminded that they should also declare whether they are 
subject to a party whip in connection with any item(s) to be considered 
and, if so, to declare it and state the nature of the whipping 
arrangement.

2. CALL-IN OF CABINET MINUTE 113 - LEISURE AND CULTURAL 
SERVICES- FUTURE PROVISION OF SERVICES (Pages 1 - 136)

Attached to the agenda are:

 Call-in procedure (Pages  1 – 2)
 Call-in form (Pages  3 – 5)
 Cabinet Minute 113 (Pages  7 – 10)

            Leisure and Cultural Services - Future Provision                 
of Services

 Cabinet Report and Appendices (Pages  11 – 87)
 Shared Intelligence Report – Review of 

Libraries
(Pages  88 – 136)

Public Document Pack



3. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 1) 

4. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC 

The public may be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information.

RECOMMENDED

That, in accordance with section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
the following items of business, on the grounds that they involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by the relevant 
paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended) to that Act. The 
public interest test has been applied and favours exclusion.

5. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 2) 



CALL IN PROCEDURE
Chair’s opening remarks (5 minutes)
The Chair will open the special Committee meeting convened to consider the Call-In and set 
out the procedure as follows:

Explanation of the call in by the lead signatory (5 minutes)
The Chair will invite the lead signatory to set out the reasons for the Call-In.
Members of the Committee will be invited to ask the lead signatory questions.

Overview and explanation of the decision taken by the relevant Cabinet Member 
(5 minutes)
The Chair will invite the Cabinet Member to explain the reasons for the decision.
Members of the Committee will be invited to ask the Cabinet Member questions.

Evidence from call in witnesses 
The Chair will invite the following witnesses to come forward. Witnesses may read out a 
written statement (not to exceed 5 minutes) if they wish, prior to questions from Members of 
the Committee. (Running order of witnesses – List of witnesses to be confirmed)

Evidence from decision-taker’s witnesses
The Chair will invite the following witnesses to come forward. Witnesses may read out a 
written statement if they wish (not to exceed 5 minutes), prior to questions from Members of 
the Committee. (Running order of witnesses – List of witnesses to be confirmed)

Summary of the lead signatory (5 minutes)
The Chair will invite the lead signatory to summarise the key points of evidence given in 
support of their case.

Summary of the decision-taker (5 minutes)
The Chair will invite the decision-taker to summarise the key points of evidence given in 
support of the initial decision.

Committee Debate
The Chair will invite comments, observations and discussion from members of the 
Committee.

Committee Decision
The Committee having considered the evidence and debate may:-

 Refer the decision back to the Cabinet Member setting out in writing the nature 
of its concerns.

 Refer the matter to the Council.  Such a referral should only be made where the 
Overview and Scrutiny believes that the decision is outside the policy 
framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget. The 
procedures set out in those rules must be followed prior to any such referral.

 Uphold the decision - If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees with the 
initial decision the relevant Senior Officer may implement it without delay.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

CALL-IN 
 

Decision of Cabinet to be called in: 

Date of meeting: Monday 27th March 2017 

Minute number: Cabinet Minute 113 

Subject: Leisure and cultural services – future provision of services 

 
 
Reason(s) for call-in:  
 

There has been inadequate consultation with key stakeholders by the London based 
consultants, Bates, Wells, Brathwaite (BWB) in the preparation of their report “Wirral BC – 
Re-imagining Leisure and Cultural Services.” 

Numerous Friends Groups, volunteer organisations, Trade Unions, Parks Friends Forum 
and Friends of the Libraries have all expressed significant concerns over the contents and 
accuracy of this report not least because the key stakeholders, who know our Leisure and 
Cultural Assets best, have not been involved or consulted over the production of this report. 

We believe it is expensive folly to have spent £284,000 of Taxpayers money on a report 
without recourse to such important stakeholders as their knowledge and experience is vital 
in bringing out key issues in developing future options for our Leisure and Cultural Assets. 

By disenfranchising these key stakeholders at this stage of the process the Council risks 
missing out on significant benefits and therefore this process should be paused to allow a 
period of consultation and engagement, which is missing from the BWB report, prior to 
moving to options appraisal and development of the full business case.   

 
 
Called in by: 
 

Councillors: 

Jeff Green   

 
 

Tom Anderson 
 
 

 
Bruce Berry 
 
 

 

Chris Blakeley  

 
 

! 

Metropolitan 
Borough of Wirral 

Page 3



 
Eddie Boult 

 

 
 

David Burgess-Joyce 
 
 

 

Wendy Clements 

 
 

David Elderton  

 
 

 
 
Gerry Ellis 

 

 
 

John Hale  

 
 

 

Paul Hayes  

 
 

Andrew Hodson  

 
 

Kathy Hodson  

 
 
 

Ian Lewis 
 
 

 

 
 

 
Tracey Pilgrim 
  

Page 4



 

 
 
Cherry Povall 

 

 
 

Lesley Rennie  

 
 

Les Rowlands  

 
 

 
Adam Sykes 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Geoffrey Watt 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
Steve Williams 

 

 
 
 

 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



113 LEISURE AND CULTURAL SERVICES - FUTURE PROVISION OF SERVICES 

Councillor Ann McLachlan, Cabinet Member – 
Transformation, Leisure and Culture, said:

“This work highlights the crucial role that our 
leisure and cultural services play in the day-to-
day lives of the residents of Wirral and achieving 
the pledges in our Wirral 2020 Vision.  
Unfortunately due to pressures on funding we 
know that we cannot simply stand still and 
continue delivering services in the same way we 
have done in the past.  This report provides an 
update on work undertaken to date and the next 
phase.

There is still a lot of work to do to fully develop a 
business case to determine the most appropriate 
delivery model, and I am committed to ensuring 
this moves on quickly.  Ultimately we know that 
unless we radically reform services in ways such 
as this then we will be forced into damaging 
service cuts based on the funding we know we 
will have available”. 

Councillor Phil Davies informed that Paddy Cleary Wirral UNISON’s Branch 
Secretary had asked if he could address the Cabinet on this item of business and 
he had given him permission.

Mr Cleary informed the Cabinet that the report set the Council on the path to re-
provision of the associated services.  Before any challenge or alternative could be 
muted the ship had set sail, with a business case expected for June, which was 
frightening in its speed. Mr Cleary considered that it would be a mistake to not fully 
scrutinise, evaluate and challenge any recommendations, with input from trade 
unions, staff, local managers and residents in the various strands and site 
locations. He informed that this was a worrying time, yet again, for UNISON 
members and service users alike.

Mr Cleary believed that the information shared from Bates Wells Braithwaite 
(BWB) had been poor but, even so, they had been allowed to address the Labour 
Group with their preferred option. He informed that since the first time he had met 
with BWB, he had consistently requested that data be shared in order to scrutinise 
figures and allow the trade unions to give a view on any proposals, whether in 
their infancy or not. The leadership had been clear that UNISON would be 
involved and have access to the data requested.

Mr Cleary informed that UNISON was presented with a 64 page document just 
before it was put into the public domain and that was the first time trade union 

Page 7



officials had seen the data and figures that had been used. There had been no 
sign of the shared intelligence report into libraries that had fed into this, again 
despite various requests and the belief that this would be ready at the end of 
2016. He stated that this had been ‘sold’ as a standalone piece of work until BWB 
had come onto the scene and people could draw their own conclusions by the fact 
that it was not in the public domain.

Mr Cleary reported that currently, approximately £175,000 had been spent on 
Phase 1 and the shared intelligence report and a further £136,000 was being 
spent on a consultant to tell us the time on our watch!  Once again it was not the 
first time the Council had been in this position.  There have been several reports 
into the various strands associated within this area at significant cost to Wirral 
residents. He considered that the timetable was that optimistic that it seemed that 
it was already a done deal.

Mr Cleary had regard to the report and informed that a clear steer had been given 
in the executive summary - Financial aspects and access to finance set a clear 
agenda, but he believed there needed to be a challenge. The consistent message 
was about the savings that could be made via the VAT status. It was a very risky 
strategy, given the current Government. He asked whether the ‘new’ organisation 
automatically qualified for VAT exemption as a non-profit organisation, saving the 
£1m a year on VAT. He did not believe this was an automatic entitlement and he 
did not believe this was guaranteed. 

Mr Cleary asked why HMRC had not been challenged about the VAT status of the 
Council’s Leisure Services, like Ealing Borough Council had done to show that this 
exemption was possible within a public body.

Mr Cleary drew attention to the lack of access to grants and other funding streams 
which was mentioned in the report and asked for examples. He informed that he 
had asked repeatedly for them but none had been forthcoming from BWB or our 
officers associated with driving this initiative. The one example had been VAT and 
that had been challenged. Mr Cleary also informed that he had examples that had 
not been pursued.  He asked why the Council had not tapped into the Football 
Association or Sports England and presented cases, for example the playing fields 
strategy.  He also asked why the application had been ‘sat on’.

Mr Cleary stated that the report informed about pricing to market and he 
considered that to be very important.  He asked whether the Council charged the 
correct amount, or if it sold its self-short.  He considered that there were clear 
examples that it did sell its self-short.  Mr Cleary informed the Cabinet that he 
could list plenty of examples as could the staff who constantly ‘hit a brick wall’ with 
any recommendations or ideas for income generation.

Mr Cleary said that the report stated working with other agencies and partners 
alike, yet the chamber tweet about using pure gyms and not the Council’s very 
own provision was baffling.  The Council had invested in areas and seen the gains 

Page 8



associated with it.  Therefore, the Council should and still could, generate capital 
receipts and transform the whole package.

Mr Cleary informed that serious decisions needed to be made in order to utilise 
capital receipts in this way, given the timescale constraints from this Government, 
but Elected Members needed to make these rather than taking the easy option of 
putting these services into any form of arm’s length company. Social inclusion 
should be a priority, priced accordingly and staffed with the dedicated provision 
the Council currently had.  The Council really needed to keep these services in-
house and utilise the expertise it had to generate income for these services and 
the residents of the Wirral.

Councillor Davies informed that Alan Small of the Wirral branch of Unite had 
asked if he could address the Cabinet on this item of business and he had given 
him permission.

Mr Small raised concerns about the decision taken that Cabinet meetings would 
be held at 10am on Mondays.  He said this effected democracy as many of his 
members had been unable to demonstrate about what they thought of the 
proposals or attend the meeting, as they were at work.

Mr Small informed that he considered the report to be biased.  It said that no 
recommendations were being made and then later in the report it recommended 
that the services did not stay in-house.

Mr Small also informed that he knew from experience of the Council’s Leisure 
Centres that staff could work flexibly.  The staff had taken cut after cut and the 
work force had been reduced.  The staff was now more commercially minded and 
was bring in income but the income streams were not being taken on board. 
These income streams had doubled in the last couple of years and more 
investment would generate more income.

Mr Small asked the Cabinet not to waste the opportunity it had and to keep 
Leisure and Cultural Services in-house.

Councillor Ann McLachlan reported that the purpose of the report was to advise 
Members of the findings of a recent external review of specific services and to 
seek approval to develop a Full Business Case for a new service model.  

The services within the scope of the review were set out in section three of the 
report and played a fundamental role in the delivery of a number of Pledges and a 
whole range of key outcomes across the breadth of the Wirral Plan, but most 
notably in support of the ‘Leisure and Cultural Opportunities for All’ Pledge that 

“We will encourage more people to enjoy the wide range of leisure, cultural 
and sporting opportunities on offer across Wirral.  We will listen to residents’ 

Page 9



ideas and requests, and by 2020, will have increased access to events and 
activities to all our residents, regardless of age or income”.  

Councillor McLachlan informed that the report proposed to move to Phase 2 of this 
initiative and the Phase 1 Report to the Cabinet attached to the report focused on 
three models:

 In-house provision
 Charitable Trust
 Community Interest Company

Councillor McLachlan reported that it had been suggested that the in-house option 
would not be viable but Members had put it back in because they wanted this 
option examined very thoroughly.  She informed that Members were working to a 
tight timetable because of the Government’s austerity programme.  Members had 
to move quickly but they would thoroughly examine all three options and they did 
want the unions to be as engaged as they could be.

Councillor McLachlan also informed that BWB was an organisation with an ethical 
brand.  It had been selected partly because of its background of doing this type of 
work well.  The findings of other pieces of work previously carried out had been 
provided for BWB and they had been told to incorporate this into the work it was 
undertaking.  There would also be some pre-scrutiny work around the future 
provision of Leisure and Cultural Services and a Task and Finish Group would be 
established if it was considered necessary.

RESOLVED: That 

(1) the findings of the ‘Re-imagining Leisure and Cultural Services’ 
report, and the services this relates to, prepared by Bates, Wells & 
Braithwaite (Appendix 1 of the report) be noted; and

(2) the Strategic Commissioner for Environment be requested to ensure 
these findings are given due consideration as part of the options 
appraisal and development of the Full Business Case for the future 
provision of specified services, to be reported to a future meeting of 
Cabinet in June 2017.  

 

Page 10



COUNCILLOR ANN 
MCLACHLAN

CABINET MEMBER FOR 
TRANSFORMATION, LEISURE 

AND CULTURE

CABINET
27TH MARCH 2017

LEISURE AND CULTURAL SERVICES – FUTURE 
PROVISION OF SERVICES 

Councillor Ann McLachlan, Cabinet Member – Transformation, Leisure and 
Culture said:

“This work highlights the crucial role that our leisure and cultural services play in the 
day-to-day lives of the residents of Wirral and achieving the pledges in our Wirral 
2020 Vision. Unfortunately due to pressures on funding we know that we cannot 
simply stand still and continue delivering services in the same way we have done in 
the past. This report provides an update on work undertaken to date and the next 
phase.

There is still a lot of work to do to fully develop a business case to determine the 
most appropriate delivery model, and I am committed to ensuring this moves on 
quickly. Ultimately we know that unless we radically reform services in ways such as 
this then we will be forced into damaging service cuts based on the funding we know 
we will have available.”   

REPORT SUMMARY

The purpose of this report is to advise Members of the findings of a recent external 
review of specific services and to seek approval to develop a Full Business Case for 
a new service model. 

Page 11



The services within the scope of review, are set out in section three and play a 
fundamental role in the delivery of a number of Pledges and a whole range of key 
outcomes across the breadth of the Wirral Plan, but most notably in support of the 
‘Leisure and Cultural Opportunities for All’ Pledge that “We will encourage more 
people to enjoy the wide range of leisure, cultural and sporting opportunities on offer 
across Wirral. We will listen to residents’ ideas and requests, and by 2020, will have 
increased access to events and activities to all our residents, regardless of age or 
income”. 

This report affects all wards and has been included on the Council’s Forward Plan.

RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet is requested to:

(1) Note the findings of the ‘Re-imagining Leisure and Cultural Services’ report, 
and the services this relates to, prepared by Bates, Wells & Braithwaite 
(appendix 1);

(2) Instruct Strategic Commissioner for Environment to ensure these findings are 
given due consideration as part of the options appraisal and development of 
the Full Business Case for the future provision of specified services, to be 
reported to a future meeting of Cabinet in June 2017.

Page 12



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 Approval from Cabinet is sought at this stage to enable resources to be 
committed to the development of a Full Business Case, for an appropriate 
service model for the services set out in section three. 

1.2 Any proposal to move to a new service model having a direct impact on 
services, staff and residents requires a comprehensive and robust Full 
Business Case.

1.3 Based on the preliminary work summarised within the report (appendix 1), the 
Full Business Case will focus on the following models:

 In house provision
 Charitable Trust 
 Community Interest Company

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The report setting out the findings of the Re-imagining Leisure and Cultural 
Services’ review highlights that a wholly Council-owned company (Local 
Authority Trading Company or LATCO) would not have the flexibility to work in 
the commercial way that will be necessary for future success hence this 
option has been dismissed. 

2.2 An essential ingredient of any future service model is the strong focus on 
social value as well as economic sustainability hence private sector 
outsourcing is not supported.

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE OF THE REVIEW

3.1 The Council operates a diverse and extensive range of services. Four areas 
have been brought into a broad portfolio for review, and these services are set 
out below:

 Culture and Arts – including the Floral Pavilion, the Williamson and 
Birkenhead Priory.

 Leisure – including wet and dry centres, football pitches, tennis courts, 
golf.

 Library service.
 Parks and Countryside including parks, crematoria and public spaces.

It is recognised these services play an important part and have the potential to 
play an even greater role in achieving many of the Pledges and associated 
outcomes set out in the Wirral Plan. These services currently cost in excess of 
£17m p.a. operated by the Council and employ a significant number of staff - 
approximately 950 (475 Full Time Equivalents). 

Page 13



3.2 The financial challenge facing the Council is well documented and the 
Medium Term Financial Plan recently approved at its meeting in March 
highlighted the need to make £132m in savings over the next four years 
including £45M for the coming year 2017/18 alone. In this context it is 
understood that the revenue costs for these largely non-statutory services will 
need to significantly reduce over the coming years.

3.3 The ‘Re-imagining Leisure and Cultural Services’ Review was therefore 
commissioned last October, with the key purpose of:   

 Co-design sustainable services which may encompass changes in 
structure, ownership or operation, and to sufficiently develop the concept 
in order for the council to be assured there is value in proceeding (phase 
1);

 Build a detailed operating model based on deeper research, and a wider 
engagement with stakeholders, and develop a transition plan from the “as 
is” to the “to be” (phase 2).  

3.4 In accordance with the Council’s contract procedure rules, Bates Wells 
Braithwaite (BWB) were awarded this work based on their strong company 
ethos and track record of working with local authorities across the country to 
achieve social value objectives. Their preliminary findings from their work are 
set out in appendix 1 to this report. 

3.5 This external analysis will now be drawn upon to develop a Full Business 
Case which will evidence:
 Strategic Case – a compelling case for the preferred option and how it 

aligns to the delivery of the Wirral Plan
 The Economic Case – how the preferred option provides the best balance 

of costs and benefits
 The Commercial Case – how the preferred option secure value for money 
 The Financial Case – any required funding, investment or savings 

associated with the preferred option
 The Management Case – the robust systems and processes required to  

successfully deliver the preferred option

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 To date, this work has incurred the following external costs:
 Phase 1 support from BWB including needs analysis, initial options 

appraisal and development of conceptual models - £148,105 
 Phase 2 support from BWB to support the development of the Full 

Business Case - £136,604 

The Full Business Case will set out the financial implications of service 
models in detail.

Page 14



5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Re-imagining Leisure and Cultural Services’ Review prepared by Bates, 
Wells & Braithwaite provides key information to help inform the proposed Full 
Business Case. There are a number of legal duties and obligations associated 
with the services in question and the potential alternative service models 
which will need to be considered and addressed in detail in the Full Business 
Case. 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 Development of a Full Business Case will require input from Delivery, 
Business Services and the Transformation Office.

6.2 The Full Business Case will set out any ICT, staffing and assets implications 
of service models in detail.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 As a key project within the Council’s Transformation Programme, a robust 
approach to risk management is being adopted to ensure the delivery of the 
evidence based Full Business Case.  

7.2 A key consideration in the development of a Full Business Case is to ensure 
that any future model adopted is sustainable and able to successfully achieve 
its business strategy and objectives and a rigorous risk/ opportunity analysis 
will be undertaken in this regard.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Engagement will continue with managers and staff via workshops and site 
visits to properly understand the nature of services and impact on residents 
and customers. 

8.2 The needs analysis work undertaken by BWB has included initial discussions 
with lead commissioners from other areas such as community safety, public 
health and social care.

8.3 It is proposed that further detailed consultation and engagement with a wide 
range of residents, staff, elected members and other stakeholders is 
undertaken as well as formal pre-decision scrutiny by the Council’s 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee would take place as part of 
the process for developing a Full Business Case.

8.4 As part of the project management approach, initial engagement has taken 
place with Trade Union representatives to seek their views and this approach 
will continue.

 

Page 15



9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 
equality?

(a) Yes and impact review is attached – refer hyperlink:

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-
cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-2010-0

REPORT AUTHOR: Mark Smith
Strategic Commissioner for Environment
telephone:  (0151) 606 2103
email:   marksmith@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

1. Re-imagining Leisure and Cultural Services – Phase 1 Report (Bates Wells 
Braithwaite)

REFERENCE MATERIAL

None

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date
Cabinet: ‘Outline Transformation Approach’ 21st March 2016

Page 16

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-2010-0
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-2010-0
mailto:marksmith@wirral.gov.uk


 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wirral BC - 
Reimagining Leisure 
and Cultural Services  

Phase 1 Report to Cabinet  

14th March 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

Jim Clifford OBE MSc FCA FRSA 

Partner, Head of Advisory & Impact 
Tel. 020 7551 7860 
Email: j.clifford@bwbllp.com  

Abbie Rumbold MA (Cantab) 

Partner, Head of Public Services & Mutuals 
Tel. 020 7551 7755 
Email: a.rumbold@bwbllp.com  

Sarah Ramsey MSc 

Associate Director, Advisory & Impact 
Tel. 020 7551 7835 
Email: s.ramsey@bwbllp.com  

Page 17

mailto:j.clifford@bwbllp.com
mailto:a.rumbold@bwbllp.com
mailto:s.ramsey@bwbllp.com


 

i  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Table of Contents 

1 Executive Summary 1 

2 Context and Objectives 7 

3 Approach 8 

4 If we continue as is… 10 

5 In house or not? 12 

6 Vision of a new service 16 

7 Needs of the community 18 

8 Operational model (1): coordinated delivery 20 

9 Operational model (2): Market and customer development 22 

10 Operational model (3): Management and culture 25 

11 Financial and funding (1): Operating budget 27 

12 Financial and funding (2): Outline of Council Savings 29 

13 Organisation, structure and governance: principles 31 

14 Staff 41 

15 Assets 42 

Appendices 43 

A Needs Analysis 44 

B Mapping Grid & Analysis 68 

 
 
 

Page 18



 

1  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

1.1 The objective of this project is to re-imagine four areas of Council statutory and 

non-statutory services to deliver an integrated portfolio that better meets local 

needs whilst reducing Council subsidy. The four areas are: Leisure (including 

not just wet and dry leisure centres but also football pitches, tennis courts, golf 

courses and others); Culture and the Arts (the Floral Pavilion, the Williamson, 

and Birkenhead Priory); Parks and Countryside (including large and small 

parks, public spaces such as roadside verges, and the crematoria); and 

Libraries. The subsidy, based on 2016/17 actual figures, is currently standing 

at £17.8m a year, with more likely to be incurred to meet the costs associated 

with condition surveys on a number of the buildings. Total staff working in 

these services is 475 full time equivalent employees. 

1.2 The Council needs to balance its budgets. These areas have already 

sustained cost cuts in previous years. Further cuts would be likely to result in 

closures of facilities and reduction of staff. Set against this are targets under 

the 2020 Pledges better to meet social needs, both generally and for specific 

groups, and to create, not reduce jobs. The choice, then is to follow this path 

of further cuts, probably at significant scale, or to reform the way these 

services operate to: 

 Develop new income to support those services and enable Council 

financial support to be reduced, and 

 Use assets differently in delivering social and economic outcomes for 

the people of the Wirral. 

This project addresses how these Council services can deliver these two. 

1.3 The project is structured in two phases: 

Phase 1 (to 

March 2017) 

Through a combination of reviewing financial and 

operational data on the services, and about needs in 

the area, supplemented with workshops, interviews, 

and other input from the Council, other agencies and 

the services themselves, and analysis, to develop a 

concept of how a re-imagined groups of services 

might look, with a view of likely savings to Council 

support. 

Phase 2 (to 

June 2017) 

That outline concept is developed further, and in 

more detail, to produce a full business case with 

financial projections, business plan, detailed 

governance model, and transition plan for any 

proposed changes.  

 If changes are approved then further work will need 

to be done to implement these. 

 

 Section 1

1 Executive Summary 

The objective… is 

to re-imagine 

Leisure, Culture 

and the Arts, Parks 

and Countryside, 

and Libraries to 

deliver an 

integrated portfolio 

that better meets 

local needs whilst 

reducing Council 

subsidy.  

Page 19



 
 

 

2  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 1 

Executive Summary 

1.4 The analysis of needs recognises, but also looks beyond, the pledges in the 

Wirral 2020 plan to encompass the views of other agencies such as 

Community Safety Partnerships and Health. It highlights: 

 Multigenerational poverty and disengagement 

 Low working age to retired ratio, with needs around ageing well, 

dementia care, and isolation and loneliness 

 Inclusion and exclusion of some, socially and economically 

 Higher than average numbers of looked-after children, and people 

with special or additional needs 

 Areas of oversupply or underuse of assets, some unsuitable assets, 

and others needing reconfiguration to meet need and market 

demands  

 Opportunities in support tourism, both for general and special interest 

groups such as dementia sufferers and their carers, or those with 

autism 

 Opportunities to meet health and social needs with the Leisure and 

cultural assets 

1.5 Those analyses of needs demand a model for delivery from Leisure, Culture 

and other services that is both universal and targeted. The model must ensure 

that: 

 Every Wirral resident has affordable access to: 

i. Sports and fitness facilities 

ii. Information, books and ICT facilities 

iii. Cultural facilities (theatres, galleries and events) 

iv. Safe Community space – outdoor and indoor 

 It maximises the opportunities to reach out to those in need. 

1.6 Looking at the operational and governance model highlights some key 

areas where delivering these services in-house at the Council appears to be 

making them less economically and socially effective.  Specific areas 

highlighted fall into three headings: 

 Financial aspects and access to finance 

i. A disadvantage in VAT treatment currently estimated at £1m 

p.a. looking forward 

ii. Lack of access to grants from foundations and  other sources 

that could support additional services in future 

iii. Social and community investment being hard or impossible to 

engage for a Council service, meaning that capital investment 

only comes from Council resources 

iv. Negotiation with other potential funders for services such as 

health or police commissioners, or private sector supporters, 

are very hard to develop when the funder looks at the total 

budget and remit of the Council, rather than just at the service 

under discussion 

Social and 

community needs 

demand a model 

that is both 

universal and 

targeted.  

 It must ensure 

that: every Wirral 

resident has 

affordable 

access to:  

i. Sports and 

fitness facilities  

ii. Information, 

books and ICT 

facilities 

iii. Cultural 

facilities 

(theatres, 

galleries 

events) 

iv. Safe 

Community 

space – 

outdoor and 

indoor 

 It maximises the 

opportunities to 

reach out to 

those in need 

Page 20



 
 

 

3  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 1 

Executive Summary 

 Decision-making and responsiveness given the need to be flexible, 

responsive and competitive. In this area, decision-making is geared to 

the wider democratic purposes of a Local Authority and not the 

flexible and swift decision-making needed in a competitive, market-

facing service. Good ideas from staff and management get lost, or fail 

to get approved for actioning in a timely fashion. Necessary steps 

such as website development cannot get beyond Council policies and 

into reality. Support facilities such as financial accounting, similarly 

structured to the needs of a Local Authority, are also not suitable to 

meeting the needs of a business operation containing leisure, theatre 

and parks. 

 Community involvement is there in the volunteering in a few areas, 

but this is related to smaller localised programmes, and not a 

widespread co-development of delivery with leisure and other 

facilities. It is harder to achieve a widespread engagement when 

these services are seen as a part of the Council’s obligation to 

provide, notwithstanding they are not, in the main, statutory 

provisions. Staff involvement is similarly hard to achieve, with Council 

systems and democracy not designed to embrace it, yet the business’ 

development needs it. 

1.7 Some other models which would otherwise be possible alternatives do not 

deliver the freedom and flexibility that the businesses need to deliver the 

economic results and social impact they can: 

 A Local Authority Trading Company (LATCo) is a wholly-Local 

Authority owned company. It is a form generally used for incubating 

and aligning businesses prior to a spin-out, for pure LA-owned joint 

ventures (such as some of the emerging Regional Adoption 

Agencies), and for simple shared service companies. It is still subject 

to Council processes and systems, has limited or no community 

involvement, is ineligible for the other forms of finance mentioned 

above, is still likely to be seen as public sector, with the 

disadvantages that brings. It does not gain the VAT advantage that an 

independent social business would. 

 A private sector outsourcing does not deliver the required benefits 

and profile required here either. It does not have a regulator-

controlled focus on social delivery balanced with economic 

sustainability, but, even if socially-sensitive, this is driven by the profit 

incentive rather than a higher obligation to seek public benefit. With 

the Council likely to want to stipulate restrictions on the businesses’ 

ability to dispose of assets, and over their future use in some cases, 

this is likely to make the contract less desirable to a profit-making 

entity. It is also harder to given the ongoing financial support from the 

Council for the parks and other facilities if they are being delivered by 

an entity which aims to deliver a financial return to private owners. 

Delivering these 

services in-house 

appears to be 

making them less 

economically and 

socially effective  

Page 21



 
 

 

4  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 1 

Executive Summary 

There is also likely to be more limited community and staff 

involvement. 

 A Co-operative or BenCom as a legal form for a staff mutual.  It 

requires an active ownership involvement by a large number of staff. 

In our experience, while staff tend to be keen on having a voice in 

governance they are often, but reluctant to embrace legal ownership. 

Co-operatives are often associated with a rigid form of democratic 

decision making of one person one vote that is hard to navigate for 

quick, market-facing decisions, and cuts against modern social 

investment profiles in which an outside investor wants rather more 

say. As legal forms they are not usually asset- or mission-locked, and 

they carry a real risk of demutualisation, as happened with the 

Building Societies, which would result in assets and value potentially 

being lost to public service. We do however contemplate staff 

involvement through other legal forms. 

1.8 We are therefore recommending an alternative delivery model and not 

continued in-house provision. It would be in a social vehicle with the 

following key qualities:   

 An independent vehicle 

 Free of Council constraints  

 ..but at the heart of the Community 

 With Council involvement, 

 Socially-focused and governed 

 Which combines coordinated and market-responsive delivery, and 

 Engaged and empowered staff 

 To secure and ensure financial sustainability 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Our vision is for a model: 

 Which is both universal and targeted to those people who need 
specific things from it 

 Which recognises that what the public want and need has changed 
and will continue to change 

 Which is financially sustainable, albeit with some ongoing Council 
support at a reduced level against the current budget  

 Which is locked into serving the community and in which the 
community and staff has an involvement and a clear voice. 

Page 22



 
 

 

5  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 1 

Executive Summary 

1.9 Further work is being undertaken during Phase 2 to confirm the detail of which 

of properties and equipment used in the delivery of the four operational areas 

will be transferred into the new vehicle.  Associated staff will also transfer to it.  

The Council will provide ongoing financial support of aspects of the ongoing 

provision by the new vehicle. 

1.10 In terms of operational model, there is much that is right with what is there 

now, but at the same time opportunities for more effectiveness and needs-

focus in delivery are being missed, or are not able to be pursued in the current 

structure. Areas for opportunity fall into three headings: 

 Co-ordinated delivery and joined-up working across the four areas, 

including coordinating front-facing and supporting services, getting the 

best out of specialist management, using space well, and eliminating 

in-house competition, then improving customer experience, adding 

new services and so generating additional income; 

 Market and customer development, with developing customer 

journey in single visits, in days out, and in longer stays, and pricing to 

market – not pricing out those that cannot easily afford it, but pricing 

to the universal market and allowing support for those of less means 

 Management and culture change: in terms of approach, with 

strategic management as a whole, having fit-for-purpose 

management and financial information; fast, effective communication 

rooted in and working with community engagement; and with an 

empowered, trained and engaged workforce. 

1.11 Early indications are for savings in Council support of £4m upwards. So far 

there are areas of pricing changes and customer management approaches in 

some areas, VAT aspects and structural improvements that can be expected 

to deliver this. Further areas for improvement include the generation of 

additional income from other public commissioners, tourism, and new services: 

areas that require further research and quantification. These figures do not 

assume staff reductions, and continue with current terms and conditions. 

1.12 The legal form of the new entity should be: 

 Mission-locked: the public-benefit focus must be paramount and 

cannot be altered 

 Asset-locked: value cannot bleed out of it and must be retained and 

reinvested for community benefit. 

1.13 Two possible structures look most likely to fit this profile: 

 A charitable company limited by guarantee with a trading subsidiary, 

or 

 A Community Interest Company limited by shares 

The new 

operational model 

will embrace  

 Co-ordinated 

delivery across 

the four areas 

 Market and 

customer 

development, 

whilst retaining 

accessibility for 

those of limited 

means 

 Management and 

culture change 

to support this  

Page 23



 
 

 

6  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 1 

Executive Summary 

There are advantages and disadvantages one against the other, and the 

distinction will be further developed over the next three months. 

1.14 In addition: 

 Windfall gains on property (if they arise) should be available to the 

Council for wider area development and support 

 Community engagement and involvement, and staff voice, should be 

embedded in the constitution and operational policies of the new 

body. 

1.15 Maintaining a focus on social needs of the people of the Wirral, and on 

supporting the development of the local economy for them must remain at the 

heart of the new organisation. This is achieved through three means: 

 Through the organisation’s constitution, which includes the mission 

lock and asset lock, has a strong foundation of public accountability, 

and adds the oversight of a regulator (the Charity Commission or the 

CIC Regulator as applicable); 

 Through ongoing Council influence, which will remain clear and 

effective, whilst not compromising the organisation with being inside 

the Council as described above. In practice that influence will be 

through the terms of the original allocation of assets, through the 

governance of the organisation including a right to nominate (some) 

board members, and through the terms of the ongoing support 

funding agreement. 

 Through other key influences: 

i. Community involvement and voice 

ii. Staff involvement and voice 

These will be established to be active and effective, and will require 

the organisation to engage with both groups, as well as with third 

party agencies and providers. 

The Council will 

retain a significant 

influence…  

Page 24



 
 

 

7  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 2 

Context and Objectives 

2.1 The Council is a coming together of five separate Borough Councils. Each has 

its own history, and a full range of facilities focused on its traditional 

communities and demographics. This means that, in a relatively small 

geographical area of 60 square miles with just over 320,000 people, there is a 

wide range of public facilities, giving one of the largest areas of green belt in 

any area of the North West. 

2.2 The Council has published a 2020 Vision and plan with its aim “simply to be 

the best Council in the country.” It demands that “…understanding of residents’ 

needs is embedded within… business planning” and that they will be able to 

be resilient and independent. Its ambition is for enhanced and more focused 

services, whilst addressing the savings that are necessary. 

2.3 The 2020 plan sets objectives at people, business and environmental levels, 

and these should be at the core of the transition plans and restructuring 

proposed. 

2.4 The Council’s objectives in pursuing the possibilities beyond cost savings and 

efficiencies from within are: 

 To maintain existing facilities and services wherever possible 

 To reduce significantly, and ideally to eliminate over three to five years 
the current level of subsidy to leisure and cultural services 

 To reform services around leisure, culture and parks and gardens assets 
such that they are more widely used 

 To be creative and innovative but not to take unreasonable risks 

 To improve the responsiveness, resilience, flexibility and agility of 
services and the public assets in these portfolios 

 To maintain the highest standards of accountability and transparency 
throughout 

 Not to put public assets into the private sector if possible, although 
putting them into asset-locked bodies is possible 

 To deliver any changes with pace, but not so quickly that community 
engagement is lost, or accountability and proper risk management are 
compromised. 

2.5 The outline being considered, then is: 

 To what extent can these assets and the businesses within them be re-
imagined to make them more effective in delivering against community 
and area needs and carry a lower cost burden for the council whilst 
maintaining their focus on public needs and outcomes?  

 Could more be achieved by moving the four portfolios into a different 
ownership or governance structure? 

 

 

 Section 2

2 Context and Objectives   

An ambition for 

enhanced and 

more focused 

services, whilst 

addressing the 

savings that are 

necessary…  

Page 25



 
 

 

8  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 3 

Approach 

3.1 What the project aims to do is to consider how services can be re-imagined 

across four areas of operation of the Council: 

 Leisure 

 Culture and the Arts 

 Parks and gardens 

 Library services 

3.2 By considering them as a portfolio, the four can be used holistically to deliver 

the Council’s vision, to engage and motivate communities (including harder to 

reach or harder to engage and benefit groups), and to achieve financial and 

operational sustainability more easily. 

3.3 Each of these four areas will be looked-at separately, and set in the three 

contexts of: 

 The four areas as a portfolio 

 The council’s wider plans, financial and operational obligations, 
commitments and infrastructure 

 The wider area needs and targeted outcomes 

This is shown in the green diagram, with the comparisons shown in red.  

3.4 The four areas have been examined already for cost savings, and have 

responded to various changes in their markets. Inevitably this has been done 

to differing degrees and with differing degrees of success. 

3.5 This project, aligned with similar approaches in other areas of public service, is 

focused upon reframing services to look at how  

 Co-ordination 

 Community engagement 

 Needs led approaches 

 Commercial approaches 

can be used to deliver more effectively for less on both a targeted and 

universal basis. 

3.6 This demands a needs-based (social 

or market needs) analysis, rather 

than a more traditional service-

defined one. It also asks 

whether operation as a 

portfolio, co-ordinated, can 

deliver more, for more parts 

of the community, and 

duplicate less. 

 

 

 Section 3

3 Approach  

…by focusing on 

area needs, and 

then looking at how 

the four areas can 

most effectively 

deliver those 

together, the 

necessary drive for 

savings can move 

beyond a cost-

cutting debate and 

deliver more, not 

less 

Page 26



 
 

 

9  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 3 

Approach 

3.7 Phase 1 work has been completed and comprised:  

• Information gathering –  including looking at previous reports 

• Workshops 

• Site visits 

• Needs analysis 

• Mapping 

• Financial review and modelling 

• Service Provision/Partner calls 

• Meetings with other agencies (inside and outside Council) 

• Meetings with Unions 

• Market/Competitor Analysis 

• Benchmarking 

 

Page 27



 
 

 

10  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 4 

If we continue as is… 

4.1 The table below shows the income and expenditure accounts for the four 

service areas as currently operated, and is based on the 2016-17 budgets.  

The income is from a range of external sources, and relates to use of the 

facilities by the public, and by other organisations. 

 

Original 2016/17 Budget Income and Expenditure 

  Libraries Leisure Culture Parks Total 
All figures in £’000s           
Income 175 7,013 2,559 3,708 13,456 
            
Expenditure           
Staff Costs 2,423 6,755 1,292 6,101 16,572 
Premises Costs 845 2,419 358 1,523 5,144 
Transport 25 16 901 774 816 
Office Expenses 478 625 1,740 447 3,290 
Other 9 5 75 99 187 
Recharges 356 1,376 219 (151) 1,801 
Total Expenditure 4,136 11,196 3,685 8,793 27,810 
Depreciation 367 1,819 465 823 3,475 
Surplus / (Deficit) (4,328) (6,002) (1,591) (5,908) (17,829) 

 

4.2 The overall view is that these areas require financial support from the Council 

in the amount of £17.8m p.a. after depreciation: £14.3m before capital costs, 

major repairs and refurbishments (but after scheduled regular maintenance).  

These figures can also be analysed by individual sites. Within this is the 

payment of £1.26m a year of rates to the Council, so the effective net subsidy 

is £16.6m, or £13.1m before capital costs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Section 4

4 If we continue as is… 

Page 28



 
 

 

11  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 4 

If we continue as is… 

4.3 There are three possible future scenarios to be considered: 

1. Keep going as 

it is, doing what 

you can to 

improve 

elements 

The Council will be faced with supporting at £14.3m per 

annum, which will rise at least the rate of inflation.  It will be 

vulnerable to competing provisions, so may increase as it 

loses income.  In addition the Council will have to fund 

renovation to bring sites up to scratch and modernise 

(between £50k and £2m+ per site) and regular major 

repairs and renewals of sites and equipment of around 

£3.5m per annum.  

2. Make cuts This will require reduced services, possibly to the point on 

site closures: 

 Of leisure facilities and libraries, probably on 

a substantial scale, given it is harder to stop 

maintaining parks in order to achieve cuts, so 

the parks bill of £5.9m p.a. will stand 

unless… 

 …some of the parks are closed and sold for 

redevelopment, in such a way that 

maintenance costs (and personnel) can be 

reduced 

It is probably possible to halve the support costs by cutting 

a number of sites, and attempting to focus on the 

remainder, but there is a real risk of reduction in service to 

the Wirral community as a result. 

3. Something else The alternative is to look at how the income can be grown, 

the assets used for delivery of a wider range of services to 

meet local demand and needs, and operational efficiencies 

achieved which don’t necessarily mean cuts, but do involve 

managing and working the portfolio as a whole. This is what 

this project is focussed-upon 

Page 29



 
 

 

12  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 5 

In house or not? 

5.1 In-house provision brings disadvantages when focusing on creating an 

operational model that is needs-focused, responsive, economically 

competitive, and which enables and empowers management and staff to meet 

local community needs. These disadvantages fall in three main areas:  

 Direct financial aspects and access to finance 

 Decision-making, and 

 Community (including staff involvement). 

Each is described further below, highlighting several areas of disadvantage 

within each.  

5.2 Direct financial aspects and access to finance  

Whilst there are financial positives in the other two areas, there are some 

factors that have a direct financial impact. Further evaluation of these is to 

follow in phase 2, but, as is shown below in sections 11 and 12, at this early 

stage there are clear points emerging. In particular four headings stand out:  

 VAT: with services provided in the leisure and theatre fields being 

VAT exempt, even taking into account the loss of the recovery of VAT 

inputs related to these areas, there is a net gain achievable of just 

over £1m a year. A public authority does not have a similar right to 

VAT exemption. Further enquiry is ongoing about any difference in 

VAT treatment on capital works to renovate the premises.  

 Foundation and other non-public sector grants: with a focus on 

generating additional income, these can be available to support 

additional social provisions such as youth outreach, services for the 

elderly, or these with additional needs. Whilst there are grants 

available to both social sector companies and public authorities (e.g. 

F.A. grants for 3G football pitches), those from charitable foundations 

are generally only available to charities and social enterprises.  

 Social Investment: this is capital available for investment in assets 

and businesses with a social or community focus, and comes from 

foundations, socially focused funds, and private individuals and 

companies seeking to achieve something social. It is very rare indeed 

for this to be available to a local authority: in all practical senses it 

would not happen.  

 Co-commissioner and other income from social agencies: whilst 

one commissioner (health, or community safety, for example) may 

commission services from another, in practice it is a very tough 

negotiation. Counters to this are that councils have assets and don’t 

need cross-subsidy, whereas for a social vehicle there are no such 

distractions from the core discussion about the services to be 

provided and the value of them.  

 Section 5

5 In house or not? 

Alternative delivery 

model provides the 

fast and responsive 

decision making 

necessary in a 

changing 

environment, the 

lever to re-energise 

staff and the 

opportunity to draw 

income from other 

sources 

Page 30



 
 

 

13  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 5 

In house or not? 

5.3 Decision-making 

For a Council, its decision-making is part of a democratic process designed for 

a whole area representational engagement far wider than the operation and 

management of selected market-facing assets. It takes time, has a multi-

layered process, and is set in the wider framework of the totality of Council 

services and representation. In setting market-facing operations in that 

context, several consequences arise which compromise their being effective 

in delivery and responsive in action: 

 Decisions, even when they need to be, cannot be made quickly, so 

responsiveness and commercial competitiveness are compromised; 

 Practical and useful ideas, often from the staff and management 

seeking to be more effective, and meeting under community needs, 

get lost or fail to be progressed to actions; 

 The democratic framework for decisions is focused on the wider 

Council remit, rather than evaluating decisions in a simple framework 

relating to meeting needs in the relevant business areas; 

 The need to be appealing and stimulate customer football is not a 

prime focus, where it could and should be, so this competition can get 

lost; 

 Accounting and management information is focused on proper 

Local Government approaches, and does not provide the information 

needed to manage these areas effectively. They must either prepare 

their own information, ignoring the Council’s, or work without and be 

insufficiently sighted.  

5.4 Community (including staff) involvement 

The historical backdrop is one of Council provision, and a relationship with a 

community that expects this, with the Council deciding through its democratic 

processes what will be provided and where. The incentive for community to 

get involved, beyond some very helpful but localised volunteering (for example 

in parks the Williamson), is minimal, perhaps notably when they see this as 

something for which they have already paid through their taxes.  

The consequence of this is disadvantageous in three senses: 

 Community effort and engagement, and indeed community 

investment as part of a social investment programme if sough, are 

much harder to achieve than for an independent, community-focused 

social vehicle. 

 Individuals who might come forward as trustees, directors or 

community advocates may be less inclined to get involved in a Local 

Authority. 

 Staff engagement, and voice is harder to achieve.  

5.5 Even if these areas are not operated as in-house provision, so that 

advantages can be gained economically, and in social delivery, the Council 

can still, and should, maintain a strong influence over service provision. 

Page 31



 
 

 

14  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 5 

In house or not? 

Section 13 below, and section 1.15 in the Executive Summary explain how this 

is achieved.  

5.6 Other models may be considered as alternatives to in-house provision. In the 

section below we explain why three most obvious alternatives are not 

appropriate solutions here, leaving transfer to a social vehicle for discussion in 

the rest of the report as our proposed solution. 

5.7 A separate company, wholly Council owned (a LATCo, or local authority 

trading company)? 

These are most frequently used for: 

• Incubating Council services as businesses prior to a formal transfer to 

an independent vehicle  

• Joint ventures between two or more Local Authorities  

• Simple shared service provision between several Local Authorities 

None of these fit to the current circumstances and the business’ needs. 

In addition, a LATCo. exhibits a number of the disadvantages outlined in 

sections 5.1 and 5.5 above for in-house provision. In particular: 

• It is still subject to Council processes and systems and so is slow and 

uncompetitive 

• There is limited or no direct community involvement 

• It is ineligible for other forms of finance 

• It is still likely to  suffer, in terms of recruitment of board and 

engagement of the community more generally, from image as a 

Council organisation  

• It is similarly hard to get the culture change and the freedom of ideas 

and creativity necessary for effectiveness and competitiveness  

• It is still “part of the Council” for other income arguments 

5.8 Private sector outsourcing? 

The need is for solid and reliable socially-focused provision, with 

accountability, and Council influence, married with the optimum economic 

sustainability. With this outline, a traditional outsourcing to the private sector 

does not seem appropriate for five reasons in particular: 

• It doesn’t have a regulator-controlled focus on social delivery with 

economic sustainability 

• The restrictions on asset transfer and operation the Council is likely to 

want make the model unlikely to be investible to a private sector 

provider 

Page 32



 
 

 

15  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 5 

In house or not? 

• It is hard to balance Council funding (which is likely to be necessary in 

future, albeit at a lower level than currently) with paying yield to private 

sector owners 

• It is hard to justify paying a return to a private sector owner when you 

could retain it and invest for the community 

• There is no or limited community or staff involvement 

5.9 …or a BenCom or Coop as a legal form for a staff mutual? 

Whilst staff mutuals are an interesting option in terms of staff involvement, the 

BenCom and Co-operative models for them, which have been raised as 

options in the review (see also 13.2.3 below) do not seem to deliver the 

objectives here. Four specific reasons are:  

• Generally in our experience staff want voice, not co-ownership 

• Rigid democratic structure leads to paralysis in decision making 

• “one person one vote” blocks modern investment profiles with votes 

based on amount invested 

• They are not mission locked or asset locked (of fundamental importance 

as explained in 13.1.2 and 3 below) and so face the danger of 

demutualisation like the building societies did. 

 

 

Page 33



 
 

 

16  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 6 

Vision of a new service 

6.1 Having considered models that do not appear to work here, we turn to our 

vision of a model that can deliver both short- and long-term social impact and 

value, and improvements in economic sustainability. This has emerged with 

clarity from our work on community needs (section 7) and operational 

effectiveness (section 8). There are four key aspects to that vision, which are 

explained below. 

6.2 “A model which is both universal and targeted” 

The intended future model is one which operates at two levels to deliver 

universal and targeted provision. The model must ensure that: 

 Every Wirral resident has affordable access to: 

a. Sports and fitness facilities 

b. Information, books and ICT facilities 

c. Cultural facilities (theatres, galleries and events) 

d. Safe community space – outdoor and indoor 

 It is proactive in reaching out to those in need. 

6.3 “A model which recognises that what the public want and need has 

changed and will continue to change” 

Each of the services currently provides more than is assumed by outsiders.  

For example, the services libraries provide include space for community 

groups, information, ICT facilities, outreach to those suffering from social 

isolation as well as lending books. The future model must preserve what is 

effective about what is currently provided while also recognising that what the 

public want and need from this portfolio of services has changed. It must also 

adapt to future changes, the model must be both flexible and agile responding 

to both short term immediate issues and longer term factors. 

6.4 “A model which is financially sustainable” 

In the future model with a reduced level of Council support the portfolio of 

services will place greater reliance on self-generated income through;  

 better, more attuned pricing which is also inclusive; and  

 improving the “customer journey” – increasing revenue from customers 
by giving them more of what they want. The model also looks to other 
public service commissioners, delivering services where these are highly 
effective, and those agencies pay for them because it is also cost-
effective for them.   

 Section 6

6 Vision of a new service  

In response to 

changing public 

needs and wants 

we are 

recommending 

 An 

independent 

vehicle  

 Free of Council 

constraint but 

 At the heart of 

the 

Community, 

 With Council 

involvement,  

 Socially-

focused and 

governed, 

 Which 

combines co-

ordinated and 

market-

responsive 

delivery, and  

 Engaged and 

empowered 

staff  

 To ensure 

financial 

sustainability  

 

 

Page 34



 
 

 

17  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 6 

Vision of a new service 

The model must be an integral part of the tourist development of the area, 

which offers both well-signposted and cohesive holiday experiences, with 

cultural options, and specialised holiday provision where there is market 

demand (for example dementia sufferers and their carers and other special 

needs groups). 

In summary the model is creative and through that it is commercially viable. 

6.5 “A model which is locked into serving the community and in which the 

community has a clear voice” 

The legal form of the model must ensure that it is locked into a focus on public 

benefit, not private profit. Its governance must ensure the community has a 

clear and effective voice ensuring that the model continues to be effective at 

meeting the needs of local people as the context in which it operates changes 

over time.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Why keep all four areas together…? 

As against the possibility of transferring some, and keeping others as in-house 

provision the emerging preference is to keep them together for the following 

reasons: 

• Efficiency and avoiding duplication (of support) 
• Flexibility with which assets to use to deliver which services against 

which needs 
• Give  all areas the benefit of independent,  dedicated management and 

leadership, and enables it more easily to afford excellent quality in this 
• Engage more widely with the local Community 
• Allow reasonable cross-subsidy from high income generating areas to 

less independently sustainable ones 
• Remove unhelpful competition 
• Benefit to the maximum from central supply and management in 

frontline and back office 
• Gives an overall size and resilience to the organisation that helps its 

sustainability 

Page 35



 
 

 

18  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 7 

Needs of the community 

7.1 There are two main analyses that underpin our development of this area: 

 The needs and outcomes analysis, which looks area-wide at the 

population’s needs, embracing the needs of visitors through work or 

tourism (relevant to enhancing economic growth), the drivers behind the 

2020 pledges, and how they might be delivered 

 Geographical maps of access to facilities ward by ward, and a 

comparison to actual utilisation of the various facilities in their current 

configuration 

7.2 These also feed into the suggested transformations in the operational and 

other sections. The vision (section 6) outlined the core services and facilities to 

which we suggest every Wirral resident should have access. 

7.3 Key themes emerging from our needs analysis (which is further detailed in the 

Appendix) are as follows: 

 Multi-generational unemployment in some families; low educational 

attainment; some with poorer behavioural norms which further isolate 

them socially and economically; lower health outcomes. 

 Low working age to retired ratios; which is further compounded as 

regards needs as it links to higher diabetes, dementia, and ageing well 

aspects, as well as isolation and lack of involvement leading to health 

and mental health concerns, which tends to be an issue for the more 

affluent families, perhaps more than for the less affluent. An appropriate 

response to this might be two-fold:  

 To encourage an influx of younger families with better 

facilities, more tailored and with better signposting and variety 

 To support older residents with more flexible, and tailored, 

community-based provision some very close by and some on 

an area basis. 

 Higher than average levels of Looked-after children, with particular 

focuses on LAC Transition, Learning and other disabilities, and special 

educational needs (including autism and ADHD specifically). This entails 

needs for support not just for the children and young people, but also for 

their carers, whose commitment may lead to social isolation, and health 

or mental health problems.  

 There is a wealth of natural and historical assets and a fierce civic 

pride, countered with a lack of investment, coordination and focus 

 Inclusion and exclusion of some people; economically and socially 

 

 

 Section 7

7 Needs of the community   

There are real 

opportunities to 

use assets more 

effectively, 

delivering both 

economic gain and 

social benefits… 

 

Page 36



 
 

 

19  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 7 

Needs of the community 

 

 Possible areas of oversupply or poor reach suggested by low utilisation; 

other areas with assets that are not suitable or could be better configured 

to meet needs 

 Low engagement of community in social care 

 There are areas in which tourism could be enhanced and contribute 

significantly to economic benefits across the area, and for the Wirral 

population as a whole. 

7.4 The needs analysis begs a range of solutions, which can be split between 

those conferring economic gains, and those conferring social gains (albeit 

many are interrelated). Key amongst those are as follows: 

Economic Social 

 Bring (more) people into the 

area and into the facilities 

 Economic gains can generate 

social benefit and vice versa 

 Bring trade into the area  Use of community as a 

resource 

 Bring more effective service 

delivery (of existing services, 

and taking over alternative 

delivery of others’ needs) 

 Refocus services on need and 

enabling community-based  

care and effective socialisation : 

meaning new services, 

delivered differently, with a 

focus on developing community 

 Price services to market more 

effectively 

 Co-commissioning of services 

with other agencies, including 

corporate commissioners for 

outcomes 

 Create new jobs that sell 

services to visitors or other 

non-Wirral resident people and 

businesses 

 Tourism development using 

these assets: thinking about 

drawing people to the area, and 

about improving their customer 

journey whilst they are here 

(events, daily and weekly visits) 

 

7.5 The overall response to these needs is a vision of a model that is embedded in 

the Community and universal and targeted, as outlined in what may be seen 

as a commitment to the Wirral, at 6.2 above. 

 

  

Page 37



 
 

 

20  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 8 

Operational model (1): coordinated delivery 

8.1 From the review of operations, in the context of the needs analysis, there are 

opportunities for improved working that are evident. These fall into three 

headings: coordinated operation and joined up working (discussed on this 

page, and flagged as some of the reasons for keeping the portfolio together on 

page 8); market and customers, and management and culture, on pages 20 to 

22, and 23 to 24 respectively. 

8.2 Coordinated operation 

There are some areas where operating the four areas as a unit should confer 

benefits, at least enabling more to be achieved than by applying these 

measures separately. Each is potentially income-generating or cost saving, 

and running them together makes specialist management cost effective, 

removes competition, and gives customers a better experience. They are: 

• Catering: providing a better variety of food and drink, meeting the 

needs and preferences of a wider group of people, and encouraging 

them to stop and eat, or refuel between activities, and encouraging 

them to move and engage more widely with provision 

• Community engagement:  linking groups together, learning and 

replicating across the geographical area and across the different 

services 

• Grounds maintenance: providing grounds maintenance services 

across the property portfolio 

• Signposting and marketing: this includes a social media strategy and 

a clear, easy to use website (and a Wirral App which links to it) that 

encourages and enhances the use of facilities, services and amenities 

across the Wirral  

• Excess space management: priced to market (not undersold as 

presently), and configured flexibly to allow for lets, with easy to navigate 

online booking; also actively managed block rental or shared use, to 

optimise use and income, whilst avoiding pointless competition 

• Events: offering a range of cultural and sports events using the full 

range of facilities and available; delivering both to residents and visitors, 

encouraging extended stays. Expert management and co-ordination to 

avoid conflict give this a real prospect of success. 

• Customer journey: underpinning all of these is the concept 

fundamental to all entertainment and leisure venues of customer 

journey. The customer should be encouraged to stay, and do and 

spend more. This applies within a single site visit (add food, or an extra 

experience, or buy tickets for next time), for a longer travel over the 

course of a day or part of one, or a stay over several days or a week 

 Section 8

8 Operational model (1): coordinated delivery 

...operating as a 

coordinated whole, 

breaking down 

silos, will give 

savings, and better 

access to 

additional income 

 

Page 38



 
 

 

21  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 8 

Operational model (1): coordinated delivery 

8.3 Joined-up working 

This goes more into the practical side of operations, in which having a wider 

range of assets, of very different types, can enable services to be delivered 

more flexibly, and with less resource and duplication. It also stretches to an 

easier linking-up with other, third party facilities, such as schools’ sports and 

leisure facilities, so, for example, two schools, a leisure facility and a park 

could offer much as a joined up package. Specific areas here are: 

 Making new commissioner and other partnerships as a group (so not 
trying to compete pointlessly).  Opportunities for improving these exists 
with Liverpool City and encouraging theatre and leisure tourism, and 
others; 

 Operating together in designing “journeys” through a variety of facilities; 

 Thinking creatively about how to house key community services, not just 
in libraries, but in sections of leisure or arts facilities if that makes for 
better use of space and ease of access; 

 An holistic approach to tackling engagement with young people. 

 

 

Page 39



 
 

 

22  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 9 

Operational model (2): Market and customer 

development 

 

Market and customer development entails four elements: 

1. Developing customer journeys 

2. Pricing to market of existing services 

3. Future specialist needs groups and other commissioners 

4. Developing the service offering 

9.1 Developing customer journeys 

Increasingly visitors to a leisure facility, an area, or an event don’t just want to 

visit that one thing and go. They want to, or are willing to, enhance that visit: 

with a drink and a snack, a meal, an add-on experience, a souvenir or related 

purchase, or an upgrade or enhancement of the one they originally intended.  

They are also at an optimal point for re-booking, when they have just enjoyed 

the last time: a point not lost on fitness instructors to name but one. The 

leisure, culture, or services provider needs to think how to manage these 

“customer journeys” to satisfy the customer and meet their needs, whilst 

optimising income for the provider. This operates at three levels, each of which 

offers specific opportunities: 

Level Opportunities 

During a single visit – to a leisure centre, 

the Floral Pavilion, or a Park, for example 
In the Floral Centre, by enhancing the 

hospitality offering and structuring it so that 

people stay and enjoy it, allowing that they 

will buy souvenirs and tickets for other 

events, and by looking at customer journey 

in conjunction with Liverpool theatres . 
In the Leisure Centres by encouraging 

staying for a drink or food, or the adding of 

extra sport experiences in visit (paid).  This 

can also come in the form of bringing a 

friend or a carer to participate in something 

whilst you are there, something that has 

worked well in Manchester and Glasgow, for 

example.  Some of this may also apply in 

the Parks. 
During a day trip – in which the visitor 

may travel between several locations, 

events or experiences 

This is not just for the tourist, or leisure-

seeker, but can also apply to those coming 

to the Wirral for work or shopping.  This 

needs to be developed in conjunction with 

the Birkenhead plans amongst others. 
A less guided visit can be developed to 

enhance the original purpose itself (e.g. by 

developing the archive facilities to support 

history research trips), but also to introduce 

new opportunities and interests. 

 Section 9

9 Operational model (2): Market and customer 

development 

…new services, 

revised pricing to 

align with the 

market, and new 

customers, 

individual and 

organisational, 

offer real 

opportunities…  

Managing customer 

journey is the 

first… 

 

Page 40



 
 

 

23  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 9 

Operational model (2): Market and customer 

development 

During a longer trip – as a part of the 

development of tourism, recognising that 

this demands development of a greater 

variety of accommodation (hotels and 

camping, for example) 

Encouraging the development of tourism by 

designing possible “trails” (not just in the 

essence of walking or cycling) offering 

sequences of experiences.  This mainly 

requires elements of experience design, and 

information, guidance and pre-booking 

possibilities.  It would mean that more 

people come to the area, and that they visit 

more whilst they are there.  

9.2 Pricing to market existing services  

Any considering of pricing in this arena must not preclude access to socially 

important facilities to those who have a limited ability to pay. That being said, 

the pricing approach being used is leading to losses through pricing below 

comparable services, and structuring the pricing in a way that offers incentives 

at the wrong points, or encourages the wrong behaviours. Detailed 

comparisons to market pricing have been provided to, and are being 

discussed with, Council officers on area management. 

9.3 Future specialist needs groups and other commissioners 

9.3.1 Public service commissioners elsewhere purchase programmes of services 

from leisure centres. These may be service-defined, or based on the delivery 

of outcomes and there is some indication of these services being provided in 

the Wirral. Examples include work to engage young people otherwise setting 

fire to wheelie bins (North Lanarkshire Leisure), Stroke Rehabilitation (North 

Lanarkshire Leisure), COPD (Manchester Sport & Leisure), young people with 

additional  needs and their carers (Manchester, Fusion Leisure). In each case 

the commissioner buys because it is cheaper than in-house provision and 

more effective because of the social peer-group setting. 

9.3.2 Early indications are positive from Police and Crime/CSP, and from Health. 

9.3.3 In addition to public service commissioners, private sector companies may be 

(and have been in other areas) encouraged in as customers: 

 Paying for outcomes achieved for disadvantaged groups not provided for 
by statutory services, and engaged with through sport and leisure 
settings, or 

 In buying services for their staff, focused on staff wellbeing. 

Page 41



 
 

 

24  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 9 

Operational model (2): Market and customer 

development 

9.3.4 A key area on which to focus here, perhaps in conjunction with Tranmere 

Rovers, and other local organisations and providers would be 16-19 y.o. white 

males and other groups with long-term unemployment and low prospects, 

ideally catching them earlier as well. 

9.3.5 Other health commissioning areas could include ageing well, diabetes 

(including those expected to develop type 2 diabetes due to obesity and 

lifestyle), and dementia care. 

9.4 Developing the service offering 

9.4.1 In addition to new customers, and social (wellbeing, behavioural and health) 

services, the joined up services should look at new sports offerings, including: 

 Using social engagement with older players and organised engagement 
programmes to encourage young people into golf and others with ample 
provision and an ageing following  

 Bringing in a “tour” of new sports to try  

 Link this to events, through such as enhancing the facilities on the water 
frontage to enable the world windsurfing to come back 

9.4.2 Tourism is an area of development for the Wirral as a whole. This can usefully 

be supported under two headings: 

 General: through a co-ordinated events offering, better web-based 
signposting of facilities, development of an App to help and plan 
engagement and customer journey, and focusing on enhancing the 
experiences during visits 

 Special groups: through developing tailored offerings for special needs 
groups with relatively high spending power, but who find it hard to locate 
and engage with leisure activities safely. Specific areas for potential 
provision are being discussed further with Council officers and area 
management.   

 

Page 42



 
 

 

25  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 10 

Operational model (3): Management and culture 

These service areas are predominantly market-facing ones that compete for customer 

footfall and their money. They are not services like bin collection which the public have 

no option but to ‘purchase’ and which they perceive as being paid for by council tax. 

They are parts of industries with their own approaches, accounting and business 

models, and models for service development and customer management: models that 

work. The four areas, and the portfolio as a whole, need to embrace those good and 

efficient management practices, and the culture that goes with them. 

10.1 Co-management 

Each of the four areas needs its own leadership, as currently, but it also needs 

overall leadership that will manage the four strategically as a group. 

10.2 Financial and Management Information 

Accounting needs to be aligned to the business’ needs. There are KPIs for 

theatre and leisure centres that are not measured in the Council-format 

accounts, and on several areas income is not shown, being taken to a 

separate, central cost centre. These compensate by keeping their own 

records, wasting time and energy in duplication. Accounting drives 

accountability. The accounting needs to look at the whole business, with all of 

its income and costs. 

10.3 Decision-making 

10.3.1 In Council services, decision making is inextricably linked to, and a part of, the 

multi-layered and at times complex systems of elected member and officer 

involvement and accountability. This means that it is hard for services like 

leisure centres to react quickly, flexibly and with agility to the market, and to 

changes in it.   

10.3.2 Management needs to be efficient, sector-experienced and focused. It needs 

to embrace: 

 Co-management of the four areas as a strategic whole 

 A focus on sustainability developing both income to support it, and the 
social returns needed by local people and agencies 

 An ability to make decisions quickly, and to develop new ideas within a 
framework of accountability, but without having to clear detail through 
multiple layers. 

 Section 10

10 Operational model (3): Management and culture  

…a freer 

environment with a 

management 

structure and 

organisational 

culture aligned to 

business and social 

needs will lead to a 

responsive and 

effective, flexible 

and agile, and more 

sustainable, 

organisation… 

 

 

Page 43



 
 

 

26  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 10 

Operational model (3): Management and culture 

10.3.3 This demands a decision-making structure of a small board of directors 

including non-executives or trustees, a CEO and CFO, and group of 

experienced service heads. That group needs complete control (with 

accountability) for the whole achievement and financial sustainability of the 

business, and needs to have the remit to make the decisions necessary to 

deliver and compete.  

10.4 Change to culture, custom and practice 

The culture and working practices are currently traditional, and not focused on 

running business operations in a competitive environment. Taking one 

example, market development and promotion increasingly is web-based, and 

needs to embrace social media. All the areas have found it impossible to do 

this. The culture needs to be focused on income generation, delivery of service 

and engagement of customers on multiple levels, and meeting their needs: for 

entertainment and leisure, but also for increased wellbeing and other social 

benefits. That needs to run right through the businesses, and will demand 

changes in focus not just from management, but staff as well. Working 

practices do need some change, with staff likely to need to be more flexible in 

role boundaries, and embracing the training needed to develop their roles and 

offer new support to customers. 

 

 

Page 44



 
 

 

27  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 11 

Financial and funding (1): Operating budget 

11.1 This is not a cost-saving exercise in traditional form. It focuses on three areas: 

developing additional income, introducing different management and 

operational practices aligned to industry norms to improve efficiency and 

resilience, and coordinating a wider range of resources including community 

support on the social challenges and opportunities in the Wirral.  

11.2 In each area, and collectively, this has been addressed in this project top-

down, and bottom-up. These areas have been described in summary in the 

previous sections. The base figures from which these have been developed 

have been agreed by the Council’s finance team. In each area we have split 

the financial effect of improvements into three: 

 Short term: very likely to be achievable, and to take effect during the 
latter part of 2017-18 or early 2018-19; analysed and built up in detail, 
with a strong evidential underpinning or rationale 

 Longer term: still very likely to be achievable, but likely to take effect 

later (probably in between two and four years), and in stages 

 Potential development: other areas which show through this review as 
likely to deliver value, but which need further work to clarify how 
much, when, and how. These tend to understate the possibilities. 

11.3 The overall picture is shown in the table on the next page. This only brings in 

the Short Term and Longer Term identified and likely achievable elements, but 

not the Potential ones. These areas are still being worked upon, and are likely 

to show change, clarification, and perhaps further improvement during Phase 

2. 

11.4  In addition to the changes in each of the areas (which include some initial 

elements of co-working), overall management cost is likely to see a saving 

against the current Council provision. This is highlighted in the summary table 

on the next page, which is based on the 2016/17 actual budget figures. All 

other periods’ figures are our projections from that base based on our analysis. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Section 11

11 Financial and funding (1): Operating budget  

addressing these 

operations as 

businesses, and 

focusing on income 

generation and 

social effectiveness 

can reduce 

significantly the 

level of Council 

financial support by 

at least £4m and 

possibly rather 

more per annum… 

 

 

 

Page 45



 
 

 

28  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 11 

Financial and funding (1): Operating budget 

 

 

11.5 Staff costs based on their current terms and conditions remain unchanged in 

these workings. 

11.6 Libraries shows modest short-term improvements pending further analysis. 

Long-term Council support in this area is likely. 

11.7 Leisure shows a significant improvement, substantially due to increased 

utilisation, and pricing to market, as described in the operational section above 

together with the effect of VAT savings. Further improvements include wider 

use of available space, and in catering and incidental services. 

11.8 Culture shows the effect of improvements in the operating model for the Floral 

Centre to bring it more into line with industry norms, and around repurposing 

the Williamson Gallery building and accommodating the collection differently. 

11.9 Parks & Countryside is affected by price increases in the crematoria, with 

further gains from co-use and the catering gains across the portfolio. It also 

needs further work at Phase 2 on cost scales for grounds maintenance. As for 

Libraries, this area is likely to be appropriate for Long-term Council support.  

WIRRAL LIBRARIES, LEISURE, CULTURE AND PARKS & 
COUNTRYSIDE 

         Income and Expenditure 
Account 

            
              £'000                           

  
2016/17 

Budget Changes 
Revised 

Budget 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2026/27 2027/28 
Income                           
Services 13,456 2,886 16,342 14,950 17,000 17,338 17,683 18,035 18,394 18,761 19,134 19,515 19,904 
Grant Funding       17,415 12,611 12,570 12,342 12,290 12,236 12,181 12,124 12,021 11,956 
  13,456 2,886 16,342 32,365 29,611 29,908 30,025 30,325 30,630 30,941 31,258 31,537 31,860 
                            
Expenditure                           
Libraries 3,806 (169) 3,637 3,792 3,724 3,781 3,830 3,879 3,930 3,981 4,033 4,042 4,090 
Leisure 10,511 (1,300) 9,211 10,135 9,420 9,512 9,606 9,702 9,799 9,898 10,000 10,103 10,208 
Culture 3,482 (254) 3,228 3,434 3,334 3,386 3,439 3,493 3,548 3,604 3,661 3,720 3,779 
Parks & Countryside 8,333 238 8,571 8,555 8,771 8,859 8,949 9,041 9,134 9,230 9,327 9,426 9,527 
  26,132 (1,485) 24,647 25,917 25,249 25,538 25,823 26,114 26,411 26,713 27,021 27,290 27,604 
                            
Central Cost 
Recharge 1,679 (1,679) 0 1,745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
New Management 
Team 0 849 849 497 866 875 884 893 901 910 920 929 938 
Depreciation 3,475 (177) 3,298 3,401 3,298 3,298 3,298 3,298 3,298 3,298 3,298 3,298 3,298 
Total Expenditure 31,285 (2,491) 28,794 31,561 29,413 29,711 30,005 30,305 30,610 30,921 31,238 31,517 31,840 
Net Surplus / Deficit) (17,829) 5,377 (12,452) 804 197 197 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 
Reserves Brought 
Forward       0 804 1,001 1,199 1,219 1,239 1,259 1,279 1,299 1,319 
Reserves Carried 
Forward       804 1,001 1,199 1,219 1,239 1,259 1,279 1,299 1,319 1,339 

Page 46



 
 

 

29  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 12 

Financial and funding (2): Outline of Council Savings 

12.1 The early indications from our review, focusing just on these improvements 

which are both identifiable and quantifiable (so excluding wider opportunities 

not yet quantified as explained at 11.2) are for savings against current annual 

subsidy of at least £4m. This has been derived from the table at 11.4 by 

adjusting for those elements which, whilst effecting the general annual subsidy 

to these four areas, has a knock-on effect in terms of other Council costs or 

cost sharing. 

12.2 This Council view is shown in the following table, again based just on presently 

identified improvements as an early indication. 

 

 

Amongst the key assumptions at this table are the following, all of which are 

the subject of ongoing discussion with Council’s finance team: 

 Funding The council funding of the future services is based on the net 

expenditure of the new organisation excluding depreciation. 

 Capital Grant The capital grant is to fund the capital expenditure throughout 

the period. The initial basis for capital expenditure is based on the asset 

condition surveys for fabric of the buildings, to be reviewed in discussion with 

the Asset Transformation Group. VAT on Capital Expenditure has not been 

included, and should there have been otherwise recoverable VAT on the 

capital spending (not all of which is necessarily VAT-able, or necessarily 

 Section 12

12 Financial and funding (2): Outline of Council Savings 

All four areas can 

show improvement, 

with a prospect of 

getting to being 

self-sustaining for 

Leisure and the 

Floral Centre 

Medium-term 

Council savings of 

at least £4m look 

achievable 

WIRRAL LIBRARIES, LEISURE, CULTURE AND PARKS & 
COUNTRYSIDE 

         Council View 
            

              £'000                           

  Total Changes 
Revised 

Budget 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2026/27 2027/28 
Income                           
Capital Receipts from 
sale of Property Rates 1,260 (1,053) 207 88 215 220 224 229 233 238 243 248 252 
  1,260 (1,053) 207 88 215 220 224 229 233 238 243 248 252 

                            
Expenditure                           
Funding of Libraries, 
Leisure, Culture and 
Parks & Countryside 17,829 (5,377) 12,452 13,210 9,116 9,075 10,063 10,010 9,236 9,181 9,124 9,021 8,956 

Capital Expenditure 
Grant 0 0 0 4,205 3,495 3,495 2,279 2,279 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 

VAT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Admin Recharges 0 0 0 0 1,200 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Ongoing Pension Costs 0 0 0 0 1,410 1,410 1,410 1,410 1,410 1,410 1,410 1,410 1,410 

Pension Fund 
Enhanced 
Contributions 0 0 0 0 (804) (804) (804) (804) (804) (804) (804) (804) (804) 

Williamson Art Gallery 0 0 0 354 354 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

  17,829 (5,377) 12,452 17,769 14,771 13,776 12,948 12,896 12,842 12,787 12,730 12,627 12,562 

                            
Net Cost (16,569) 4,324 (12,245) (16,931) (14,556) (13,556) (12,724) (12,667) (12,609) (12,549) (12,487) (12,380) (12,309) 

Page 47



 
 

 

30  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 12 

Financial and funding (2): Outline of Council Savings 

recoverable by the Council) there may be an additional VAT element to be 

taken into account. 

 Rates Currently the rates are a recharge from each cost centre to the council 

income. This results in a nil overall effect within the council. In transferring to a 

charity the new organisation will be eligible for mandatory rates relief. The 

forecast shows the cost based on an 80% rates relief. The remaining 20%  

cost is funded by the council but will be payable to the council and therefore is 

shown as income within the summary 

 VAT The new organisation automatically qualifies for cultural and sporting 

exemption, as a non-profit organisation. While Ealing Borough Council have 

challenged HMRC on the VAT status of its Leisure services, showing VAT 

exemption is possible within a Public body, it is on a case by case basis, 

dependent  on whether this will affect local competition. Given there are a 

number of private leisure centres and gyms in the area, the granting of an 

exemption in this case would be in some doubt, we believe. 

Both Wirral and BWB are of the view that the transfer of Leisure and Culture 

will have a nil effect on the VAT partial exemption position of the Council, 

though this is to be confirmed by WBC’s VAT specialist. 

 Admin Recharges Wirral Council makes a recharge for its admin services for 

Finance, HR, Legal etc. It has been assumed that the full recharge will 

continue to be made until March 2018. Cost savings as a result of staff 

transferring or a reduction in the workload of the council will enable some 

savings to be made initially, with further work needs to be carried out to 

assess the overall long term savings. It is assumed that the council will be 

able to reduce costs over a 3 year period. 

 Ongoing Pension Costs It has been assumed that the Pension Fund will be 

transferred fully funded.  The current deficit will therefore remain with the 

council. This cost is the budgeted cost for the Pension deficit and early 

retirement cost as a result of prior reorganisations. 

 Williamson Art Gallery The Williamson Art Gallery building will probably not 

be transferred and therefore these costs will remain with the Council. Staff 

and other operating costs are expected to transfer. Over a period of 2 years it 

is envisaged that this building will be repurposed with new income streams 

reducing this to a nil net cost beyond the initial period.  

 

Page 48



 
 

 

31  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 13 

Organisation, structure and governance: principles 

13.1 Factors to consider 

The appropriate legal form depends on a number of factors, including: 

13.1.1 Limited liability  

The legal form must be incorporated, providing limited liability to its directors 

and members and legal personality to the new entity. This rules out charitable 

trusts or unincorporated organisations. Legal forms that provide limited liability 

are companies (share or guarantee), community benefit societies, co-

operatives and the charitable incorporated organisation (CIO). Details of these 

legal forms are set out in section13. 2 and a detailed comparison of these legal 

forms with a summary of the advantages and disadvantages of each in the 

context of Wirral is set out in Annex 1.   

13.1.2 Mission lock  

The social mission of the new entity must be protected. The constitution of the 

new entity will have a statement of objects which set out the social mission of 

the new entity. Any changes to the objects of the new entity will require a 75% 

majority decision of the members of the new entity as well as the prior consent 

of any regulator (the CIC regulator if a community interest company, the 

Charity Commission if a charity). In this way the entity is locked into pursuing 

its social mission. 

13.1.3 Asset lock  

Both community interest companies and charities are asset locked bodies, 

meaning that: 

(a) In the case of community interest companies, there can be no transfer or 

distribution of assets except at full value to (a) a specified asset locked 

body or (b) to another asset locked body with consent of the CIC 

Regulator; or 

(b) In the case of charities, assets cannot be transferred to a non-charity 

except at full value.  

With its tighter regulation and well established brand, a charity would likely be 

more attractive to key stakeholders than a community interest company, 

particularly one that is limited by shares, although the latter does offer 

flexibilities (see section 2 below) which also offer some benefits. 

13.1.4 Opening up sources of income 

The legal form must allow for investment and finance. A CIC limited by shares 

allows equity investment as well as loans. ‘Equity investment’ means a social 

investor could buy shares in the CIC and be paid a limited return. A charity 

can borrow but not pay dividends on shares and so equity investment is not 

permitted, although forms of debt in which the investor takes an equity-type 

 Section 13

13 Organisation, structure and governance: principles   

A series of criteria 

point towards an 

independent, public 

interest vehicle 

Page 49



 
 

 

32  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 13 

Organisation, structure and governance: principles 

risk are possible, albeit investment returns based on surpluses is harder to 

structure.  

13.1.5 Allowing ‘super profit’ to be returned to the Council 

We understand that a key issue for the Council is to ensure that if the new 

entity is successful and generates a significant surplus that some of that 

surplus could be returned to the public purse.  

The traditional model which could provide such a return would be for the 

Council to be a shareholder in a share company (a company limited by 

shares or a community interest company limited by shares), thereby allowing 

for payment of dividends to the Council.  A community interest company 

limited by shares can pay dividends subject to certain limitations (see section 

13.2.5 below). 

Although a charitable company limited by guarantee cannot pay dividends in 

this way, an alternative arrangement could be put in place thorough a 

revenue participation agreement allowing for a percentage of revenue to be 

paid to the Council when the revenue exceeds a certain threshold. The 

revenue in this case could be the annual gross turnover of traded income of 

the new entity.   

Other alternatives would be specific agreements around, for example, the 

sale of land, so that if the new entity sold any land at significant profit, a share 

of that profit would be returned to the Council. 

13.1.6 Identity 

We recognise that it is important for the new entity to have a distinct not-for-

profit identity which is instantly recognised and understood in the community. 

Both charities and community interest companies have established not-for-

profit brands. Both are able to identify themselves as social enterprises. 

13.1.7 Tax advantages 

It is essential for the new entity to be sustainable and a key aspect of this will 

be the tax advantages it can enjoy which may have a significant impact on the 

financial model. Charities receive a range of tax reliefs, including corporation 

tax relief on profits generated from charitable trading, Gift Aid (UK tax payers 

can obtain tax relief and donations to the charity are increased by 20%), 

inheritance tax relief, stamp duty land tax relief and business rates relief on 

premises occupied (a mandatory 80% with the remaining 20% discretionary). 

Community interest companies do not benefit from any of these reliefs, the 

only tax benefit currently being social investment tax relief (which charities 

also attract) for inward investors. 

13.1.8 Council influence 

The Council will have a multi-faceted relationship with the new entity. It will 

exercise its influence as the transferor of the assets and services as landlord, 

funder and commissioner. It can also benefit from a role in the governance of 

Page 50



 
 

 

33  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 13 

Organisation, structure and governance: principles 

the new entity as an ‘owner’ with the ability to appoint some individuals to the 

Board (see section 13.3 below). 

13.1.9 Stakeholder involvement 

The new entity must be established in such a way as to ensure that the 

community have a strong voice within the governance structure, as well as the 

ability to invest if appropriate, and to participate in an advisory capacity. This 

is covered in section 13.3 below.  

13.2 Legal Form 

The key legal forms available are set out below. 

13.2.1 Companies 

Companies can be either limited by shares or limited by guarantee. Either of 

these legal forms can also be community interest companies.  

Companies limited by guarantee can also be charities. A company limited by 

shares is the traditional structure used by businesses, allowing for profit 

distribution and equity finance. However, as a for-profit model, this structure 

cannot be used for charities. CICs can be set up as companies limited by 

shares, although there are some limitations on dividend payments. 

13.2.2 Community interest companies (CICs) 

A CIC is a particular type of company that uses its assets and profits for the 

community benefit and is regulated by both Companies House and the CIC 

Regulator. CICs are not charities, although they can go through a conversion 

process.  

The constitution of a CIC must also conform to the statutory requirements; in 

particular it must have an asset lock which means that the assets of the CIC 

can never be distributed privately to individuals or for non-community interest 

purposes unless they are sold at market value and the cash then used for 

community interest purposes. Therefore, the assets must be used solely for 

the community interest or transferred to another organisation which also has 

an asset lock such as a charity or another CIC.  

In order to be registered as a CIC, a company must show that it is established 

in the interests of the community; and each year the directors must complete 

a form demonstrating how it has met the community interest.    

CICs can be limited by shares (and therefore pay dividends, although these 

are limited for CICs) or be limited by guarantee. We note that there maybe a 

desire for the Council to have a share of any surpluses made by the new 

entity as well as allowing the community to benefit. A CIC limited by shares 

would provide the social enterprise brand whilst allowing for some surpluses 

generated by the CIC to be distributed to its shareholders.  

Page 51



 
 

 

34  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 13 

Organisation, structure and governance: principles 

13.2.3 Community benefit societies and co-operative societies 

Co-operative societies (‘Co-ops’) and community benefit societies (‘Bencoms’) 

are bodies corporate (i.e. they have their own separate legal personality) with 

limited liability that are regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”), 

rather than Companies House. They are not companies and are subject to the 

Cooperative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 rather than company 

law. Under that Act, a society may be registered if it exists “for carrying on any 

industry, business or trade” and if it satisfies the conditions for registration as 

either a Co-op or a Bencom.  

Bencoms 

A Bencom is set up to benefit the broader community, rather than just its 

members. It can be charity and, at present, has the advantage that it would 

only need to be registered with the FCA rather than the Charity Commission.  

If the Bencom has objects that are charitable in law, then it will be classed as 

an exempt charity and should be eligible for charitable tax breaks, if accepted 

as a charity by HMRC.   

Typically, the rules of a Bencom include a one member one vote principle, 

regardless of shareholding. Members can buy shares in the Bencom up to 

£20,000. However, while Bencoms can pay limited interest on member share 

capital, they cannot distribute profits to members and therefore it is unlikely to 

attract investors wanting a good return on their shares. 

Co-ops 

In order to be registered as a Co-op under that Act, a Co-op must show to the 

satisfaction of the FCA that it is a bona fide Co-op. This includes a voluntary 

and open membership, democratic member control, member economic 

participation, autonomy and independence and concern for the community. As 

Co-ops exist for the benefit of their members, allowing the members to receive 

dividends it is a profit distributing model and therefore might be unacceptable 

to the Council and the community.   

Advantages of Co-ops and Bencoms 

The inherently democratic nature of registered societies could be attractive as 

a cultural fit. Members can buy shares in a Bencom, helping it raise funds, 

and limited interest can be paid out on shares, which could encourage 

members to apply. 

The Financial Conduct Authority is a lighter touch regulator of Co-ops and 

Bencoms than the CIC Regulator or the Charity Commission.  

Disadvantages of Co-ops and Bencoms 

Co-ops and Bencoms are more costly to establish and administer than a 

company. In particular, there may be fewer professional advisers who will 

readily understand their legal and regulatory frameworks, which can make 

accessing professional support and funding more expensive.1 

                                                      
1 While there are around 20,000 co-operatives and community benefit societies there 
are over 4 million companies. 

Page 52



 
 

 

35  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 13 

Organisation, structure and governance: principles 

The application process to register a charitable Bencom is often lengthier than 

the process to set up a charitable company limited by guarantee.     

In terms of transparency, it is more difficult for third parties to carry out due 

diligence on a Co-ops or Bencoms as there is a cost attached to obtaining 

documents and it can take some time to obtain these. 

The regulation for charitable companies is unlikely to change in the 

foreseeable future, whereas the future for charitable Bencoms is less certain 

as it is not clear when (if at all) the Charity Commission will require charitable 

Bencoms to register with the Commission or if a principal regulator will be 

appointed. 

13.2.4 Charities 

Being a charity is a status which attaches to a legal form, and is not a legal 

form itself. A company limited by guarantee can have charitable status.  

Charitable companies limited by guarantee must only carry out activities 

which:  

(a) fall within recognised charitable purposes and  

(b) are for the public benefit.  

Having considered the activities the new entity will be carrying out, these can, 

in most cases, be run through a charitable vehicle. There are many examples 

of charities which carry out library, leisure and cultural activities. Those 

activities which are non-charitable, such as running conferences and 

weddings, could be run through a trading subsidiary owned by the charity, 

which is a common model for charities. The charitable purposes which would 

cover these activities would include the advancement of arts and culture, 

advancement of health and the provision of recreational activities. 

13.2.5 Charitable incorporated organisations (CIOs) 

If the charity route is preferred, there is a further choice of legal form, the CIO.  

It was introduced because there was a perception that it was confusing for 

some individuals that charitable companies limited by guarantee were 

registered both with Companies House and with the Charity Commission and 

that the rules relating to both to companies and to charities applied. A CIO is 

regulated solely by the Charity Commission.  

Like a company, a CIO has its own legal personality and ability to enter into 

legal relationships in its own name (for example, with staff, suppliers and the 

general public) and provides its directors limited liability status. It also has a 

two-tier structure of trustees and members.  

Being solely regulated by the Charity Commission gives the CIO legal form 

the advantage of not requiring the filing of accounts, annual returns or other 

documentation with Companies House. However, as a fairly new legal form it 

is less familiar to third parties and the lack of a charges register means that 

some banks are unlikely to lend money to CIOs, so compromising them 

commercially. 

Page 53



 
 

 

36  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 13 

Organisation, structure and governance: principles 

In practice, CIO’s are useful for small operations, but not appropriate for those 

of the size and scope envisaged here.  

13.2.6 Separate entities for each service? 

One option would be to set up a legal entity for each service with the new 

entity, as the head organisation, being the sole member of each of these. This 

would have the benefit of ring-fencing liabilities and more easily retaining the 

identity of each service. It would also more easily allow for any surpluses 

generated by each service to be invested back into that service.  

However, such a structure is more complicated to manage. For example, each 

entity would need a separate board and conflicts of interest managed 

appropriately. Each entity would need to need to complete its filing and 

reporting obligations, including preparing and filing accounts. It could also 

make it more difficult to achieve the co-ordination of the four services which is 

at the heart of this re-imagination of services. 

A simpler way of retaining the identity of the various services within one legal 

entity (or, in the case of a charitable company limited by guarantee with a 

trading subsidiary, two legal entities) would be to set up advisory groups for 

each service within the new entity – see section 13.3.4 below.  

13.2.7 Recommendation for legal form 

We would recommend either of the following legal two options for the legal 

form of the new entity: 

 

 

Option 1:  

A charitable company limited by guarantee with a trading subsidiary to 

carry out non-charitable activities for the following reasons: 

(a) It is a tried and tested form for not-for-profit entities with the company 

structure being a familiar structure to stakeholders; 

(b) It maximises income from sources such as grants and donations and 

can access debt financing and social investment; 

(c) Charitable status is a recognised brand that will give stakeholders 

confidence that the assets will be protected for the community; 

(d) It will provide the new entity with a number of tax benefits, aiding to its 

financial sustainability. 

However: 

a) It has an unpaid board which creates an arguably inefficient split 

between executive and non-executive, and meaning it is rarely 

possible to pay the latter. 

b) There are limits to Council involvement. 

Page 54



 
 

 

37  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 13 

Organisation, structure and governance: principles 

 

 

 

13.3 Governance 

Companies have a two tier structure. The directors (trustees in a charity) 

manage the company and are responsible for the day to day running of the 

company. The owners of the company are its members (shareholders in 

companies limited by shares), who have ultimate control. Members have 

certain rights, such as the right to remove directors and to change the Articles 

of Association. In a CIC limited by shares the shareholders can also receive 

dividends.  

When deciding on the governance structure, there are some key issues to 

consider: 

13.3.1 Number of trustees/directors of the new entity  

There should be a minimum of two directors or three for a charity. Generally 

we recommend six to eight as an optimal number of members of a Board and 

not more than ten. 

13.3.2 Composition of the Board  

In deciding on Board composition consideration should be given to the skills 

and expertise required for the Board and how key stakeholders will be 

involved. Key stakeholders for the new entity would include staff, friends’ 

organisations, voluntary and community organisations, volunteers, residents, 

Option 2:  

A community interest company limited by shares for the following 

reasons:  

a) As a CIC, it has a recognised social enterprise identity and protection 

of its social mission and assets; 

b) As a share company, it is able to pay limited dividends to its 

shareholders (which could include the Council) on any surpluses; 

c) It can pay Board members; 

d) It can pay a return on inward investment as shares of surpluses more 

simply than can a charity. 

However: 

a) It is taxable on its profits unless these are passed to a parallel charity 

to hold and apply for community benefit or other works. So surpluses 

its needs for re-investment are taxable. 

b) If a parallel charity is set up to be one of the members of the CIC, this 

adds an additional structure which will need to be resourced and 

maintained appropriately. 

Page 55



 
 

 

38  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 13 

Organisation, structure and governance: principles 

key commissioners such as the Clinical Commissioning Group, Police and 

Crime Commissioner, and the Council.  

It should be borne in mind that Board members are not there to represent a 

particular group. Whilst they can help present the views of a particular 

stakeholder group and contribute their practical experience they must act in 

the best interests of the organisation when making decisions as members of 

the Board. 

Note that if the new entity is a charity its board of trustees must be 

independent and to a large extent unpaid. Employees generally cannot also 

be trustees of the charity although in certain cases it is possible to obtain 

Charity Commission approval to a minority of trustees (for example the CEO 

and a staff representative) being employees. Each case would need to be 

justified to the Charity Commission so it would be much easier to argue for the 

CEO to be a trustee than, for example, to argue for both the finance manager 

and the CEO to be trustees. A number of charities which have spun out from 

local authorities have successfully obtained such consent. 

13.3.3 Ownership of the new entity 

There are a number of possible governance structures for the new entity, the 

key ones being 

a) ownership by a group of stakeholders (e.g. staff, the community, the 

Council); or 

b) a ‘foundation’ model where the trustees and members are the same with 

the Articles of Association set out the composition of the Board. 

We would recommend the following governance structures: 

Where the legal form is a charitable company limited by guarantee 

The governance structure is a foundation model with the trustees as the 

only members of the new entity. 

We would suggest the composition of the board be up to eight trustees with: 

a) Up to one trustee appointed by the Council; 

b) Up to seven trustees appointed by the trustees following an open 

recruitment process, the criteria including at least three resident in Wirral 

and taking into account the expertise required such as commissioning, 

financial, legal, business expertise and HR; 

Where the new entity is a CIC limited by shares 

The governance structure is a Board of up to eight directors with two 

shareholders being: 

a) The Council; 

b) A ‘community charity’ being a charitable company limited by guarantee 

whose trustees (who would also be the members of the charity) are 

members of the local community appointed by the trustees following an 

open recruitment process. 

Page 56



 
 

 

39  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 13 

Organisation, structure and governance: principles 

We would suggest the composition of the board be up to eight directors with: 

a) Up to one director appointed by the Council; 

b) Up to seven directors appointed by the directors following an open 

recruitment process, the criteria including at least three resident in Wirral 

and taking into account the expertise required such as commissioning, 

financial, legal, business expertise and HR.  

For both the charity and the CIC the Articles could provide for the Chief 

Executive to be a director/trustee but not make it a requirement. 

We have limited the number of Council appointed trustees/ directors to a 

maximum of one for a number of reasons: 

a) For both a charity and a CIC, to ensure the new entity is not classified as 

a regulated influenced company as this would require the new entity to 

comply with certain requirements. There are also additional accounting 

requirements
2
 for the Council. 

b) If a charity, the Charity Commission will require assurance that the new 

charity will be sufficiently independent of the Council. The greater number 

of trustees on the board of the charity who have Council connections, the 

less likely the Charity Commission are to be convinced the charity is 

independent of the Council. 

The governance structures will be reviewed as part of the ongoing 

consultation with the Council and stakeholders. 

13.3.4 Involving stakeholders  

The potential stakeholders of the new entity include: 

a) The Council; 

b) Staff; 

c) Volunteers; 

d) Residents of Wirral and residents’ organisations; 

e) Users of the services; 

f) ‘Friends of’ charities/ groups (for example, the Williamson, HMS Conway, 

libraries friends’ groups, cemetery friends’ groups);  

g) Other voluntary and community organisations including arts and cultural 

organisations; 

h) Love Wirral campaign; 

i) Funders and potential partner organisations such as Sport England, 

Heritage Lottery, Arts Council, Culture Liverpool, Liverpool Film Office; 

j) Tranmere Rovers; 

k) Organisations and businesses from the tourism sector; 

l) Senior level partner organisations including Clinical Commissioning 

Groups and local hospitals, Police and Crime Commissioner, Merseyside 

Fire & Rescue, Community Action Wirral, Wirral Metropolitan College, 

Wirral Chamber of Commerce; 

Page 57



 
 

 

40  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 13 

Organisation, structure and governance: principles 

m) Local businesses and the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership.  

Being on the Board of the new entity is not the only way that stakeholders can 

be involved. For example, stakeholders can be involved as: 

 Associate members  

Different associate member categories could be established for stakeholders. 

This would not give these individuals or organisations the full legal rights of 

company law members but certain specific rights according to what is set out 

in the Articles of Association. The rights could include: 

a) nominating an individual to the Board of Directors (such as staff or a 

community representative) to attend the board in an observer capacity; 

b) invitation to an annual consultation meeting; 

c) receipt of a quarterly newsletter.  

The Articles could also provide for different classes of associate members and 

provide different rights for each class, for example staff, community groups 

and volunteers. 

 Committees 

An alternative to associate membership where the intention is to have a 

‘working party’ or merely to consult or seek recommendations would be to 

establish a committee or committees, with terms of reference on their role and 

composition set out by the Board. The terms of reference should also consider 

how committee members will be appointed, for example by invitation of the 

Board. Committees can be given a variety of names such as ‘advisory group’. 

Provision to work with stakeholders set out in the funding agreement 

between the Council and the new entity 

The funding agreement between the Council and the new entity could contain 

some requirements for the new entity to engage with stakeholders, such as 

holding an annual consultation meeting with stakeholders. 

 Consultation 

A range of consultation approaches to reach beneficiaries could be adopted 

by the new entity. 

 As investors 

 If needed, it is likely to be possible to raise social investment from members of 

the community, as well as from wider socially-focused or social sector 

investors. 

 Advisory groups 

 To help provide continuing identity for the four service areas we would 

recommend establishing four advisory groups, one for each service area. 

Each advisory group could include a director or directors, the senior employee 

for that service area, individuals with particular skills in these service areas 

and representatives from the community, such as friends groups. 

Stakeholder, 

notably 

Community, 

involvement is both 

positive and 

achievable…  

Page 58



 
 

 

41  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 14 

Staff 

14.1 The present assumption is that staff will transfer under existing terms and 

conditions. No staff reductions have been assumed in the figures. 

14.2 Some flexibility from staff is assumed to enable income growth to happen from 

new commissioned and other services. Where these are likely to require 

training, this is also assumed. An example of the kind of services for which this 

might apply is the case of fitness trainers in the gym developing to support 

stroke rehabilitation programmes, or swimming coaches and guards 

supporting specific programmes with people with additional needs. 

 Section 14

14 Staff 

Emergent findings 

flag culture change 

as the major 

issue… 

  

Page 59



 
 

 

42  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Section 15 

Assets 

15.1 Community asset mapping  

15.1.1 The mapping exercise underway is developing a picture of how the assets can 

be used to best effect has taken into account the following factors: 

• Population size and demographics of the local community, including level 

of deprivation, unemployed, age profile  

• Results of the needs analysis broken down by ward 

• Proximity and ease of transport to alternative provision, whether public or 

private sector 

• Potential for relocating services to alternative sites within the community 

that either already or could house drop-in centres, available rooms, PCs, 

cafes etc   

• Whether existing services could be better served via outreach or mobile 

facilities to reach the population 

• Cost of operation, including costs per number and opening hs 

• Level of investment needed for the building, together with its potential 

repurposing or sale value 

• Footfall and level of usage including book loans, unique borrowers, PC 

sessions provided,  

• Staffing requirements for resource efficiency across the portfolio 

15.1.2 Further work across these areas will be carried out to finalise the list of assets 

over the next few months. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Section 15

15 Assets  

Assets are being 

mapped based on 

utilisation, access, 

provision and need.   

  

Page 60



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

43  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 

 

Page 61



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

44  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

1.1 Overview of Research, Analysis and Methodology  

1.1.1 Needs, in this context, are improvements in health, wellbeing and other social factors sought 

by individuals, families, communities, or the State. The overall approach to the needs 

analysis is to consider the social and socio-economic needs of the area, taking the Wirral as 

a whole, and also looking Ward by Ward,   It considers both the needs of the general 

population, and also groups that have particular needs not shared by the majority.  Section 2 

above explains this further and emphasises that those needs are viewed from the 

perspectives of firstly the people themselves and the activities they are undertaking in the 

Leisure and other facilities, secondly from other agencies (health, police, education, and 

others) seeking to meet aspects of those needs, and thirdly from the Council, both in 

overview, and at the level of providers of services within the facilities  We understand the 

needs of the people and the area, then match those against what is being delivered 

currently, and draw out what else Leisure and the other facilities might do, or what they might 

do differently. 

1.1.2 This analysis of needs, drawing together those different perspectives, is explained below, 

and falls into three main parts:   

Firstly an analysis of Wirral’s needs and required outcomes, divided into two broad 

discussions:  

a) needs as viewed through the lens of service providers within the scope of our project:  

what is being done currently, as against what identified needs? 

b) needs of specific demographic and beneficiary groups within the wider purview of the 

Council:  

what wider needs are there for the people of the Wirral, and the area?   

Secondly there is a discussion of how these could be met through an alternative operating 

model: what could these services do about it ?   

Thirdly, we look at how our analysis sits against the 20 Pledges embedded in the Wirral 

Plan.  This is an important test of completeness of the analysis, but also enables the strategy 

and planning for the operational response in these areas to link up with the other areas being 

developed to address the Wirral plan. 

1.1.3 Following a period of desk research to provide context, we held ‘Needs and Outcomes’ 

workshops in December 2016 with each of the four service areas under review. The 

workshops helped us to understand the lives and needs of the people of Wirral, its visitors 

and investors, from the perspective of public service providers.  In addition to building this 

comprehensive and useful insight we used the workshops to capture information in three 

more areas:   

 ideas for improvement and innovation, including reference to strategies and initiatives 

already in place – for example under the 20 Pledges;  

Appendix A 

A Needs Analysis 

Page 62



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

45  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

 suggestions as to the root causes of challenges within current service provision;    

 underlying strategic concerns within the Borough 

1.1.4 We went on to undertake additional desk research and telephone conversations with a 

number of other experts and other agencies, such as commissioners, to gain a deeper 

understanding of some of the key needs areas. This has highlighted some which had not 

been mentioned in workshops, but which we nevertheless understand to be important. 

1.1.5 The sections that follow consider the current provision and the viewpoint of service providers 

in 1.2, entitled “Needs Group One – Service Areas.”  Each of the four areas is considered in 

turn. They then look, in 1.3, at Needs Group Two – Specific Beneficiary and Demographic 

Groups, which examines whole area need and draws out the particular groups on which the 

Service Areas should be focusing. 

1.1.6 Section 4.4 draws out the implications of the needs analysis for the operating model, and 

comes to an initial conclusion about the model that it demands for the future.  Section 4.5 

then compares what has been learned to both the Pledges and the data that underpins 

them. 

1.2 Needs Group One – Service Areas 

Arts and Culture  

1.2.1 The services delivered to meet needs under these areas fall into two types: assets and 

events provided or facilitated by the Council, and access to spaces or venues for 

individuals and groups to use in a range of different contexts. 

1.2.2 The teams at the Floral Pavilion, Williamson Art Gallery and Birkenhead Priory have come to 

know certain groups very well and to become trusted providers of services and facilities that 

meet those groups’ needs – often as a result of working however closely with them to ‘make 

it possible’ for an activity or event to take place.  There seems to be a tension in operational 

decision-making between dedicating resources (including time) to such needs-led provision, 

and focussing on generating additional income or behaving more commercially with redesign 

of services around those groups’ ability to  pay. The two need not be mutually exclusive. 

1.2.3 Activities and services intended to meet needs additional to the mainstream purposes of the 

venue include: 

 Providing a space for weekly/regular meetings or drop-in sessions for groups such as 

carers, health advisors, financial advisors (e.g. Liverpool Metropolitan University maths 

department who run budget advice sessions).  To date this provision is usually free of 

charge and the spaces used deemed to be community assets.  Council-owned buildings 

seem to be a natural home for such activities, as they fulfil a social rather than a 

commercial need, but that is not to say that they could not be delivered in a more 

commercial (yet still affordable) way. 

Page 63



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

46  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

 Commercial opportunities through renting space for local college graduations, 

weddings, and conferences.  The perception is that this could be increased in volume, 

but this would need to be supported by more active and coordinated marketing effort. 

Staff believe there is an opportunity for Floral to partner with Liverpool hotels to serve 

larger conferences and events (many of the hotels do not have the conference space 

and the Floral’s size – including free parking -  is seen as key driver of business). 

 Specifically designed events, visits and programmes for groups such schools, looked 

after children, under 5s, etc.  The kind of events we have heard about include ‘relaxed’ 

performances for families with autistic children and dementia friendly offerings, to name 

but two..  These events are negotiated and planned directly with the venue in which 

they are held in an ad hoc ‘as required’ basis and are often time-consuming to plan and 

manage, but deemed to be very important to the beneficiary groups concerned and ‘in 

tune’ with a wider duty to the community. These would offer not just a more widely 

useable and marketable series of activities, but also a foundation for a wider specialist 

aspect for tourism, drawing in visitors to the area.  

Leisure 

1.2.4 Consultation with staff working in the Leisure services area centred on two distinct areas of 

activity, which in turn highlighted two main needs areas, namely recreational sport and 

leisure and therapeutic or needs-driven sports and leisure. 

1.2.5 In the first category, we see a large portfolio of sports and leisure venues which are 

competing for business with private offerings, but which appear not fully to understand their 

core client base, nor the basis on which they compete.  Improved technology to monitor and 

track customer usage should help in this regard, as should a systematic market and 

competitor analysis, and a greater focus on meeting needs and managing customer journey.   

1.2.6 Our overall impression is that usage of leisure facilities is predominated by a core existing 

group and little is done systematically to encourage people in or to try new sports and 

activities. There is, for example, a clear opportunity to offer taster sessions, or more sessions 

for families and younger people at the sites which would encourage a wider usage group, 

making new users familiar and comfortable with the surroundings and more likely to increase 

their take-up of other classes and facilities.  

 Golf is a prime example of a sport whose core player base is ageing and declining.  If 

courses are to remain open, they will need to attract more players, perhaps through 

widening the game’s appeal to younger age groups (e.g., through coaching on driving 

ranges) or to groups who are less able to play the traditional game (provision of a 

driving range and novel introductions to golf, such as footgolf). 

 A hobby which we are assured is very important to the people of Wirral, appealing to 

players of all ages and meeting an inter-generational social need, is Crown Green 

Bowling.  The responsibility for maintenance of greens lies however, within the remit of 

Page 64



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

47  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

Parks and Countryside, and is not linked into wider leisure discussions, risking a 

disjointed approach to service provision. 

1.2.7 Leisure centres are increasingly being seen as an ideal venue for health and wellbeing 

lessons, sessions and advice (for example in diabetes prevention, mental health, stroke or 

cardio rehabilitation, amongst others). However where such third party commissioned or 

facilitated activities are found in Wirral, it is organised locally to a site and on an ad hoc, 

reactive basis. Coordinated effort across the estate could lead to a more sustainable 

programme of needs-led activities generating a more reliable income stream from a variety 

of commissioners. 

 We were told, for example, that historically the leisure centres took referrals from Social 

Services for therapeutic classes, short breaks for carers, and the like, but that funding 

ceased several years ago, leaving the centres with a database of some 400+ families 

with a latent need for provision that is no longer being met. 

1.2.8 One overarching interpretation of need within the Leisure portfolio was the need to create 

‘pathways’ into traditional sports and leisure. These would serve to utilise sports and leisure 

in systemic solutions to fundamental challenges, such as ill health, disaffection or low 

aspirations.  Such an ambition would rely on being able to secure funding and income 

streams in order to do this in a sustainable and reliable way.   

 In particular we noted that the main external grant funding source for the Leisure 

portfolio was grants from bodies such as Sport England, which often fund only specific 

activities (i.e. those aligning to their current strategic priorities).  Such pursuance of 

funding opportunities that come to light, puts the Council on a reactive footing and this 

has a significant influence over the shape of local provision, regardless of true demand. 

Even this is not being addressed systematically: FA funding for 3G pitches has not been 

secured because the football pitch strategy has not been finalised.   

 An example of this is seen with regard to LTA funding for new tennis courts, for which 

there was not enough real demand. Following an initial period of low usage, some of the 

courts were later turned into football pitches (for which demand across the Borough 

currently outstrips supply – see point 4.2.11 below on playing pitch strategy). 

Parks and Leisure 

1.2.9 This area of the portfolio provided perhaps the most diverse discussion of needs and it is the 

area in which there is most potential for aligning with Borough- and Region-wide strategies in 

respect of ‘place-making’.  Perhaps more than purely cultural or purely leisure-based assets, 

the Wirral’s parks and open spaces are considered to be amenities owned by the 

community, accessible by all and meeting many different needs – recreational, therapeutic, 

tourist, casual, opportunistic, and sometimes commercial. 

1.2.10 For the recreational or casual user, for example, there is clearly a wealth of provision in 

terms of parks, countryside, beaches, and ‘pocket parks’. However we understand that not 

Page 65



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

48  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

wanting to share or wanting one for themselves rather than visiting others’ could be factors in 

keeping this wealth a secret.  People tend to use their local park by preference (local to work 

or home), and see little benefit in travelling further afield to go to a different one.  At the same 

time we hear of successful initiatives in one park (eg the fairy village) being replicated in 

others and there was some discussion in our workshop as to whether a more creative 

strategy might not be to differentiate the parks and open spaces to encourage people to 

move around the Wirral in search of new experiences in different places. 

 Assets are wide and varied, and generally high quality, but it was acknowledged that 

they are poorly advertised, that signposting and wayfinding is not always clear, and that 

in many cases ‘only local people know about them’. 

1.2.11 For residents, fitness-related activities such as park runs, urban gym equipment or informal 

exercise by groups (mums and buggies jogging groups) or individuals (dog walkers), are the 

key draw to parks, aside from the simple usage of spending time in a pleasant green and 

tranquil place.   

 This latter need is probably most acute in more deprived areas of the Borough, where 

we understand that the challenge of entrenched deprivation leads to hopelessness and 

lack of motivation or wherewithal to get active and get out. Parks could play an 

important role as the setting for referred services here. 

 Allotments are also seen as very important but there was concern that inflating price of 

these in order to bring in extra income might exclude those who most need the mental 

health and wellbeing benefit that tending an allotment provides, in favour of those who 

already have access to a garden but can afford to rent more. 

 Playing pitches are also discussed under Parks and Countryside, somewhat 

incongruously, as the demand for sports provision is better understood in the context of 

Leisure.  Demand currently outstrips supply and as a consequence, the pitches in many 

cases have become ‘over-played’ and their quality has deteriorated.  FA funding for new 

‘top end’ 3G pitches is available as noted above, which would enable proper play on an 

appropriate surface for all levels of use, but this external funding relies on adoption of a 

playing pitch strategy which has not yet made it through the Council’s approval process. 

1.2.12 For special interest (e.g. education or therapeutic groups) it is important that access remains 

accessible, safe, affordable and easy to navigate.   In some cases, the beneficiary groups 

themselves help with maintenance, providing mutual benefit. For example local autism 

groups help with park maintenance projects; school groups use visitor centres but also make 

use of work experience and school placements. 

 Parks are valued highly by residents and several have established Friends’ groups to 

maintain and care for their local land.  In one case, residents whose homes back onto 

the park have ‘adopted’ patches of the land to keep litter- and weed-free.   

Page 66



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

49  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

 Income generated through Friends’ groups is not for wider use within the Parks and 

Countryside estate, but usually earmarked for a specific campaign or purpose – this 

provides an opportunity to work more systematically with such groups in order to 

enhance and promote ‘neglected’ natural and historical assets – both to the people of 

Wirral and as a magnet for the visitor economy. 

 Alternatively, a Wirral-wide Friends’ scheme which enabled donations (of time or 

money) to be put to use across the estate might be a feasible initiative. 

1.2.13 SSSI sites attract specific interest as well as local ramblers, dog walkers, families, children, 

keep fit groups and so on.  As a tourist ‘draw’ their current usage levels are probably limited 

by low levels of promotion and lack of web-based signposting. However some of these areas 

arguably rely on careful management of visitor levels to protect their status and integrity (e.g, 

Hilbre Island and its protected bird species). 

1.2.14 Whilst there is much justifiable pride in the quality and historical importance of some of 

Wirral’s parks and countryside assets (notably Birkenhead Park – the first of its kind, for 

example) there appears to be some indecision as to priorities across the estate.  Should the 

Council, for example, strive to win green flag status for all of its managed parks (probably 

resulting in fewer of them) or manage different parks to different levels of ‘quality’?   A similar 

sentiment, incidentally, was aired in respect of golf courses, where it was felt that fewer golf 

courses, maintained to a higher quality would serve the population better.  Indeed staff were 

clearly frustrated that the department’s funds would no longer allow them to deliver the 

quality ‘product’ they wanted to provide.  

1.2.15 Parks and other outside spaces could play an important role in developing an events-based 

visitor economy, requiring collaboration with activities organised by neighbouring regions 

(notably the Liverpool city region), to integrate events, festivals and thematic activities more 

closely and increase travel to and around the peninsula.  

 Clearly, such an approach would also require collaboration with those responsible for 

transport, hospitality and the like, which lie outside the scope of this project. 

Libraries 

1.2.16 The extent of needs met by libraries ranges far beyond the traditional service of book lending 

(though interestingly, we understand that the library service’s internal KPIs are limited to 

book loans and customer footfall – perhaps distorting true usage patterns).  It is here that the 

multiple dimensions of service use motivations come through most clearly:  libraries being 

places that people come to throughout their lives for different purposes – some needs-

driven; some wants-driven; sometimes alone and sometimes with a group; sometimes with a 

purpose in mind; other times simply to spend time in pursuit of new knowledge. 

1.2.17 Library staff provide access and signposting to information and advice in a multitude of 

different formats, and these differ in number and nature from site to site – driven partly by 

Page 67



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

50  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

local needs profiles and partly by availability of expertise and facilitation (e.g. for expert-led 

sessions such as storytelling or Baby Bounce and Rhyme). 

1.2.18 We heard in our needs and outcomes workshop that libraries enjoy a personal relationship 

with their customers that is perhaps unique amongst Council or community services. Library 

staff are seen as independent and impartial (often they are the ones that people will turn to 

for help with filling in forms needed by the Council or other official agency) and motivated to 

go the extra mile in hunting down the right information. 

 Libraries are well placed to act as signposts to other services, particularly in deprived 

areas such as Seacombe, where the library may be the only place open or accessible 

when someone needs advice. 

 They also act as a safety net in light of dwindling provision elsewhere (e.g, by printing 

off benefit claims forms for claimants to fill in who have no access to a printer 

elsewhere). Printers, incidentally, are seen as a key facility within the Borough, but lack 

of wifi in libraries means staff time is taken up with each user. 

 Customers are routinely referred to libraries by other services for help in completing 

their own processes (e.g. DWP, YMCA, GPs, blue badge applications, job centres, etc).   

One-off funding enabling one stop shops to take DWP referrals was awarded several 

years ago, but we understand that this is reduced every year, in spite of continuing 

demand.  A clear opportunity to formalise a chargeable referral route in such cases 

should be investigated. 

1.2.19 Libraries are a natural venue for health and wellbeing courses and advice (e.g, smoking 

cessation, weight loss, etc,) but this is currently delivered on an ad hoc basis and agreed 

locally.  This kind of service is ideal for formalisation and negotiation across the Borough and 

potentially for delivery in alternative venues in order to optimise reach and range (we 

mentioned this in our discussion of leisure centres too).   

 The Clinical Commissioning Group, for example, recently asked for library staff to be 

trained as health champions providing informal education in harder to reach 

communities, and providing staff with skills to support schemes like Reading for Health. 

1.2.20 In terms of local need, the library staff highlighted several groups who would not necessarily 

emerge from library usage analysis, but who nevertheless regularly rely on their library: 

 Beechwood in particular has high levels of poor literacy locally, so the library is a key 

mechanism in breaking the cycle and improving standards (encouraging young people’s 

literacy and familiarity with the written word – in whatever format) whilst providing 

support for those who are unable to navigate information easily by themselves. 

 High levels of book loans in affluent areas masks issues of social isolation (property 

rich, cash poor) and users in these areas sometimes come to the library for social 

interaction or company rather than to borrow books. 

Page 68



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

51  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

 People often come into libraries because they are one of the few remaining places 

where they can linger for free. 

1.2.21 Some current usage patterns suggest additional income streams, however these need to be 

organised across the libraries estate (and potentially across the whole portfolio) if 

management and coordination is to be cost-effective: 

 Libraries no longer include tourism services in their information provision and this is 

both a significant gap and a significant opportunity with regard to the future of Wirral as 

a whole.  There is, we are told,  ‘nowhere to go’ to find out about events and facilities.   

 Tourist information functions such as accommodation and event booking facilities 

(augmented by web or app access outside of library opening hours) would provide 

benefits and drive additional footfall into whatever buildings were chosen as suitable, be 

they libraries or other Council assets. 

 Bebington library has a number of collections in storage which are not yet digitised or 

catalogued so not available to the public or to visitors.  This includes a Joseph Mayer 

collection which holds local historical interest.  A collaboration with volunteers - perhaps 

through the Joseph Mayer Trust – might enable digitisation at low cost and generate a 

local ‘buzz’ around the project.  Birkenhead has recently undertaken a successful 

digitisation project using volunteers so we know this model could work. 

Portfolio-Wide Needs  

1.2.22 A number of over-riding principles have been identified that hold true for needs across the 

portfolio.  Currently these are being met from within each service area ‘silo’, however it is 

possible -and indeed preferable - for much closer co-ordination and collaboration, in order to 

optimise efficiencies of scale and scope.  A joined-up approach would remove pressure from 

those services whose nature makes it difficult for them to assure access at all times needed.  

Key points are : 

 Need for community spaces – people use them for coming together, but also for 

somewhere to go on their own.  There is a need for a mix of free-to-use and private hire 

facilities in each locality (though the proportions will vary from place to place). 

 Some groups (eg older women living alone, long term unemployed, those with mental 

health or anxiety issues) need places to go and things to do that feels local and safe, 

are affordable and not too intimidating – eg, Knit and Natter, Women’s craft groups, 

Floral choir, allotments, etc). 

 Others want a higher end offering (high quality coffee and catering, experts in art to talk 

to at galleries) 

Page 69



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

52  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

 It is widely acknowledged that thematic event programming across service areas would 

increase interest, engagement and offerings at little extra cost (but that this would 

require additional resource in administration, data capture and marketing). 

 Properly co-ordinated volunteer opportunities would allow for additional services and 

longer opening hours in many cases, but volunteer resource is not sustainable as a 

means of service delivery unless professionally managed and co-ordinated. 

 Wirral is a place that people are justifiably proud to live in, but there could be much 

better capitalisation on local assets and history.  Many assets are hidden, not well 

enough publicised or are expected to remain viable as a discrete entity and not as part 

of a wider network.  A strong and reinvigorated tourism and visitor strategy was seen as 

vital to keep services viable across the Borough for the benefit of both visitors and 

residents alike. 

1.3 Needs Group Two – Specific Beneficiary and Demographic Groups 

Age and Demographics 

1.3.1 Birth rates in Wirral are declining and current demand for early years services should be 

expected to decrease slightly, especially in the under 5s (currently numbering around 19,000 

in 2015 and forecast by ONS to be 17,700 by 2017) 

 Unsurprisingly, given the density and nature of the areas, the highest numbers of births 

in 2014/15 were in Birkenhead & Tranmere (283), Seacombe (283); Bidston & St James 

(242) and Rock Ferry (202). ;  

 Low birth weight is most prevalent in Liscard, Seacombe, Bidston/St James and 

Birkenhead/Tranmere which might suggest a need for parenting support services in 

those areas. 

 Areas such as Heswall, West Kirby & Thurstaton, Hoylake and Clatterbridge have less 

latent demand for early years provision, and these could be areas where services are 

delivered on a peripatetic or ‘as needed’ basis. 

Page 70



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

53  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

1.3.2 By contrast, the population is ageing and demand for services for over 65s is growing. In 

particular, there is a need to focus on the increasing demand for services to address older 

age and associated ill health.  People are living longer, but this often includes a significant 

period of ill health. 

 In 2015, 4,767 people over 65 in Wirral had dementia. Dementia UK predicts this will 

rise by 12.1% to 5,345 by 2021 and that provision of services such as memory clinics 

should produce a cost saving by reducing the need for social care.  

 The Council has invested in training staff to be dementia ‘friendly’. Give the 

demographic profile of the area there is some argument for building on this investment 

and working towards making Wirral a dementia friendly borough. Heswall’s Café 

Connect is a good example of such thinking, but Council services could take the lead by 

embedding dementia-friendly clauses into sub-contracting arrangements. 

 A  “Dementia Friendly Community” is defined by Dementia UK as one where people 

with Dementia are able to; 

 Find their way around and be safe 

 Access the local facilities that they are used to and where they are known (such 

as banks, shops, cafes, cinemas and post offices) 

 Maintain their social networks so they feel they continue to belong 

1.3.3 One of the main consequences of both living longer (often outliving friends and partners) and 

developing dementia is  that the individual becomes isolated.  As such it is probably useful to 

consider isolation and ageing together. 

 

Page 71



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

54  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

 In 2011 every ward of Wirral had 

at least 780 people over 65 who 

were living alone Bebington, 

Heswall, New Brighton, Pensby 

& Thingwall, Upton, Wallasey 

and West Kirby & Thurstaton 

each had between 1,000 and 

1,200 residents over 65 living 

alone. These are potentially the 

most appropriate wards to target 

for memory clinics, and services 

designed to meet social needs in 

elderly people. 

 Memory clinics require a quiet 

location with at least two rooms, 

in an accessible building with 

toilet facilities and parking or 

very good transport links. 

Children, Education and Families  

1.3.4 Barriers to learning exist to varying degrees across the Borough, and can be complex, 

including: children’s mental  health, adult mental health, low aspirations in the family 

home, patchy access to early intervention services, ADHD, lack of parental support. 

 An achievement ‘gap’ aligns with those on Free School Meals and this is most 

noticeable at GCSE level. Whilst not surprising as a pattern, this suggests a need to 

focus services and support that will provide help and good role models in wards where 

those patterns are strongest in order to prevent children who might thrive at school from 

going into decline once they leave formal support and guidance behind them.  We have 

been shown examples of how this can work to great effect with Operation Banger and 

the Sportsmobile projects.   

 Youth volunteering and citizenship opportunities within the Council could be targeted 

predominately at areas with lowest performing schools (eg Leasowe) 

1.3.5 Outside of the scope of this project, but contributing to the needs base of Wirral residents is 

school performance and potentially unequal opportunities arising from the school system. 

Schools are competing for good pupils, with the result that some state high schools are 

being left with predominately low achieving boys (Bebington High has 80% boys; Mosslands 

in Wallasey) which limits educational outcomes.   

1.3.6 Wirral has a higher rate of child admissions for mental health than the England average – 

and has seen a significant rise in recent years.   

Page 72



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

55  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

 Higher levels of children in care than similar boroughs (738) with the highest prevalence 

in Rock Ferry, Bidston/St James and Birkenhead, and support and respite services for 

them and their carers could usefully be targeted in these areas. 

 In 2015/16, Barnardos identified 142 young carers in Wirral. 100 of these were children 

caring for parents supported by primary health care or secondary mental health 

services; 60 children were living in families with a history of domestic abuse.  Leisure 

and arts facilities in areas where child carers live could provide respite opportunities  

1.3.7 Poverty is a very real issue in some areas of Wirral which has seven LSOAs where more 

than 50% of residents are income deprived.  The five wards with the highest proportion of 

children under 15 are also the most deprived wards (Birkenhead & Tranmere (22.9%); 

Bidston & St James (23.4%); Seacombe (23.5%); Rock Ferry (22%) and Leasowe & 

Moreton East (21.1%).  

 Wirral has a higher proportion of children assessed as being in need than the national 

average – with the primary causes listed as family dysfunction, neglect and physical 

abuse 

 Wirral’s head teachers have identified two distinct types of JAM (Just About Managing) 

families: those struggling to make ends meet through multi-generational poverty and 

long term unemployment (predominantly in the East of the Borough) and those 

struggling to maintain their commitments and lifestyle under straitened circumstances 

(mostly in the West).  The needs of each type vary. 

 Services in poorer areas need to be affordable and accessible – probably allowing for 

sporadic use and delivered where necessary with the support of peer mentors, 

volunteers and the like. 

Page 73



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

56  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

 Bidston, Birkenhead & Tranmere, and Rock Ferry will likely be areas where unhealthy 

norms are entrenched.  These are most suitable locations for modelling healthy eating, 

encouraging physical activity and outdoor activities and providing support for 

schoolchildren – both educational and diversionary.   Leisure facilities here need to be 

culturally appropriate as well as appealing. 

Adult Health, Disability and Wellbeing 

1.3.8 Whilst not peculiar to Wirral, diabetes is a key health issue, and one that can be dramatically 

reduced by concerted and coordinated strategies to improve lifestyle choices, including using 

so-called ‘nudge’ techniques to make the healthiest option the most attractive. 

 Public Health England’s statistics on non-diabetic hyperglycaemia (those with HBA1c 

value of 6.0% - 6.4%), shows 30,197 pre-diabetics in Wirral, or 11.5% of population.   

 The Council’s Public Health intelligence team estimates a rise in prevalence of diabetes 

from 19,759 in 2015 to 20,866 in 2020.   

 The NHS diabetes prevention programme has been rolled out to Birkenhead, however 

this national programme is widely considered unlikely to meet the scale of the demand 

on a national level. There could be an opportunity to provide facilities for diabetes 

prevention programmes and/or co-deliver these through leisure centres and other 

spaces (a typical programme combines nutrition and exercise advice) on a 

commissioned basis through the local CCG. 

1.3.9 CCG Quality Outcome Framework prevalence registers show that key health issues in Wirral 

are Hypertension (14.7% of practice populations), Asthma (6.34), Obesity (10.45%), 

Diabetes (6.49%) and Depression (7.51%).  Multi-generational poverty means lifestyles are 

entrenched in many cases and these specific conditions offer other areas in which the CCG 

or Public Health England may consider commissioning lifestyle-related services which fit well 

within the wider leisure portfolio. 

1.3.10 4.3.10 Most areas of the portfolio offer some services specifically designed to cater for those 

living with autism, and this has been cited as an area in which Wirral could develop a 

reputation for tailored service provision, attracting people into the Borough, as well as 

informing minimum standards of inclusion for its general service provision (a similar 

argument to that on dementia in paragraph 4.3.2 above).  According to PANSI data (2015) 

Wirral has around 2,400 adults living with autism. Of these, some 1,800 are adults aged 18-

64 years - a figure expected to reduce to 1,700 by 2030. At the same time those aged over 

75 with autism would rise from 615 in 2015 to around 800in 2030 as the current population 

ages. 

 Using Wirral’s 2015 School Census data, around 1.40%, or 616 pupils of Wirral school 

population, has a primary or secondary diagnosis of autism, though estimates of exact 

numbers differ. 

Page 74



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

57  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

 Any provision specifically designed for children with autism has a potential local 

audience of around 600; services for adults could reach around 1,800 people and for 

over 65s, around 600.  Services requiring higher numbers to remain viable would need 

to attract people from out of Borough. 

1.3.11 Disability-related services (as well as services designed to be inclusive to those living with a 

disability) are a specific needs area within any borough.  In terms of the siting of those 

services, we know that Employment Support Allowance (ESA) and incapacity or severe 

disability allowance are highest in the following wards (2014 figures): Birkenhead & 

Tranmere (2,535), Rock Ferry (1,580), Seacombe (1,610), Upton (1,035), Leesowe & 

Moreton East (1,100), Liscard (1,050) and Bidston & St James (1,455).   

1.3.12  A Mencap consultation in 2016 included recommendations of areas of improvement needed 

in order to ‘Make Wirral a better place to live for people with a learning disability and their 

families’.  Its key implications for providers of services include: 

 Help in navigating information and services and in forward planning, including better 

matching in supported living, and support for families in accessing the correct benefits 

and entitlements.  These are services which could be provided in a number of setting 

across the portfolio. 

 Greater employment support and opportunities for people with a learning disability and 

family carers, and access to volunteering for every person with a learning disability that 

would like it - which would fit well within a coordinated volunteering programme or 

agency.  

 More personal development opportunities for people with a learning disability to 

maximise independence and potential (including travel training).  This also has 

implications in the delivery of sports and leisure opportunities. 

 More activities for adults during the daytime and holiday times (particularly for the over 

25s), which may be particularly useful income opportunities when they coincide with 

traditional leisure centre ‘slack’ periods, for example.  

1.3.13 Happy Time Activities, is an example of a Wirral-based social enterprise supporting adults 

with mental health conditions by delivering fun, interactive learning activities with uplifting 

stimulation and fun routines and games to help improve concentration, co-ordination and 

reflexes.  It, and other organisations like it, could be useful commissioners of space, facilities 

or expertise. 

Crime Reduction and Community Safety 

1.3.14 Crime and ASB were the highest area of concern in 2015 residents’ survey (60% listed it as 

highest), however the actual statistics for reported crime do not correspond with this, 

showing instead a year on year reduction in most categories, especially ASB.  So it seems to 

be perception of crime that is the issue, and there is an opportunity for Council services to 

Page 75



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

58  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

address this in some part – most likely in joint operations and initiatives with other agencies.  

Whilst these may not directly provide income streams, they could well act as a gateway to 

higher footfall through facilities leading to higher usage in the future.     

 Areas with highest levels of crime are Birkenhead and Wallasey.  Birkenhead town 

centre also has Wirral’s only area of night-time economy (a handful of bars open till 

5am) with associated violent crime fuelled by alcohol and drugs. Beechwood and 

Woodchurch Estates have high numbers of single parents, alcohol and drug abuse and 

early health issues – all of which suggest a need for preventative and diversionary 

activities. Wallasey too has dense populations with parochial families and low level 

ASB, but also some drug dealing.  

 ASB is known to increase in line with calendar events (Halloween, Guy Fawkes, end of 

school terms, etc).  Statistics show it is mainly found in a small cohort of individuals in 

Birkenhead who exhibit generational, parochial behaviours, and hold civil injunctions 

and the like.   

 The biggest crime category is Domestic Violence. According to Public Health England, 

of the 39 constabularies in England, Merseyside Police reported the second highest 

incidence of domestic abuse for 2013/14, at a rate of 28.4 incidents per 1,000 

population (Public Health Outcomes Framework, 2015).   

Employment, Training and the Wider Economy 

1.3.15 Declining industries and competition from neighbouring areas have led to high 

unemployment rates and low skills in some wards (notably in the East of the Borough, which 

was traditionally the industrial heartland of Wirral).  Low aspirations and lack of role models 

are frequently cited in our consultations as being pivotal issues and cycles that need to be 

broken. 

 Lowest qualification levels are in Bidston & St James, Birkenhead & Tranmere, 

Seacombe, Leesowe and Rock Ferry.  Upton is the worst performing ward in West 

Wirral; Bromborough and Bebington in Wirral South.  These areas are ideal locations for 

skills development services or entrepreneurial and start-up support. 

 Households with no access to vehicles are most prevalent in Birkenhead &Tranmere 

(55%), Bidston & St James (51%) Rock Ferry (47%) and Seacombe (35%) and 

residents here are most likely to be reliant on public transport to access services.  

These are also the areas with highest levels of NEETS, so training and educational 

opportunities for younger people will need to be both local and affordable.  The 

Council’s property assets in such areas could provide valuable work experience and 

training opportunities. 

 

 

Page 76



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

59  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

Emergent Key Themes 
1. Multi generational poverty and 

disengagement 
2. Low working age to retired 

ratio: 
• Ageing well 
• Dementia 
• Isolation and 

loneliness 
3. Demand for coordinated 

services 
4. Inclusion and exclusion of 

some, socially and 
economically 

5. Higher than average LACs 
6. Areas of oversupply; 

unsuitable assets; needing 
reconfiguration and joining up 

7. Opportunities to meet health 
and social needs with these 
assets 

8. Support for tourism: general 
and special groups 

Tourism and Visitor Economy 

1.3.16 Over recent years, and in the light of dwindling budgets, Wirral has suffered from a lack of 

focus on tourism.  This has impacted footfall and visitor spend, as fewer people think of 

Wirral as a holiday or day trip destination, which in turn means services (public and private) 

are more reliant on the ‘domestic pound’ to remain viable, and compete harder over that 

pound. 

 Wirral used to be known as the ‘Leisure Peninsula’.  Facilities and attractions remain but 

there is a distinct lack of places to stay, meaning Wirral has become a good place to 

visit, but visitors do not stay long.  

 There is an opportunity to benefit from Liverpool’s tourist trade by working with partners 

to extend popular tourism ‘routes’ across the water. Wirral boasts a wealth of sites and 

assets of historical significance – and a clear opportunity to market and co-ordinate 

events round these. 

 The borough’s ageing population could form a logical basis of re-branding of Wirral into 

a dementia friendly borough (or ‘barrier free’ if we consider other challenging 

conditions), however some areas difficult to navigate with poor signage, unclear routes 

etc which would run counter to this ambition. 

 Wirral residents are said to give more per head to charity than anywhere else in the 

country (though we are yet to substantiate this).  Targeting fundraising around local 

interest projects could direct some of this philanthropy inwards. 

1.3.17 Creating expectation or ‘permission’ for Council staff to spend time on developing 

programmes in collaboration with other venues (including those outside the Council) would 

increase usage and footfall (enabling an increase in ancillary spending).  For example, it is 

evident that there are high levels of local pride for notable ‘sons and daughters of Wirral’ but 

it stays very local – a coordinated effort between services could lead to revenue-raising 

events and higher footfall.  We have 

encountered an unease amongst staff as to how 

this ‘additional’ work is perceived alongside 

more traditional ways of public sector working. 

1.4 Implications of the Needs Analysis for an 

Alternative Operating Model 

1.4.1 Through the analysis process, a number of key 

issues are emerging.  These create challenges 

in their own right, but also act as the causes of 

needs within the Borough which manifest at 

very local levels.  These key themes include, for 

example, multi-generation unemployment in the 

same families, leading to low incomes, lack of 

Page 77



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

60  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

role models within families, lower educational attainment, poorer behavioural norms and 

lower health outcomes, anti-social behaviour.  Whilst the Council needs to be provide some 

services which are universal in design, other services, like those that address the themes 

cited here, need to be targeted with some flexibility in design of delivery or accessibility to 

accommodate specific or changing needs. 

The box to the previous page notes eight key themes arising from the needs analysis that 

affect operational response. 

1.4.2 Multi-generational poverty and disengagement 

Of the population, 4.3% are long-term unemployed, and we were told that many come from 

multi-generational unemployed families. 16 to 19 year old white males are a particularly 

prevalent needs group in this area. The provision of facilities needs to focus on them, noting 

that the challenge here is not one of availability but of willingness to engage. 

1.4.3 Low Working age to retired ratio 

Wirral has a high retired to working age ratio, 18.8% of economically active as against 13.4% 

nationally (ONS), with increasing numbers of unhealthy elderly and very limited employment 

prospects for those of working age. There appears to be a lack of consensus as to what 

industries and strengths Wirral wants to develop to replace the industries it lost and little 

effort to drive up revenue (e.g. from tourism, including specialist groups) or to develop 

exports (e.g. by collaborating with local research institutions to develop specialist or 

innovative solutions to the Borough’s challenges which can be exported elsewhere – ageing 

well; inclusivity in older age; etc). The Council needs to be agile enough to play its part in 

delivering solutions to unemployment and to facilitate innovation and entrepreneurialism as 

part of a wider co-ordinated partner approach to economic regeneration.  

1.4.4 Demand for  joined-up, coordinated services 

The Wirral boasts a wealth of latent natural and historical assets and a fierce civic pride but 

suffers from a lack of investment, co-ordination and invigoration.  Place-making is a strong 

theme, but there is little overall direction as to what individual places within Wirral could 

contribute to the whole. In previous decades, Council services were well understood and 

discrete from private and third sector offerings, but with the advent of devolution, localism 

and the economic downturn, service provision needs to be understood, planned and 

delivered in a much more co-ordinated fashion across stakeholder groups. 

• Service providers in public services need to be ‘easy to do business with’ at all levels.  

This includes working with a wider range of commissioners as well as responding to the 

needs of residents directly.   

• It will be important to be able to provide services at the right time, in the most 

appropriate place and at the right cost. Other commissioners can be expected to 

contribute to costs of services delivery if it is the most cost-effective means of doing so. 

Page 78



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

61  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

The ability to differentiate delivery parameters and models will enable the organisation 

to remain sustainable overall whilst retaining agility in how it responds to changing 

needs. In particular, some services are best delivered locally (at Ward level), either 

targeted at wards with the highest need incidence or tailored to meet needs in each 

ward. Others, such as specialist support (e.g. domestic violence) or strategic growth 

(e.g. the tourism agenda and visitor economy) could be more successful if a City 

Regional partnership is developed. 

1.4.5 Inclusion and exclusion of some, socially and economically 

Some sections of the community already face barriers to inclusion or experience negative 

impacts as a result of decisions made with regard to service delivery.  A new model, less 

constrained by the historical conventions or expectations that go with traditional local 

authority operations, will enable services to be delivered with more a more flexible approach.  

It could, for example, allow for: 

 Robust and commercial consideration of the impact of raising fees or charges for 

previously free services.  Who would it deter? How could the Council subsidise or ease 

the burden for those most in need, whilst generating income from those who can afford 

to pay? 

 Consideration of a Wirral-wide discount card for those meeting certain needs criteria, or 

a Wirral Residents’ multi-service discount card?  Such a scheme would work as a tourist 

or visitor ‘levy’ as full price would be incrementally inflated to non-residents, and would 

allow for those who need to pay less to do so without being overtly ‘marked out’. 

 Inclusion to be achieved through removing barriers to certain groups, for example by 

offering work experience or supported work placements to those with a long term history 

of unemployment or with special needs.  Parks maintenance, gallery staff, catering, 

front of house, would all seem appropriate, but Council contracts are likely to prohibit 

the flexibility that such engagements might need. 

1.4.6 High Looked-after child population 

This background creates specific needs for the children themselves, tending to be somewhat 

isolated, and finding it hard to develop stable friendships, requiring additional support to 

engage with sport, but also a deep need for recreation and the opportunity to develop 

attachments with suitable adults and peers in a safe environment.  Some services may be 

focused on specific needs, and others on more general needs, but tailored to make them 

accessible.  There are significant economic as well as social gains deliverable here.  An 

offering that is well integrated with fostering and post-adoption support is needed. 

In addition, carers can find themselves isolated form social networks, and not taking care of 

their own health and mental health.  There is scope for developing support services which 

embrace the carers as well, and integrate them with appropriate friendship groups. 

Page 79



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

62  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

1.4.7 Need for reconfiguration of certain assets, but looking at it as a single portfolio 

With the real possibility of meeting needs through services delivered in part from leisure and 

in part from parks, or community engagement and access to information through libraries 

and leisure centres for example, it is appropriate to approach the leisure, arts and culture 

portfolio as a single unit (albeit with separate management focus areas as appropriate).  This 

will also allow for cross-subsidies where appropriate (accepting that needs and levels of 

service demand will change over time and will have to be balanced across the portfolio). 

1.4.8 In a similar vein, best use of the property portfolio would be enabled by a single portfolio 

mindset.  Appointment of event programming and fundraising staff would ensure best use of 

all types of assets through: 

 Thematic coordination of activities and where they happen – for example ensuring that 

summer outdoor activities provide pathways or ‘hooks’ into winter indoor activities in 

other service areas. 

 Stronger celebration of (and capitalisation on) local historical figures, assets and 

collections – linking into tourism and visitor economy as well as reinvigorating local 

pride where needed. 

 Optimum use of assets when delivering commissioned services, such that bookings are 

seamlessly referred to other sites if the chosen site is unavailable full and the removal of 

bureaucracy in ‘using someone else’s building’.  

 The ability to operate purely commercial activities to make best use of its portfolio of 

assets.  For example, to charge higher rates for the hire of private rooms in libraries and 

other assets. 

 Dedicated resource to seek and secure external funding and grants and reverse the ‘tail 

wagging dog’ influence that grants have on service provision strategies. 

1.4.9 There are other areas in which assets need reconfiguration, which fall into three broad 

headings: 

 Where assets are not fit for purpose: some are inappropriately laid out (e.g. the 

Williamson, where the glass roof means that sunlight precludes the use of certain 

gallery space), and some have tired facilities in need of major overhaul 

 Where local competition has supplanted them:  this is picked up in the mapping analysis 

that is following from this phase 1 report 

 Where need has changed, or where configuration does not meet the needs of the 

current population  (e.g. the need to engage with 16-19 y.o. males; the libraries really 

used in the east of the peninsula for community space and ICT, rather than book 

lending) 

Page 80



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

63  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

“A model which is both universal and targeted” 

The intended future model is one which operates 

at two levels to deliver universal and targeted 

provision. The model must ensure that:  

1. Every Wirral resident has affordable access 

to: 

a) Sports and fitness facilities  

b) Information, books and ICT facilities  

c) Culteral facilities (theatres, galleries and 

events) 

d) Community space – outdoor and indoor 

2. It is proactive in reaching out to those in 

need 

 

1.4.10 Opportunities to meet Health and Social Needs with these assets 

New sources of funds, including grants and social investment, and new commissioning 

models are changing the landscape of provision, enabling more joined-up responses to 

social challenges and the Council will need to re-evaluate its role in this response.   Through 

the Council’s leisure and other assets, services for other agencies such as health and police 

can be delivered more cost-effectively than they could themselves.  In some cases it may be 

playing multiple roles – perhaps as commissioner, partial funder and co-provider of a single 

service – and the operating model must allow for this without necessitating time-consuming 

and costly administrative hurdles. 

 An example already in place is the integration project under Pledge 19 (Safe 

Neighbourhoods) which has seen development of the ‘Safer Wirral’ model currently 

being piloted on community patrols and estate wardens and which has a logical synergy 

with open and public space management strategies as well as diversionary provision for 

disaffected youth. 

1.4.11 Support for tourism: general and special groups 

The leisure, parks & countryside and other portfolio assets are well placed to meet not just 

local social need, but also enhance the tourist experience in the area and so bring economic 

benefits too.  As it can meet the needs of specific groups in the local population, so it can 

adapt itself not just to general tourism, but to the emerging field of special tourism.  Particular 

needs groups and their carers also require leisure experiences and want to go on holiday, 

and this can usefully and cost-effectively e delivered by configuring assets in a away to allow 

that.  Particular groups that can be addressed in this way could be: 

 Dementia sufferers 

 Children and adults with autism 

 Those with special educational needs or physical additional needs 

 Those interested in historical, or archive tourism 

1.4.12 Overall use of the portfolio 

The overall conclusion from the 

needs analysis is summarised in 

the box to the right, which suggests 

what may be seen as a 

commitment that needs to be met 

by the future model  of operation 

and governance. 

Page 81



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

64  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

1.5 Needs Analysis as Aligned to the 20 Pledges  

1.5.1 The Wirral 2020 Plan is supported by a set of strategies designed to deliver against 20 

pledges.  The pledges focus on addressing priorities within the Borough and, in doing so, 

focus on a number of the needs areas we have discussed.  Whilst each strategy has a 

specific focus, there is some overlap in outcome areas and the following themes are 

pertinent to the needs analysis. This list summarises the direction of travel under the 2020 

pledges, and highlights alignment with our proposed alternative operational model. 

Ageing Well, Isolation and Dementia 

1.5.2 Wirral has pledged a partnership approach to identifying the isolated elderly.  This includes a 

web platform to list opportunities to socialise; pre-retirement courses and a focus on digital 

inclusion and ways to access information.   

 This fits well with our proposals around dementia and inclusion, as does the 2020 action 

to encourage businesses to be age friendly spaces, and to offer access to jobs and 

volunteering 

Volunteering  

1.5.3 A partnership approach has also been pledged with regard to a volunteering strategy, 

supported by a public sector volunteer workforce.  This will be based on best practice 

research and include a ‘buddy scheme’ to support people to access leisure activities and 

explore opportunities to develop a coaching programme.  The volunteering ethic will be 

espoused early, through increasing the number of places on National Citizens Service 

programme available to 16 and 17 year olds. 

• Our proposed portfolio-wide operating model enables volunteer time to be deployed 

where most needed with a robust management and co-ordination effort sitting behind it. 

Environment and Community Safety 

1.5.4 The Pledges encompass both a diversionary strategy to reduce ASB in the short term and 

targeted awareness campaigns on hate crime and violent crime (including working with 

businesses), developing networks to break cycle of criminal behaviour.  The Wirral has 

declared ‘zero tolerance’ to domestic abuse, and will deliver a coordinated training, 

education and public awareness in support of this working with colleagues across the 

Liverpool City Region to evaluate the effectiveness of perpetrator programmes currently on 

offer.  It has pledged a working group to deliver an integrated plan for community safety. 

 Here is clear evidence of cross-agency and partnership working.  The pledges work in 

the short-, medium- and longer term and will need to integrate with service provision, 

shared objectives and priorities across multiple stakeholders. 

 

Page 82



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

65  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

Health, Disability and Wellbeing 

1.5.5 The emphasis here is a dual one – working with partners to meet existing needs holistically, 

as well as focussing on prevention of long term conditions by changing societal needs – a 

good example of service provision which is at once universal but targeted. The pledges offer 

some targeted support to specific groups which are currently under-served, by: 

 Implementing the Wirral Strategy for carers through supporting the Carer's Partnership 

Board 

 Exploring innovative ways to maintain provision of short breaks and respite placements 

for children and adults with disabilities 

 Working with local employers to consider innovative collaborative approaches to 

increase the local provision for training and work opportunities  

 Working as a partnership to explore innovative ways to remove barriers to people 

getting out and about in Wirral, particularly for people with mobility issues and sensory 

impairments 

1.5.6 Prevention work also acts universally whilst targeting specific groups.  Some of these actions 

will also provide data that will be useful in understanding the true size and shape of service 

demand in key areas, as well as preventing it wherever possible, for example, by:  

 Reviewing the provision of pre-retirement courses for all local residents to plan for their 

retirement years 

 Working as a partnership to develop and agree a robust method of capturing data 

around the prevalence of disability in Wirral and implementing an All Age Integrated 

Disability Service  

 Increasing the uptake of maternity services delivered by integrated teams in locality-

based settings; 

 Providing targeted drug and alcohol interventions so reducing misuse;  

 Developing links with children and young peoples services to investigate the 

development of an approach to risk taking behaviour to include drug and alcohol use. 

 Working with partners developing the growth strategy for the borough to ensure that the 

concept of a Healthy High Street is integral to the regeneration and economic 

development of the borough. 

 Developing, promoting and supporting good referral pathways between GPs and the 

network of sports, leisure, social and physical activities available in Wirral, particularly 

those activities provided by the extensive voluntary sector 

Page 83



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

66  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

Employment and Financial Independence 

1.5.7 Pledges in this area will provide opportunities for commissioned services on Council 

premises (whether or not these serve to drive up real income, they will generate footfall).  A 

key focus is on changing perceptions and expectations of young people, whilst actively 

engaging them in shaping the future of their borough.  Key pledged activities that particularly 

align with our proposals include: 

 To raise aspirations, engage local employers and improve vocational awareness 

develop opportunities or young people through the Young Chamber and Wirral Met 

College 

 To develop programme/activities/training e.g. coding clubs / digital entrepreneurship 

skills training to support young people to improve and enhance their digital skills 

(including coding) to enable them to thrive and compete in a modern digital environment 

 To implement Access Wirral programme to provide transactional services and 

information online enabling customers in Wirral to manage their business, through a 

single point of access 

 To embed employability programmes and financial advice within primary health services 

and early years’ intervention activities e.g. through Community Hubs 

 To co-ordinate and raise awareness of accessible, flexible and affordable childcare to 

enable parents to return to and/or sustain employment. 

 To provide advice and information on affordable transport schemes to enable parents to 

access training and employment 

 To maximise work related opportunities to engage students of all ages in the leisure and 

tourism sectors, progress them into apprenticeships, jobs and ensure opportunities for 

continuous professional development. 

Culture, Heritage and Arts  

1.5.8 Perhaps the most relevant package of pledges is focussed specifically on those services and 

assets in the scope of our project.  They include promises to: 

 Establish a knowledge and funding hub for small arts and cultural organisations in 

Wirral; 

 Develop a calendar of events and activities and publicise through a central website and 

explore the use of technology and social media campaigns to encourage resident and 

visitor participation in arts, culture and heritage; 

Page 84



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

67  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix A 

Needs Analysis 

 Work with families, youth organisations and schools to increase participation in cultural 

education from an early age; 

 Develop Wirral’s unique marketing approach as a cultural destination including working 

with .Culture Liverpool to deliver major cultural events over the next five years, and with 

Liverpool Film Office to identify future potential filming opportunities in Wirral; 

 Deliver tourism marketing which promotes Wirral’s visitor offer including culture, 

Discover Wirral (shorts breaks) and Wonders of Wirral (day breaks); 

 Develop plans with probation, youth offending services and the voluntary sector to 

provide opportunities for offenders to undertake environmental improvement 

opportunities in their communities; 

 

 

Page 85



C:\temp\Report to Cabinet 15032017 JK (FINAL).DOCX 
 

 

68  Wirral BC - Reimagining Leisure and Cultural Services   Phase 1 Report to Cabinet / 14th March 2017 

Appendix B 

Mapping Grid & Analysis 

2. 

Appendix B 

B Mapping Grid & Analysis 

Floral Pavilion 

Williamso

n Gallery 

Priory 

Museum 

Key 

Community Libraries 

Merged Libraries 

Central Libraries 

Leisure Centres 

IT drop-in 

Café drop-in areas 

Community Centres 

Page 86



 

 

 

Bates Wells & Braithwaite London LLP 

10 Queen Street Place 
London, EC4R 1BE 
www.bwbllp.com 
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7551 7777 
 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

Achieving a sustainable 

library service for Wirral: 

results of an independent 

needs assessment 

 

 

A report by Shared Intelligence 

 

January 2017 

Page 89



 

Contents 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................. 3 

1 Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 5 

2 The Ambition for Libraries .............................................................................................................. 7 

3 Wirral libraries service current position ....................................................................................... 10 

4 Methodology used ........................................................................................................................ 17 

5 Geographic mapping of need ........................................................................................................ 19 

6 Mapping strategic alignment ........................................................................................................ 21 

7 Comparing need to use ................................................................................................................. 24 

8 Findings and significant issues ...................................................................................................... 30 

9 Conclusions and recommendations .............................................................................................. 34 

Appendix I ............................................................................................................................................. 42 

 

 

Page 90



 
3 

Executive Summary 

This report is intended to inform the development of a new sustainable model for Wirral’s library 

service which operates at lower cost and with more impact.  Our work was conducted in autumn 

2016 looking at: 

• Strategic alignment between the library service and the ‘20 pledges’ in the Wirral Plan 

• Geographic patterns of socioeconomic need  

• Usage of the library service and how this compares with need.  

 

We gathered additional data from over 75 stakeholders inside and outside the council through face 

to face meetings many held in Wirral libraries.   We conducted this research against a backdrop of 

mounting pressure on local public services driven by increasing demands on health and social care 

coupled with the fast-approaching phase-out of revenue support grant.  For Wirral Council, that has 

meant making £28m of spending reductions in 2016/17, and will require further reductions in 

2017/18 and every year up to 2020 – by which time the council will need to have reduced spending 

by at least £129m.  

As we conducted our research we encountered committed staff and volunteers and a service which 

makes a difference to lives across the borough and across the Council’s strategic agenda.  Although 

libraries for many are synonymous with books, the most notable impacts we saw came from services 

which use the resources of libraries as a means to social impact; help for jobseekers to learn skills, 

early years activities for parents and their children to learn together, and reading groups designed 

for hard-edged health and well-being outcomes. Among stakeholders there was acceptance of the 

need for change and enthusiasm for a service model more focussed on need and strategic outcomes. 

Wirral’s 2020 Vision is a plan for bringing about real change despite severe constraints. The council 

and its partners are focused on ensuring every child gets a good start in life, and that all older 

residents live well; raising skills and prosperity are seen as key to this.  The 2020 Vision is 

underpinned by detailed plans and strategies and crystallised in the ’20 Pledges’.  When we mapped 

the strategic alignment between the library service and the 20 Pledges we identified seven Pledges 

to which libraries contribute most; older people living well, school readiness, young people ready for 

work, cultural participation, health and well-being, and joined up services.  Our mapping exercise 

shows Wirral’s libraries are already contributing significantly to these Pledges, but not always 

proactively. 

Turning to socioeconomic need, although many stakeholders gave examples of social need being 

spread across the borough, the most notable pattern is the sheer concentration in the east of the 

borough.  When we compared use with need we then saw two patterns.  On the one hand when we 

looked just at books and reading, users of these aspects of the service are most often children and 

adults from the least deprived parts of the Wirral. However, when we looked at other forms of 

library use we saw a different picture.  Some of the highest levels of visits per hour of opening, are in 

the most deprived areas, and libraries in those areas also see some of the highest levels of library 

computer use, WiFi use, and participation in adult and lifelong learning programmes hosted by 

libraries.   

Page 91



 
4 

The reach of Wirral’s libraries is substantial, with 1.2 million visits annually according to the latest 

national figures from CIPFA.  Around 54,000 individuals (17% of residents) are recorded as having 

used Wirral libraries for book borrowing in 2015/16 and of these, 25,000 were under 18 - one third 

of Wirral’s children and teenagers.   Besides book borrowers, many more Wirral residents are using 

libraries for other purposes (accessing the internet, learning new skills, and attending activities and 

programmes).  Although it is harder to obtain data on the number of people using libraries in these 

ways, the evidence suggests at least 25% of Wirral residents regularly use libraries and the true 

figure may well be higher.   

However, the acute financial pressures faced by the council mean library hours and staffing have had 

to be reduced and staff are focused almost exclusively on day-to-day tasks rather than the service 

development and outreach which is essential to increased impact.  Alongside this, a recent fall in 

visits is a warning that the value of the service could be permanently eroded unless a more strategic 

approach is put in place.  Despite this, the sheer scale of use, the alignment with borough-wide 

priorities, and the fact libraries are used by all communities from the least to most deprived – 

indicates Wirral’s libraries are a significant platform for meeting social outcomes on a very large 

scale.  A high social-impact model of this kind is also in line with the Government’s view of public 

libraries as set out in the Government’s “Ambition for Libraries” published last December.  

In our view the most significant barrier standing in the way of a more sustainable and impactful 

service is the size of the library network.  Wirral’s 24 branches are equivalent to one branch per 

13,371 residents.  This is more branches per capita than the national average and significantly more 

than the average among those library services which achieve the highest visit figures nationally.  Our 

main report concludes by describing a new model for the library service which we believe would be 

sustainable – operating at a lower cost and achieving more impact.  The model is predicated upon 

closing some libraries - retaining a network of between 14 and 16.  This would give Wirral one library 

for every 20,000 to 23,000 residents.  While the model would deliver savings, more fundamentally it 

would shift the balance to a higher ratio of staff to physical branches, and more volunteers in public 

facing roles.  We see this shift as essential to creating a more sustainable and impactful service.  

Within the new lower budget, a significant amount would be reallocated to fund outreach, service 

development, volunteer co-ordination, income generation and grant-winning – key ingredients of a 

higher impact service.  There would also be scope for opening hours to be extended, and better 

aligned with needs.  Self-service kiosks would be promoted more heavily.   Opportunities are also 

likely to arise from the council’s strategic asset review to upgrade or relocate libraries to locations 

where they will have greater impact.  Buildings no longer required would be sold or transferred and 

have no subsequent role in relation to the library service.  Clearly, decision-making around library 

closures is difficult, and subject to intense scrutiny.  We have set out the logic behind our 

conclusions, and synthesised these into a set of criteria which could be used.  Our model does not 

suggest any central libraries should close, but is based on central library services being focused on 

just one of the four central libraries, while services at other central libraries would be reduced.  

This new model, while delivering a reduction in the controllable budget of at least 20%, would 

constitute a far more effective and impactful balance between physical locations and staff capacity.  

This in our view, will deliver a service in a stronger and more sustainable position to meet the needs 

of residents, the strategic priorities of the council, and the vision set out in “Ambition for Libraries”. 

Page 92



 
5 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Few people challenge the view that the needs of our communities around access to information, 

literacy, knowledge, well-being and learning are changing rapidly – or that how well we meet these 

needs as a society will impact on how fairly the opportunities of the coming decades will be spread.   

1.2 Along with a handful of other institutions (schools, colleges, early years agencies, and public health 

professionals) public libraries are at the forefront of meeting these needs and this means libraries 

must continually adapt and re-focus their services to keep pace with the changing world their 

communities inhabit.   

1.3 Coupled with this, the pressure on local public services continues to mount – manifesting as a twin-

headed challenge of spiralling demands on health and social care combined with the phase out of 

revenue support grant by 2020.  For Wirral Council, that has meant making £28m of spending 

reductions in the current year 2016/17, with further reductions of a similar magnitude needed in 

2017/18 and every year up to 2020 – by which time the council will need to have reduced its 

spending by at least £129m.  

1.4 Wirral’s 2020 Vision is a plan for bringing about real change despite severe constraints. The council 

and its partners are focused on ensuring every child gets a good start in life – whereas now not all do 

– and that all older residents live well – whereas now, many are at risk of isolation.  The drivers for 

both have been identified as tackling low skills and building prosperity for all residents. The headline 

goal of Wirral Council and its partners is not just about what can be achieved, “but in the manner in 

which we will deliver it” – this means working differently with communities, listening differently and 

using data and intelligence in more sophisticated ways. 

1.5 Across the country, and around the world, public libraries are taking more active roles in meeting 

these same challenges through innovation, partnerships, and technology.  It is true Wirral’s libraries 

– like many others across the UK – have seen a fall in visits and this puts at risk their effectiveness 

and long-term value to the council. But because of the strong position from which they began, and 

the large number of people who still use Wirral libraries, the potential for large-scale impact 

remains.    

1.6 Against this background a set of proposals relating to libraries were due to have been taken forward 

in the current financial year, but have been deferred pending further work on developing a new 

sustainable service model – and this study forms part of that.   

1.7 Compared nationally Wirral library service spent slightly below the national average per resident in 

2015/16 (although that average itself is reducing each year).  Nonetheless, the continuing budget 

pressures mean it is imperative that the council can identify a model for operating the library service 

which can operate sustainably within a lower budget than now, and which delivers greater impact in 

return for whatever budget is set.   

1.8 Public libraries on the Wirral and across the country, like all public services, must now achieve a 

state of continuous development to keep pace with needs. Yet, changes to public library services 

have consistently attracted a very high level of public interest, concern and scrutiny.   

Page 93



 
6 

1.9 Much of that scrutiny focuses on the statutory duty contained in the Public Libraries and Museums 

Act 1964 which requires all first-tier English local authorities to provide “comprehensive and efficient 

public Library Services for all persons desirous to make use thereof”1.  The Act provides no definition 

of ‘comprehensive and efficient’ but it does require local authorities to ‘have regard to’ three 

aspects of a library service; what is provided in terms of materials, resources and activities; what is 

done to encourage use by children and adults; and opportunities for co-operation with other 

agencies whose functions could take place in libraries.  

1.10 This means that while libraries need to be continually adapting – often in significant ways, this must 

be done with transparency, integrity, and above all – based on the best available evidence.  

1.11 This study was commissioned to provide the Council with a set of reasoned and well-researched 

recommendations to support the development of a sustainable future model for Wirral’s library 

service.  Shared Intelligence were appointed in October 2016 and over a 12 week period undertook 

work to investigate the needs which the library meets, and to propose a new model which can meet 

the statutory duty and needs of residents and the council.  Our study comprised a detailed needs 

assessment – looking in detail at the strategic alignment between the library service and the ‘20 

pledges’ in the Wirral Plan, geographic patterns of socioeconomic need and use, and then comparing 

use of the library service with need.  

1.12 The project reported to the Leader and Portfolio Holder for libraries, via the Customer Services 

Senior Manager and an officer from the council’s Transformation Team.  Along with a number of 

requirements to gather data on needs and use, to seek input from stakeholders, and to consider 

wider best practice – we were also asked to give specific consideration to three documents: 

• A local Inquiry into the Public Library Service Provided by Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council 

(DCMS, 2009) – often known as the ‘Charteris Report’ 

• Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016 to 2021 (DCMS, 2016)  

• Wirral Council Plan: A 2020 Vision (Wirral Council, 2015) – which contains Wirral’s 20 Pledges 

  

                                                           
1 The statutory duty is contained in section 7 of the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 

Page 94

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1964/75#commentary-c713328


 
7 

2 The Ambition for Libraries 

The ambition for libraries nationally 
2.1 Across the country library services face significant challenges – not least the pressure to operate 

within smaller budgets while increasing their impact.   

2.2 Nationally, the Libraries Taskforce has been given a role by Government to set the overall ambition 

for public libraries and provide national direction for meeting these challenges.  In December 2016 

(as our research drew to a close) the Taskforce published their first major report Libraries Deliver: 

Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016-2021. It is the product of a year-long programme of 

research and engagement across the country to build an up to date picture of the role public 

libraries are now playing, and to set the direction for the coming five years.  An important purpose of 

the report is to help central and local decision-makers understand how libraries contribute to wider 

strategic goals and how libraries can deliver the maximum possible impact in relation to their cost.  

2.3 While it is true that libraries contribute in a myriad of ways, the Taskforce through their research 

have identified seven social outcomes to which libraries contribute the most: 

• cultural and creative enrichment 

• increased reading and literacy 

• improved digital access and literacy 

• helping everyone achieve their full potential 

• healthier and happier lives 

• greater prosperity 

• stronger, more resilient communities 
Libraries Taskforce “Ambition for Libraries” (December 2016) 

2.4 The Taskforce have also sought to illustrate how the typical public library offer contributes to these 

outcomes across all life stages from cradle to grave.  This is captured in the diagram overleaf.  It 

focuses on; services for children from computer coding to story times; opportunities and resources 

for lifelong learning and self-led study; support for entrepreneurs and jobseekers through business 

and Intellectual Property advice and job clubs; and services which encourage active ageing from 

home-readers to books on prescription.   

2.5 This national vision for public libraries on one hand simply highlights what many libraries are already 

doing.  But it also represents a challenge to the perceived rationale and purpose of libraries by 

shifting how the public and decision-makers view books and reading - from being the end in itself, to 

viewing the resources held by libraries as a means to ambitious social and economic goals which 

change lives and improve neighbourhoods.    

2.6 If we take the Taskforce’s seven key outcomes as shorthand for the purpose of public libraries (with 

books and reading only a means to an end) then the role of Wirral’s public library service seems to 

return closer to what it was when Wirral’s first libraries opened a century and a half ago.   The 

original Birkenhead library (long since gone) was one of England’s first modern public libraries and 

whose primary purpose was not to provide convenient places to borrow books. Rather, they were 

Page 95

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021


 
8 

intended to provide free access to knowledge and learning, in order that everyone should have a 

chance to develop life-skills and work-skills needed to succeed at a time of rapid economic change. 

 

Figure 1 - Libraries Taskforce “Ambition for Libraries” (December 2016) 

2.7 A growing number of library authorities have already moved to a public library service model which 

focuses first and foremost on social outcomes –linked directly to their own local statements of the 

strategic goals of the Council and other local partners (e.g. frameworks like Wirral’s 20 pledges). 

2.8 What does this mean in practice? For those library services who are shifting their focus more firmly 

to social outcomes, the most notable difference is less about their physical resources and 

appearances, and all about how they use those resources – in particular the level of outreach, 

programme development, and direct targeting of need, which they prioritise.   Many also have 

invested in their capacity to recruit, manage and retain volunteers and use volunteers for outreach 

rather than simply clerical tasks and meet-and-greet.  

2.9 Below are six snapshots from around the country of library services with initiatives or programmes 

which are aimed at increasing alignment of the library service with local strategic priorities.   Most of 

these examples have been made possible by securing grant funding from Arts Council England, Big 

Lottery, the Carnegie UK Trust and others in order to develop and test new approaches which have 

then been expanded and adopted across each service.  

  

Page 96



 
9 

 
Slough Libraries are aligning with corporate 
priorities by making children and young people 
the strategic focus of their library service, given 
60% of their usage relates to children.  They 
are using this to plan the physical integration 
of other services who also seek to reach 
children and young people. 
 

 
Essex libraries are supporting strategic county-
wide goals around families by transforming 
their early years literacy sessions.  They are 
aligning story-times to Early Years Foundation 
Framework outcomes, and are working with a 
group of experts to develop a story-time model 
which has direct benefits for maternal mental 
health. 
 

 
North Somerset libraries are meeting borough-
wide health goals.  As part of the Carnegie UK 
Trust’s ‘Library Lab’ programme they are 
developing new services to support 
information literacy around nutrition, 
combined with community activities – focused 
especially on healthy eating and reducing 
obesity. 
 

 
Devon libraries have a strategic partnership 
with Heart of the South West LEP which 
resulted in a Fab Lab in Exeter library (in 
partnership with the LEP and Exeter University) 
which promotes STEM qualifications to library 
users of all ages. It also helps the University 
staff and students connect better with the local 
community. 
 

 
Newcastle libraries are leading the Council’s 
efforts to become an ‘open data’ city where 
every possible type of data relating to the 
council and public services is shared – from the 
value of their social housing stock to their own 
website analytics.  The aim is to engage the 
public and build trust.  The library service has 
been fundamental to engaging the public in 
open data and enabling local people to make 
practical use of it.  
 

 
Manchester libraries delivered a 3-month 
‘Google Garage’ with Google to run advice 
sessions for SMEs and start-ups on topics 
including marketing, selling overseas, and 
managing business data. The library service 
also provides ongoing free access to online 
learning from degree-level courses via 
Futurelearn to courses on running community 
groups via ‘Community How To’. 
 

  

Page 97



 
10 

3 Wirral libraries service current position 

Overview of the service 
3.1 Wirral Council’s library network consists of 24 library branches across the Wirral (see map overleaf).  

Four of these are large ‘Central’ libraries offering a wide range of services including reference and 

ICT suites; three have within them multiple self-contained rooms and large amounts of floor space 

overall while one central library is smaller and located in a building along with a Wirral Council 

leisure centre.  Two central libraries also contain a one-stop-shop2. 

3.2 There are sixteen community libraries which vary in size and scale of services.  Most community 

libraries are standalone sites with varying levels of services and activities although some are 

essentially rooms within larger buildings (schools, Children’s Centres, and community centres).  All 

sixteen have budget provision to be staffed and open 18 hours per week, but five have extended 

hours thanks to volunteer or partner-led provision.  Some have opening hours similar to the larger 

libraries (30-40 hpw) while most are only open three days a week.  Several community libraries have 

highly active library Friends groups who co-ordinate timetabled events, hold fundraising activities, 

and enable those libraries to open for additional hours beyond those where paid staff are scheduled. 

3.3 Frontline staff are organised as four peripatetic teams serving different areas of the borough and 

individual staff members are assigned to different branches for each shift. As we discuss in more 

detail later, staffing generally is stretched and there are issues around the perceived purpose of 

frontline roles. 

3.4 Four community libraries are formally merged with the one-stop-shop network.  In these branches 

frontline staff carry out conventional library duties (checking loan items in/out, arranging group 

activities, handling returned items and reservations, assisting with public enquiries) but are also the 

first point of contact or triage for individuals wanting to use the one-stop-shop.  Most of the merged 

libraries are open six days a week for 46 hours per week.  Each has public access computers, and 

individual meeting rooms which are often used by other services and organisations for activities or 

public drop-ins.  Merged library staff tend to spend more time behind their reception desks than 

their counterparts in community libraries to perform their triage role, and as a result organise and 

lead fewer group activities.   Bebington central library is formally merged with the one-stop-shop 

service (open for 55 hours per week) and West Kirby library (open 51 hours) is based in The 

Concourse centre which also houses the one-stop-shop. Wirral libraries also run a housebound 

reader service which delivers books and other loan items to around 450 housebound users’ homes. 

3.5 Wirral’s network of 24 branches is equivalent to one branch per 13,371 residents.  This is a higher 

number of library branches per person (or fewer people per branch) than the national average and 

is one of the highest in the country.  England-wide the average is only around one branch per 

18,000 residents.  

                                                           
2 Wirral’s one-stop-shops are managed under the same senior management as libraries.  They are face-to-face 
contact points where the public can receive specialist help with a range of more complex council and partner 
services, many of which are via a pre-booked appointment. 

Page 98



 
11 

 

Figure 2 - map of Wirral libraries 

3.6 With a few exceptions (e.g. recently refurbished Rock Ferry), the physical buildings have a catalogue 

of shortcomings. Some need investment and repair, many now have more space than can be used 

effectively, and some of the older libraries while being historically important buildings have very 

restrictive layouts compared to what is now considered an ideal public library layout.  Some are also 

Page 99



 
12 

facing away from local footfall or in poor footfall locations altogether (e.g. where the local retail 

geography has changed since a library was built).   

Recent budget reductions 
3.7 The number of library branches has remained unchanged for many years, although budgets have 

been reduced incrementally over the past decade more significantly in recent years.  The primary 

means of achieving these budget reductions has been by reducing opening hours across community 

libraries, which have in turn enabled a reduction in staffing numbers at the managerial and frontline 

levels.  As we explain in more detail in the following sections, achieving further savings through more 

incremental reductions of this kind seems unsustainable.   

3.8 Measures have been taken to mitigate the effect of budget reductions in several ways.  Firstly, by 

supporting library Friends groups to play a bigger role, organising activities, and in some cases 

enabling libraries to be open outside of paid-staff hours. Secondly by having library staff recruit and 

manage more individual volunteers directly – again providing capacity for additional activities. 

Thirdly through partnership with other organisations and services – e.g. one (community library) 

branch is staffed by Children’s Services, and another which is co-located in a building with a local 

community charity (North Birkenhead Development Trust), paid-staff from that charity along with 

volunteers organise a range of library-based programmes and activities.   

3.9 The library service has also introduced self-service kiosks which enable library users (providing they 

are members) to check lending items in and out. Take-up of the self-service kiosks varies from 

branch to branch, but a significant proportion of users still choose to ask a staff member to check 

their lending items in and out. 

3.10 Alongside this, libraries also host many activities and programmes arranged and led by other services 

and organisations including; Wirral Adult Learning who run a large number of adult learning classes, 

The Reader Organisation who run therapeutic reading groups for adults, Involve Northwest who run 

employment support session for jobseekers, AgeUK who run digital skills sessions, and U3A who run 

reading and crafting groups. 

3.11 Another significant change within the service has been the merger of the library service with the 

one-stop-shop service.  This is now complete although it was a complex merger to carry through – 

and the result is a significant joining up of the library service with the council’s main face-to-face 

service for helping people with a range of complex enquiries about council and partner services 

including housing benefit applications, council tax and homelessness.  

3.12 Despite the involvement of volunteers and Friends groups, and valuable partnerships with other 

services and organisations, it is widely felt within the library service that staffing is stretched far 

beyond a sustainable level.  Essentially staff are struggling in their attempt to service the same 

sized network as before, using the same working practices – when what is really needed is a new 

model and a restatement of purpose.  Some staff spoke of being in limbo, and the situation seems 

to have created a culture in which activities such as outreach, organising activities, promoting 

services in areas of high need, and the creation of strong local partnerships – is seen as a luxury 

which staff pressure does not allow, or there is a belief that branch staff are no longer authorised 

to do these things.  

Page 100



 
13 

Use of the service 
3.13 Turning to library use, one of the most reliable sources of library use data are the national CIPFA 

library statistics to which almost all library authorities contribute annually, and which are then 

validated and compiled by CIPFA3. According to CIPFA library data in 2015/16 Wirral libraries 

achieved 1,243,317 face-to-face visits (for library purposes).  This is equivalent to 3.87 visits per head 

of population which is just below the national average of 4 visits per capita and places Wirral 66th 

out of the 134 councils for whom data is available.  However, it is also much lower than in 2014/15 

when Wirral had a much higher figure of 1,676,984 visits, or 5.2 visits per capita (against an England 

average that year of 4.3) putting Wirral 28th out of 139 councils for whom data was available.   

 

Figure 3 - Active borrowers per 1,000 pop. (Left: CIPFA 2014/15 Right: CIPFA 2015/16)  

3.14 But how many people are actually using the library service? No library service we know of can 

records unique visitor numbers (i.e., how many individuals use the service rather than how many 

visits have been counted). At the very least this would require each visitor to swipe their 

membership card every visit.   So, in terms of understanding how many individuals are using Wirral 

libraries we have to seek other data sources.   

3.15 One useful source is Wirral’s 2015 residents’ survey conducted by Ipsos MORI in October 20154 (the 

same period as CIPFA’s 2015/16 data).  Residents were asked about library use as part of a much 

larger opinion survey.  The results show that 63% of respondents claimed they had used a local 

library in the past 12 months, and 26% said they had used a library in the past one month. 

Respondents from Wirral West were more likely to say they had used a library in the past year. 

                                                           
3 CIPFA is the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy and specialises in collecting data from 
across local public services for use in decision-making. 
4 The 2015 residents’ survey was a postal survey, using a random sample from the Royal Mail address file, out 
of 5,650 surveys issued, 1,207 recipients responded. 

Page 101



 
14 

 

Figure 4 – Wirral Residents Survey 2015 repsonses – adapted from Ipsos MORI topline data 

3.16 The residents’ survey also indicates that those most likely to use their libraries are people living in 

households with children, and those who are social tenants (as opposed to private renters or owner 

occupiers). Adults aged 18-34 or over 65 are also most likely to use a library. 

3.17 In terms of active borrowers we can be very sure of the number of individual borrowers.  The 

number of people who were both registered library cardholders and who borrowed a book in 

2015/16 was 54,167, equivalent to around 17% of the population.  This is higher than the national 

average which is currently 13% (although down from Wirral’s 2014/15 figure). We also know exactly 

how many books were borrowed - just over 1 million, equivalent to 3.2 items per resident; the same 

as the England average.   Breaking down regular borrowers by age provides further insight into the 

age-profile of book-borrowers.  Figure 5 below shows that the largest group of active borrowers 

were under 18s who account for 47% (25,219) of all 54,167 active borrowers5.  This accounts for just 

over one in three of Wirral’s 74,452 children and teenagers6. 

                                                           
5 25,219 is the number of members under-18 who have borrowed in the past year, while the total number of 
under-18 members is 29,310 – the difference being those members who have not borrowed a local item 
6 0-19 population figure from Wirral’s Strategy for Children, Young People and Families (2016) 

Page 102



 
15 

 

Figure 5 – Active borrowers by type 

3.18 Data from Wirral libraries also shows there were 129,134 sessions on public access computers and 

four months’ of WiFi data suggests a figure of around 430,000 library WiFi logins annually7.  

3.19 Taking all this data together we can say with certainty that around 54,000 people (17% of the 

population) have visited a Wirral library.  We know this because they borrowed a lending item.  Of 

these, we also know 25,000 were children.   We can also say with some certainty (based on data we 

come onto in subsequent sections) that in addition, many others are using libraries for purposes 

besides borrowing.  We cannot say exactly how many that is but based on the residents’ survey – 

this is between 26% and 63% of the population in total say they use the library service.  By any 

comparison, we would therefore characterise Wirral’s library service as a service which is engaging 

the community on a mass-scale. 

Setting the ambition for Wirral libraries – understanding needs and key 

areas of strategic alignment 
3.20 With 1.2 million visits annually, at least one in three children, and a quarter or more of the adult 

population are using libraries regularly, we believe there are no comparable public services with 

this scale of presence in people’s lives on the Wirral (Children’s Centres for example generate 

under 100,000 visits annually).  As a platform for reaching people of all ages and backgrounds, 

including those most in need, Wirral’s libraries are a significant and well-recognised institution.  

They can be used alongside other preventative interventions to present residents with 

opportunities which might assist them, and to encourage and support people to help one another.  

They are also a point of contact with people over which the council retains significant influence.  

3.21 This is the crux of the ‘Ambition’ report from the Library Taskforce. But whereas the Library 

Taskforce suggests a number of social outcomes which might apply in general terms across the 

country, Wirral Council must of course focus on specific local needs tied to its 20 Pledges. 

                                                           
7 WiFi logins is based on a daily average of 1,176 logins across all branches for August-November 2016 

Page 103



 
16 

Furthermore, even though libraries contribute to every one of the 20 Pledges, no modern local 

public service can be a Jack of all Trades.  The value of libraries lies in their specific strengths and 

specialisms – supporting access to information, enabling literacy and the acquisition of knowledge 

and skills, promoting well-being and learning.  The following sections reporting our findings about 

how in the Wirral, this would be achieved.  

3.22 In summary, Wirral’s libraries are a mass-scale platform for meeting social outcomes and for 

putting in place a prevention based approach on a population-wide scale.  However, the recent fall 

in visits coupled with the fact that the capacity pressures mean staff are focused on managing day-

to-day tasks rather than service development and outreach, is a warning that the value of the 

service could be permanently eroded unless a more strategic approach is put in place soon.  

  

Page 104



 
17 

4 Methodology used 

4.1 The intended product of this library needs assessment is a set of findings Wirral Council can use as 

the basis for creating a library service which is a more effective and impactful and operates at a 

significantly lower net cost than present. Our study began with two pieces of analysis; looking at the 

nature of socioeconomic needs in the Wirral and where it is located (we called this analysis 

‘geographic needs mapping’) and alongside this we also gathered information about all the activities 

and services offered by the library service and assessed how these contribute to Wirral Council’s 

strategic priorities (we called this analysis ‘strategy mapping’). Taken together, these two pieces of 

analysis provided us with a picture of ‘need’.  The geographic mapping provided a picture of the 

physical location of need (in broad terms such as low skills, low income, child poverty, and social 

isolation), and the strategy mapping highlighted which of Wirral Council’s borough-wide priorities 

(i.e. the council’s articulation of need) the library service contributes to most.  

4.2 Although we began this work before the Libraries Taskforce published the final version of its 

‘Ambition’ report, the methods we have used for this study are very closely in line with the kinds of 

review process which the Taskforce recommends.  

4.3 With an initial set of analyses, we then spoke to stakeholders from inside and outside the council to 

test our draft findings and to seek further relevant data. We deliberately chose to conduct most of 

our stakeholder meetings and discussions in Wirral libraries and this enabled us to see first-hand the 

relationship between needs, and the activities and services being offered. 

4.4 This analysis was intended as a basis for exploring how the library service could meet the needs of 

the community more effectively and with more impact, and operate within a lower net budget, or in 

the terminology of the statutory duty - how the service could improve its ‘efficiency’. Each stage of 

the needs assessment is summarised below.   Alongside this we also looked in detail at service 

budget data for the current year and for recent years. 

4.5 Strategy Mapping: The Wirral Plan: 2020 Vision, is the council’s centrepiece policy document and 

contains 20 strategic priorities the council has pledged to deliver with its partners by 2020. The 

pledges represent a synthesis of the issues the council judge as the most significant needs and 

priorities of the community. Each pledge is supported by an in-depth policy document or service 

strategy which describes in more detail how it will be delivered. 

4.6 For our strategy mapping exercise we reviewed all activities and services offered by Wirral libraries 

including those listed online, on printed materials and the full activity rota provided to us by Wirral 

Council staff.   We then mapped each activity or service offer against the individual Wirral Plan 

pledge which we felt that activity contributed most towards.  The results of this exercise are 

summarised in para 6.4 and the full results are included as Appendix I to this report. 

4.7 Geographic Mapping of Data on Needs and Usage: We used publicly available ONS data to produce 

heat maps of deprivation for the Wirral borough area delineated at LSOA (lower super output area) 

level. Maps like this are used routinely within the council but we wanted to ensure we had the latest 

indices of multiple deprivation (IMD) maps (based on 2015 data) and we wanted maps for IMD sub-

Page 105

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/wirral-plan-2020-vision#wgSM-0


 
18 

categories for skills deprivation, child deprivation, and older people deprivation – which we judged 

to be most relevant to libraries.  

4.8 Comparing need with use: We then requested from the library service a set of maps showing how 

use relates to need. The simplest map to produce was of the percentage of people in each Wirral 

LSOA who had borrowed a book in the past 12 months - based on library lending records.  We also 

requested similar maps for participants in the Summer Reading Challenge (the national libraries-

based competition which aims to keep children reading books over the Summer holidays), for 

participants in library-based adult lifelong learning courses, and for users of Wirral’s housebound 

readers service.  We did use some measures of use for which unique user data was not available 

(overall footfal, ICT logins and WiFi logins) and for these we simply looked at use by branch. 

4.9 Testing of our initial analyses with stakeholders and further data gathering: The final stage of our 

needs assessment (and the stage to which we devoted the most time) took place over four weeks 

from November to December and consisted of 25 meetings with around 75 stakeholders from Wirral 

Council and external organisations.  These included members of Wirral’s Cabinet and other elected 

members from all political groups, senior council officers, staff from the library service and TU Reps, 

library users and members of Friends groups, partner delivery organisations.  As mentioned already, 

we took a deliberate decision to conduct the majority of stakeholder meetings in libraries.  In the 

course of our research we were able to visit fourteen of Wirral’s libraries across all parts of the 

borough.  

4.10 The purpose of these meetings was to test our initial analyses on needs and strategic mapping and 

to ask stakeholders if they had further relevant data.  In these meetings with stakeholders we 

followed a standard topic guide, though conversations inevitably evolved depending on who we 

were meeting, and as we carried out more meetings we began cross-referencing information from 

different stakeholders and testing for more detail. 

4.11 We also spoke to the team of advisers from the company BWB who are undertaking a wider review 

of leisure and cultural services. 

4.12 Unless otherwise stated, our analysis in the following sections incorporates comments and input 

from those stakeholder discussions. 

  

Page 106



 
19 

5 Geographic mapping of need 

5.1 The Wirral has a unique natural, human and economic geography.  It is part of one of England’s most 

vibrant city-region economies but the peninsula contains great contrasts.  Birkenhead and Seacombe 

in the east are minutes from Liverpool by road, rail, and (famously) ferry.  The east is urban and the 

economy is a microcosm of national economic history; while Cammell Laird is once again one of the 

worlds’ cutting-edge ship-builders and fitters, much of Birkenhead’s immense docks system is empty 

and awaits the start of a complex and long-planned regeneration scheme.  West of the M53 is rural, 

coastal, and sparsely populated by comparison.  In between golf courses and arable farmland, west 

Wirral is scattered with villages and small towns each with a distinct character.    

5.2 Not surprisingly, there are some obvious socioeconomic patterns in the Wirral not least in terms of 

deprivation as the maps below show.  Wirral has some of the most deprived and least deprived 

communities in the country.  Figure 6 displays four heat maps using data from the Index of Multiple 

Deprivation (IMD) for lower super output areas across the borough showing; all-indicators, children 

and young people indicators, adult skills and deprivation for older people. The deeper red, the 

greater the level of deprivation.   

 

Figure 6 -  IMD Deprivation (clockwise from top left: all IMD, children and young people, skills, older people) 

5.3 Deprivation by all measures is concentrated in the east and north-east of the Wirral, along with 

pockets around West Kirby in the west, as well as Moreton, Bidston and Arrowe Park. 

5.4 The Wirral ‘loneliness map’ (developed by AgeUK) displays the risk of loneliness and isolation for 

residents aged 65+. It shows a similar pattern to the deprivation maps above with loneliness 

Page 107



 
20 

concentrated around Birkenhead. The map uses census data on marital status, self-reported health 

status, age, household size.  This map is helpful as one of the issues raised most often in our 

stakeholder discussions was the extent libraries help prevent isolation and help people remain active 

and independent in old age.  This map shows where that need is concentrated.  

 

Figure 7 - Risk Map (Age UK Wirral) 

5.5 Although many stakeholders we spoke to gave examples of social need being spread across the 

peninsula, the sheer concentration of socioeconomic need around Birkenhead and out towards 

Leasowe is the most notable pattern.  Several stakeholders also referred to a map of ‘life 

expectancy by rail station’ produced by Wirral CCG8 showing male life expectancy along the train 

line from West Kirby to Hamilton Square reduces by one year at every stop from west to east, 

around a year per mile; a difference of 11 years in total. 

  

                                                           
8 The ‘life expectancy by station’ map was produced by NHS Wirral for the Wirral CCG 2013-16 Strategic Plan 

Page 108



 
21 

6 Mapping strategic alignment 

6.1 The Wirral Pledges are 20 strategic priorities the council and the Wirral Partnership have pledged 

jointly to deliver by 2020. The pledges come from a set of thematic and service specific strategies 

each of which details how the individual pledges will be delivered. 

6.2 For our strategy mapping exercise we reviewed all activities and services offered by Wirral libraries 

including those listed online, on printed materials and the full activity rota provided to us by the 

library service.   We then mapped each activity or service offer against whichever individual Wirral 

Plan pledge which we felt that activity contributed to most.  The results of this exercise are 

summarised below and the full results are included as Appendix I to this report. 

6.3 This exercise relied heavily on judgement about how to categorise activities, although we were 

assisted by written submissions from library staff who offered their own versions of this mapping 

based on their direct experience – against which we compared our results.  It is also similar to 

previous strategy mapping carried out by Wirral Council officers.  Furthermore, we tested the results 

of the strategy mapping in our discussions with stakeholders and the version shown in Figure 8 

below incorporates changes from those discussions.    

6.4 What this exercise shows is that while libraries contribute to a majority of the 20 Pledges, there are 

seven pledges highlighted green below which in our judgement the library service contributes 

significantly more.  In other words, although the library service contributes to many strategic 

objectives, these seven areas are where the service earns its keep.  

Wirral 20 Pledges  Existing library service contribution 

1. Older People Live well Multiple activities across the network including digital skills courses and 
groups, crafting sessions, ‘Get Into Reading’ groups – led by library 
service, The Reader Org, U3A, AgeUK, Royal British Legion  

2. Children are ready for 
school 

 

Very wide range of early years activities (music, stories, rhymetimes) 
different formats at different times for different age ranges, foreign 
languages, outreach to nurseries and reception classes, partnership 
activities with EY services – led by library staff, partners, Children’s 
Centres, and volunteers   

3. Young people are 
ready for work and 
adulthood 

 

Learning buddy and homework help, class visits to libraries, foreign 
language lessons and support, careers advice, creative writing sessions, 
digital media-making and creation – led by library staff, partners  

4. Vulnerable children 
reach their full 
potential 

Leapfrog programme for 5-10 year olds who have witnessed DV – led by 
Involve 
 

5. Reduce child and 
family poverty 

Citizens advice drop-ins and triage service signposting a range of 
benefits and related advice. 

6. People with 
disabilities live 
independently 

Sign language courses, Connexions/Carer Connect advice for under25s 
with disabilities 

7. Zero tolerance to 
domestic violence 

Building Better Relationships programme for men who have used 
aggression against a partner – led by Merseyside Community 
Rehabilitation  

Page 109



 
22 

Wirral 20 Pledges  Existing library service contribution 

8. Greater job 
opportunities in 
Wirral  

Nothing specific identified (library-based employment activities are 
focused on supply/jobseeker side)  

9. Workforce skills 
match business needs 

Wide range of activities and structured programmes for jobseekers (job 
clubs, advice sessions), Universal Skills online learning, volunteering 
opportunities, literacy-focused adult reading groups, wide range of 
Adult Learning courses in maths, English and ICT. Digital skills, digital 
literacy, and e-safety courses.  Courses are run by Wirral Adult Learning, 
employment support by REMPLOY, Involve/Reach Out, and Career 
Connect 

10. Increase inward 
investment 

Nothing specific identified 

11. Thriving small 
businesses 

Nothing specific identified 

12. Vibrant tourism 
economy 

Face to face visitor information and advice delivered by staff 

13. Transport and 
technology and 
Infrastructure fit for 
the future 

Nothing specific identified 

14. Assets and buildings 
are fit for purpose for 
Wirral’s businesses 

Nothing specific identified 

15. Leisure and cultural 
opportunities for all 

In addition to books and reading offer, very wide range of 
culture/leisure activities (local history/geneology, foreign languages for 
adults, arts/crafting and making groups, board/table-top games, poetry 
and writing groups, film clubs).  These groups are led by a combination 
of staff, volunteers, and other organisations.  Libraries also distribute 
Wirral Passport  

16. Wirral residents live 
healthier lives 

Wide range of active and sedentary health-supporting activities 
(therapeutic reading for mental health, Ways to Recovery [rehab], 
breast-feeding advice, Tai Chi, circuit training, Fibromyalgia support, 
local Healthwatch).  Most is free and led by partners or staff, some 
fitness classes are commercial.   

17. Community Services 
are joined up and 
accessible 

Main activity is One-Stop-Shop access points and point of access for 
other advice and guidance (CAB, Connexions).  Libraries also provide 
access to elected representatives - Councillor surgeries, MP surgeries, 
Police, and meeting space for civic and community groups  

18. Good quality housing Nothing specific identified 

19. Wirral’s 
Neighbourhoods are 
safe 

Monthly police surgeries and ‘drop-ins’  

20. Attractive local 
environment for 
residents 

Local Ramblers society meetings 

Figure 8 - Seven of Wirral's 20 pledges to which the library service appears to contribute most 

 

6.5 These seven pledges are similar to the outcomes identified nationally by the Libraries Taskforce; but 

the main difference is they are directly aligned with Wirral’s specific local goals.  Furthermore, in 

contrast to the Taskforce’s library outcomes, these are based on what Wirral libraries are doing 

already, whereas the Taskforce outcomes are based partly in the present, and are partly aspiration.    

Page 110



 
23 

6.6 Using a similar process we then looked at the activities taking place at each branch (using published 

information and service activity rotas) to identify which pledges are being met where.  In Figure 9 

the libraries are shown in order of how many Pledges are covered by the activities on offer.  We 

have also shown an estimate of the average of the IMD (index of multiple deprivation) scores for the 

area served by each branch. What is notable from the table is that while activities at the central 

libraries contribute across the seven Pledge areas, the coverage across the rest of the network is 

very variable.   

 

Figure 9 – summary of branch activities in terms of Pledges and level of deprivation 

6.7 It is notable too that although three branches in areas with high IMD scores have activities which 

contribute across to least six of seven Pledges, there are four branches in high IMD areas which only 

offer activities which contribute to 1, 2, or 3 of the Pledges – these branches also have fewer 

activities overall.  Figure 9 also shows that Rock Ferry (based on the information we have) appears to 

have no activities specifically for older people or early years despite being one of the areas of highest 

need for those groups. Whilst Woodchurch Library is adjacent to a Fender Primary School currently 

the only activities for children are school visits.  

6.8 Figure 9 also highlights that in 8/24 libraries there appear to be no early years and pre-school 

activities - ‘Children are ready for school’ - yet we encountered a great deal of evidence suggesting 

these activities (we included here rhyme times, story times, music/singing, and library staff visits to 

other EY settings) are among the most popular activities and services of all.  Seven of those eight 

libraries with no early years activities are in areas of high or moderate need.  

 

Constituency Branch
Older People 

Live well

Children are 

ready for 

school

Young people 

are ready for 

work and 

adulthood

Workforce 

skil ls match 

business 

needs

Leisure and 

cultural 

opportunities 

for all

Wirral 

residents l ive 

healthier 

l ives

Community 

Services are 

joined up and 

accessible

IMD status 

(estimated)

Wirral South Bebington Merged Central Lib x x x x x x x M

Wirral West West Kirby Central Lib x x x x x x x M

Wallasey Wallasey Central Lib x x x x x x x M

Birkenhead Birkenhead Central Lib x x x x x x H

Wallasey Moreton Merged Lib x x x x x x H

Wallasey Seacombe Community Lib x x x x x x H

Birkenhead Rock Ferry Merged Lib x x x x x H

Wirral South Heswall Merged Lib x x x x x L

Wirral West Greasby Community Lib x x x x x L

Wirral West Pensby Community Lib x x x x x L

Wirral South Eastham Merged Lib x x x x M

Birkenhead Prenton Community Lib x x x x L

Birkenhead Beechwood Community Lib x x x H

Birkenhead St James community Lib x x x H

Wirral West Irby Community Lib x x x M

Wirral West Woodchurch Community Lib x x H

Wirral South Bromborough Community Lib x x M

Birkenhead Ridgeway Community Lib x x M

Wirral West Hoylake Community Lib x x M

Wirral West Upton Community Lib x x M

Wallasey Wallasey Village Community Lib x x L

Wallasey Leasowe Community Lib x H

Wirral South Higher Bebington Community Lib x L

Wirral South New Ferry Community Lib M

Page 111



 
24 

7 Comparing need to use 

7.1 Our next step was to compare the usage data with the needs mapping.  We were aware of the 

weakness of over-reliance on book borrowing data to understand library use given that Wirral’s 

libraries are used for many different purposes besides lending. However, the practical challenge we 

faced is that for many of Wirral’s library activities and services, user data is not routinely captured on 

a borough-wide basis. We tried, for instance to obtain data about users of library computers which is 

a significant area of use, but the number of unique users is not captured, only total number of 

sessions.  Similarly, no data is collected about where in the borough computer-users come from – 

only which branch they are in when they use a computer (which might not be where they live).  

There were also areas of library activity where some user data was collected but not borough-wide. 

One example of this was library-based early years reading and story sessions; although user data is 

collected for a handful of these sessions, borough-wide data collection does not take place.  

The density of book-borrowers is lowest around Birkenhead 
7.2 Each time a book is borrowed from a library, the library user presents their library card (to staff, or 

to a self-service kiosk) and a record of the loan is generated on that user’s account and this is all held 

on the library management system.  This means that extremely accurate data exists about how 

many books have been borrowed and by whom.  It also means we can create a very accurate map 

showing the extent that people in different parts of the borough are borrowing books.  What our 

heatmap of book borrowers shows is that they are concentrated in the west, northeast, and 

southeast of the borough.  In these parts of the borough, there are 42 lower super output areas 

(LSOAs) where between 13.5% and 23.5% of the population have borrowed at one book or more in 

the past 12 months.  Around Birkenhead, the percentage of the population who have borrowed a 

book recently is lower, in 45 LSOAs it is only 2.7% to 7.5% of the population. 

 
Figure 10 – Heat map of book borrowing across LSOAs 

Page 112



 
25 

  

Other forms of use show different patterns  
7.3 However, as we look at other measures we see different patterns.  

7.4 Summer Reading Challenge is a national scheme which encourages children to read by rewarding 

them if they read six books during the school summer holidays.  The aim is to prevent children’s 

reading ability sliding back over the summer break. Figure 11 below shows the location of 

households with children who took part in the challenge (based on data for 4,493 recorded 

participants).  While the area around Birkenhead is still the lowest area of take-up, the areas around 

Beechwood and Leasowe libraries show as hotspots, despite being cooler for general borrowing.   

 
Figure 11 – Heat map of Summer Reading Challenge Participants 

 

7.5 Lifelong learning sessions are run by Wirral Adult Learning in libraries across the library network. We 

were able to map postcodes of 491 learners.  This was too small a dataset to produce a meaningful 

heat map, instead we asked council officers to create a dot map of those postcodes layered on top 

of the IMD deprivation heat map. Here we see far more overlap with areas of need including the 

most deprived areas. Interestingly however, there are also some areas of high deprivation with very 

few learners in our dataset.   

Page 113



 
26 

 

Figure 12 - Lifelong Learning users dot map, layered on deprivation heat map 

 

The home reader service is provided to 442 library users and these are shown in Figure 13. This is 

the book delivery service for housebound, predominantly older residents. Here the map shows a 

wide spread of use, with, if anything, a weak clustering in the east of the borough.    

 

Page 114



 
27 

Figure 13 – Dot map of Home Reader Service users  

7.6 Library visits (footfall) as we have explained already cannot be mapped in terms of where users 

come from, instead we can only show the branches where visits take place. In Figure 14 below we 

have adjusted the branch visit data to create a like-for-like comparison showing footfall per hour of 

opening based on current opening hours and using 2015/16 visit data.  What this shows is that visit 

levels vary a great deal across the borough, but unlike book-borrowing the pattern is not as clearly 

east-west.   The top five are West Kirby and Greasby (West Wirral), Wallasey Central (Wallasey), 

Rock Ferry (Birkenhead), Seacombe (Wallasey), and Bromborough (Wirral South).  A similarly mixed 

pattern exists among the bottom five. (N.b. no visit data was available for New Ferry).   

9 

Figure 14 – Footfall per hour of opening (no data provided for New Ferry) 

  

                                                           
9 Footfall per hours of opening: the service seeks to collect data on “visits for library purposes” but given that 
some library branches are in shared buildings this may still include some non-library related footfall.  

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

Fo
o

tf
al

l p
er

 h
o

u
r

Footfall per hour of opening (2015/16)

Page 115



 
28 

7.7 Public access computer use, is another dataset where we cannot map individual users. But the 

library service was able to provide data on the number of session logins per branch. For Figure 15 we 

again adjusted the data to show sessions per hour of opening based on current opening hours. One 

pattern is that the top four locations are all in the east of the borough (Birkenhead, Wallasey, 

Seacombe and Rock Ferry). We also see that on a like-for-like basis, three community libraries have 

heavier usage than some central libraries (Seacombe, Rock Ferry, and Moreton). 

 

Figure 15 - Comparison of ICT logins - per hour of opening (no data provided for New Ferry) 

  

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

Lo
gi

n
s 

p
er

 h
o

u
r

Comparison of ICT logins - per hour of opening

Page 116



 
29 

7.8 WiFi use per branch was another dataset we were provided. WiFi was expanded in summer 2016 to 

all 24 branches using a new system. The data in Figure 16 is based on average numbers people using 

the branch WiFi during the first four months in which all branches had the new system operational 

August to November of 2016.  We have also adjusted the data to show what the equivalent figures 

would be if all libraries were open the same number of hours.  Here we see five branches at the top 

of the ranking which do not appear high on the other forms of use (Bromborugh, Hoylake, Prenton, 

Pensby, and Woodchurch).  We noted however, that WiFi was overhauled in summer 2016 as part of 

the DCMS Ministerial inititaive to achieve 100% WiFi coverage in all libraries – and use patterns may 

still be emerging. 

 

Figure 16 - Average Wi-Fi users per day (adjusted for openeing hours and no data for New Ferry or W Kirby) 

What do these comparisons tell us? 
7.9 These comparisons of use and need highlight two issues.   

7.10 In terms of books and reading, while the greatest social need (in terms of overall deprivation, low 

skills, child poverty, over 65s in need, and isolation) is concentrated in the east around 

Birkenhead– it is most often children and adults from the better-off parts of the Wirral who are 

using the service most for book-borrowing. 

7.11 People from the more deprived parts of the borough are the most likely users of the library service 

for accessing lifelong learning. We also see that some of the highest levels of visits per hour of 

opening are in the most deprived areas, and that libraries in those areas are also seeing 

comparatively high levels of computer and WiFi use. 

 

 

0
50

100
150
200
250
300
350
400

W
iF

i l
o

gi
n

s

Average WiFi users per day by branch (adjusted)

Page 117



 
30 

8 Findings and significant issues 

8.1 This section synthesises our findings from the desk-based analysis, the discussions we had with 

stakeholders (who often provided further data for us to analyse), and our first-hand observations 

from visiting library branches.  

A lower-cost and more needs-focused service seems impossible whilst 

also trying to sustain a network of 24 branches 
8.2 The central question for this study has been to consider how the library service can develop a new, 

lower cost and higher impact model.  As part of our research we looked in detail at the current and 

previous years’ budgets for Wirral libraries, including the proportions spent on staff versus other 

costs.  We also took account of the evidence we encountered about staffing levels and staffing 

pressures, and the implications this has had on service development and outreach.   

8.3 From this we came to the view that the most significant barrier to sustainable change is the size of 

the branch network. Whilst staffing levels have been reduced over the past three years, no branches 

have been closed.  

8.4 Even with opening hours reductions, staff capacity is stretched to a level which is unsustainable in 

terms of overall workload, proper planning and review, contingency for absence – and most 

importantly in terms of service development to keep pace with needs.  Service development 

requires time, and it seems that time is not being invested; for example, we were struck by how 

few funding opportunities (from Arts Council England and others) had been sought despite these 

being relatively easy ways to secure pump-priming funding for service innovation.  

8.5 Hence our view that a lower cost model which actively contributes to the 20 Pledges is not possible 

whilst the service also attempts to sustain a network of 24 branches 

8.6 We heard frustration from stakeholders about the reduction in branch opening hours.  Some 

branches now have opening times which members of the public are unlikely to remember because 

they match no familiar pattern. Some stakeholders were frustrated that where branch hours had 

been reduced the shorter hours could have been aligned with peak times e.g. after school, or 

lunchtimes – yet there were examples where the opposite had happened.   

8.7 Coupled with this are the issues already discussed around staffing pressures; a culture in which 

proactive activities are not pursued either for sheer lack of time, or a belief staff should not be 

spending their time on such activities.  Another related issue to this is that some library partners 

along with library staff (most of whom are now peripatetic) now see it as far harder for the library 

service to build local networks within the communities around each branch.  

8.8 Furthermore, despite the well-known sensitivities around library budgets nationally, we heard 

broad-based agreement from inside the council and outside, that the library service must deliver its 

share of savings, coupled with a desire to see the library service consolidate around a more impact 

and outcomes focused model.  In this context we heard a common message from stakeholders of all 

kinds (council and library staff, Friends groups, service partners) that the branch network was now 

Page 118



 
31 

too big for current staffing and resourcing levels.  Understandably there were concerns about the 

fate of specific branches, and comments about the specific character of the smaller communities, 

but generally there was an acceptance that maintaining 24 branches with an ever smaller pool of 

staff was not in anyone’s interests if the library service was to be able to deliver real social impact. 

The library service reaches a large number of people, but is reactive 

rather than needs focused 
8.9 Despite the fall in use Wirral library service still reaches a very large number of residents in absolute 

terms, children in particular, and visit numbers are still healthy when compared nationally (this is 

because Wirral’s ranking nationally had been high enough that even the significant fall only brings 

Wirral’s figure down to the average).  However, a common concern was that the library service is too 

passive.  In other words residents who want to use libraries come through the doors, but the library 

service does too little to reach people who would benefit most and would enable the 20 Pledges to 

be met.  This was coupled with concern that because of the effort which is now required simply to 

keep the basic service functioning the service has lost focus on social impact and its broader 

purpose.   

8.10 We also saw and heard that many users still choose to ask staff to check their loan items in and out 

(rather than use self-serve), and more generally the staffing effort appears geared towards 

responding to those who ask for assistance rather than promoting services to those who might 

benefit (from services which support health, learning, early years development etc.).  We felt this 

was particularly apparent in the OSS merged libraries.  

8.11 There was enthusiasm to see library services change, consolidate and re-focus more clearly on 

outcomes, and a willingness from others to help the library service increase impact (from partner 

organisations, volunteers, and Friends groups).   

Although libraries contribute to the Pledges this needs to be planned 

and measured 
8.12 It was frustrating to encounter a number of activities and services which have clear potential to 

contribute to the 20 Pledges but where there was little data to enable us to delve into the impact 

they are making. There were several areas of existing activity where we could see from other plans, 

strategies, and evidence that libraries are already meeting some of Wirral’s most complex social 

needs.   Yet this approach seems to lack a consistency and rigour.  For example: 

8.13 School readiness: There is 

a significant attainment 

gap for children from 

Wirral’s most deprived 

wards and for those on 

free school meals (FSM), 

which overlaps with areas 

8.14 Evidence: National evidence shows high quality under 5s 

programmes produce cognitive gains particularly for 

disadvantaged children - but key factors are quality, adherence to 

curriculum and intensity/regularity.11 

8.15 Library offer: Library early years offer is open-access and focused 

on EY Foundation Stage areas of language, social development, 

                                                           
11 Key messages from evidence reviews including “Improving school readiness – creating a better start for 
London” Public Health England 2015 

Page 119



 
32 

where school readiness is 

weakest and where fewest 

families take up EY 

services.10 

and literacy.  However, Wirral formats vary from very informal to 

highly planned and pedagogy-based, there is no organised 

targeting of those most in need, and no data gathered on 

outcomes (e.g. regularity of participation).  

8.16 Loneliness and digital 

exclusion: Up to 25,000 of 

Wirral’s over 65s are 

thought to be at risk of 

isolation and while the 

internet can alleviate 

isolation and while two-

thirds of over 65s regularly 

use email, half have still 

never used an online 

government service or 

paid a bill online.12 

8.17 Evidence: National research into digital champions programmes13 

has found up to 83% of participants gain more positive perception 

of the internet and 42% find it easier to keep in touch with family.  

Wirral Public Health also found that group over 65s activities 

achieve better outcomes than one-to-one interventions. 

8.18 Library offer: Structured classes for beginners and novices, and 

walk-in digital assistance to support information literacy. Partners 

including AgeUK also deliver digital exclusion support in libraries. 

However – there is little targeting or data gathering on who takes 

part, progression rates/outcomes, or referral routes. 

Partnership working, volunteering, and Friends groups 
8.19 In some branches there are now volunteer days when volunteers run the library all day. This has not 

been without issues. Because volunteers are not trained to same level as staff they can create 

additional burdens for staff. There are also seemingly unnecessary restrictions on what volunteers 

can do which means that already-stretched paid staff often find ‘to do lists’ from volunteers of tasks 

those volunteers could easily have done but are not allowed to. 

8.20 Partnerships between the library and organisations such as the North Birkenhead Development 

Trust mean that on those days when the library is closed, staff from the Trust open the space and 

run lifelong learning activities.  

8.21 We were struck by the many stakeholders who wanted to use the library service to channel the 

capacity and energy from those communities with more resources, to those with less.  Friends 

groups were particularly concerned about this as were community organisations – often referring 

specifically to the potential for a west to east transfer of skills capacity and social capital.  Some cited 

previous projects which they said proved that people on the Wirral already do this in co-ordinated 

ways, and could do similar through libraries too14.  

                                                           
10 Taken from Wirral’s strategy for children young people and families 
12 AgeUK Wirral, and OFCOM Media Literacy Tracker 
13 Evaluation of ‘Digital Unite’ – a programme using digtial tutors and champions to support over 65s 
14 The project we heard referred to specifcially was the Life Expectancy Wirral Initiative.  This was a partnership 
between Wirral Council and local churches.  An evaluation identified that in terms of social return on 
investment the initiative generated five times the value of what had been spent to deliver it. 

Page 120



 
33 

Library buildings 
8.22 Almost all the library buildings are in need of some form of investment and refurbishment, and a few 

have serious shortcomings such as inflexible layouts, poor footfall locations, or redundant spaces 

which cannot easily be used.  Some buildings which have the most problems, are also in areas which 

(by any measure) have the highest levels of need.  At the same time, the council is engaged in a 

major review of property assets which is intended to lead to a highly proactive shake-up of the 

property portfolio – in which the council is looking for better/higher value holdings.  This seems an 

obvious opportunity for improvements to be made to the library estate if there is close liaison with 

the property assets review. Additionally there may be opportunity for freeing the service from the 

burden of resourcing a building where alternative accommodation could better support delivery 

against key strategic priorities. 

Capacity for change  
8.23 Many staff referred to the merger of libraries and one-stop-shops as evidence the service can deliver 

complex change.  However, we also saw in this the potential for tension between the proactive aims 

of a library service seeking to increase impact and intervene early, and the more transactional aims 

of one-stop-shops. 

Seacombe Library as a prototype for the future – to reach and be 

reached 
8.24 During our study we found that in a great many ways Seacombe Library provides a tangible example 

of what a more impact-orientated library service would look like.  We visited the library on two 

separate occasions.   We know that book-borrowing is low at Seacombe, yet the library on both 

occasions was abuzz with activity. During one visit, we saw: a children’s pre-school literacy session 

was in progress, Reach Out were running advice and guidance sessions for over 30s, a reading group 

for adults with serious mental health issues was taking place, a Connexions advisor was seeing walk-

in visitors, and a British Sign Language class was gathered around a table in another corner. In 

addition, people were using PCs for internet access and receiving assistance where needed from a 

volunteer.  

8.25 Partner agencies told us they value Seacombe as a venue because they know it is a great location to 

reach their target groups, and for their target groups to reach them.  This was especially true for 

employment support partners who value neutral venues which are perceived as separate from the 

DWP system.  This is despite only being open on two weekdays plus Saturday mornings, despite the 

fact the building and equipment need a lick of paint (e.g. ‘Pentium4’ PCs are still in use), and despite 

the fact the main entrance faces away from local footfall.  Yet it is in an area of high need, and 

during the hours it is open footfall and PC use are among the highest in the borough.  

  

Page 121



 
34 

9 Conclusions and recommendations 

A service with a 20% lower budget is possible, geared towards higher 

impact but with fewer libraries, and a higher ratio of staff to branches 
9.1 Our headline conclusion is that we estimate the library service could achieve a reduction of the 

controllable budget by 20% and deliver a service with greater impact on the 20 Pledges and on the 

greatest areas of need . This would be achieved by closing some libraries and retaining 14–16, 

meaning Wirral would have one library for every 20,000 to 23,000 residents.  While the model 

would deliver savings, more fundamentally it would shift the balance to a higher ratio of staff to 

physical branches, and more volunteers in public facing roles.  We see this shift as essential to 

creating a more sustainable and impactful service. 

9.2 The rebalancing we envisage would require a significant proportion of the new lower budget to be 

reallocated to resource service development and social impact activities.  These new functions 

might also be resourced through changes made as part of the wider   leisure and culture review. 

These functions would include the development of high social impact programmes, outreach, 

volunteer co-ordination, income and grant generation, and other new elements of a higher impact 

library service model.  In addition to a higher ratio of staff to branches this could also enable the 

remaining libraries to increase hours, and align hours better with needs.  

9.3 In the service model we envisage, no central libraries would close, but the full range of services 

would be focused on just one of the four central libraries where services would be expanded.  At the 

other central libraries services such as reference would end, and overall public floor space would be 

reduced in other ways (for example by moving children’s areas into or adjacent to the main public 

area) which would enable net savings.  There may also be opportunities arising from the council’s 

strategic asset review to upgrade or relocate libraries to locations where they will have greater 

impact.  

9.4 This model of a smaller central library exists already in the form of West Kirby Central Library.  

Additional volunteers would be recruited across all branches. Self-service kiosks would be more 

heavily promoted and users would be actively encouraged to use them15. 

9.5 A network of 14-16 libraries would be the basis for a service which has capacity to be proactive 

rather than reactive and aligned with the strategic goals and needs of residents in the borough. The 

budget headroom this would create, would enable the service to operate with clearer strategic 

purpose, and better planning and measurement of impact.  

9.6 Across the service there would sufficient staff (and/or volunteers) to plan and deliver high quality 

and evidence-based programming geared towards need and social impact.   The most intensive 

activity would be focused on areas with high levels of need.  

                                                           
15 Experience from other authorities is that it is hard to encourage individuals to use self-service kiosks for the 
first time, but once they have used them a handful of times they continue using them without further 
prompting. 

Page 122



 
35 

9.7 The reallocation of a proportion of the new lower budget (after savings have been taken) to new 

functions is the key mechanism by which the library service will be able to increase impact, meet 

the needs of the most deprived communities, and cement the crucial shift towards a clearer focus 

on the seven Pledges.   

9.8 Clearly, if this reallocation were not made the savings could be greater, and/or the extent of library 

closures could be less.  But without this reallocation and investment in new posts and functions to 

deliver increased impact the service in our view will be on a path of decreasing impact, and 

diminishing value – in this respect the CIPFA data on library visits are a warning.  In other words, just 

to meet the statutory duty, Wirral Council would still find itself funding a service likely costing well 

over £1 million a year, but that expenditure would deliver little or nothing towards the Pledges, 

towards meeting social needs, or towards the kind of innovation and change of mindset to which all 

of Wirral’s services must now contribute towards.  

Rationale for our conclusions 
9.9 By many measures Wirral’s library service compares well nationally.  Despite the recent fall, visit are 

still around the national average and Wirral has a comparatively large number of active borrowers 

many of whom are children and teenagers.  Many people from deprived backgrounds are using the 

service especially to access digital knowledge and develop new skills. 

9.10 But Wirral’s library service must change rapidly.  It must do this to implement a share of the 

spending reductions the council must make between now and 2020, and to increase its impact 

within a community which is changing fast in terms of how learning and information are accessed.  

For Wirral libraries, this means the Pledges which crystallise needs locally; older people living well, 

school readiness, young people ready for work, cultural participation, health and well-being, and 

joined up services.   Seen in these terms the library service seems in a precarious state.  While its 

activities and services are aligned with the big socio-economic priorities of Wirral Council, there is 

little conscious targeting of those services.  Not only that but recent changes in the service have 

reduced capacity to plan and deliver the kinds of services which reach and impact upon deprived 

communities, and the service risks retrenching into a reactive model dominated by book-lending. 

9.11 The capacity of staff to deliver the bare minimum day-to-day service is severely stretched, meaning 

there is currently little or no capacity for service development or implementation of any significant 

change.  It is likely that the significant and rapid fall in visits is related to the reduction in staffing and 

the effect this has had on opening hours and programming.  This in turn has put at risk the value the 

library service offers as a platform for delivery – although given this has happened only in the past 

24 months, we do not see it as irreparable.   

9.12 The potential does exist to do more, within a smaller budget.   This requires an explicit decision to 

focus resources on the communities most in need, and on the aspects of the service which will help 

those communities and which most closely align to the 20 Pledges. It will also require a major 

reallocation of resources from keeping all 24 branches open, to focusing on a smaller network – and 

significant increases to the ratio of staff to physical branches.  

Page 123



 
36 

How many branches does an effective service need? 
9.13 There is no formula for calculating the ‘optimum’ number of library branches per capita.  What we 

can do is make comparisons with other library services.  We believe it is particularly useful to 

consider those which achieve the highest levels of visits per capita – which gives some measure of 

reach and impact.  As it stands Wirral has one library for every 13,345 residents. This is higher than 

the national average for England which was one branch per 18,045 people in 2015/16. Not only that 

but those library services elsewhere which achieve the highest visitor numbers, tend to have 

significantly fewer libraries per resident than Wirral.  As Figure 17 shows, many of the library 

services which achieve the highest levels of visits per capita (over 5,000 visits per 1,000 pop.) have 

one library per 20,000 or more residents.  We also know from other analysis we have conducted into 

CIPFA data that these same services are also more likely to have ‘bucked’ recent trends more 

generally and seen increases across several metrics of use and impact. 

 

Figure 17 - National comparison of population per library 'service point' Source CIPFA 2015/16 

9.14 Having considered this data, alongside the budget figures for Wirral’s library service, we suggest 

that if Wirral had between 14 – 16 library branches instead of 24 it would be able to achieve 

savings of around 20% and at the same time, reinvest in a new higher impact approach.  This 

would equate to one library for every 20,000 to 23,000 residents and more importantly it would 

achieve a more effective and impactful balance between physical locations and staff capacity. 

Page 124



 
37 

9.15 Many library services with the highest visit levels are in densely populated urban areas (in London 

particularly) and not good comparators for the Wirral. However, there are some shown in the figure 

above which have similar characteristics to the Wirral: 

• Oldham library service has over 6,100 visits per 1,000 pop. and one library for every 19,233 

residents and serves a population of contrasts from the edge of Greater Manchester out to 

Saddleworth and the Peak District National Park.   

• Stockton-on-Tees library service achieves around 6,000 visits per 1,000 pop. and has one library for 

every 17,709 residents. Stockton has a very mixed population with 28% of residents living in areas 

which are among the most deprived in England, while an identical proportion live in areas classed as 

some of England’s most affluent communities.  

• Havering library service also has 6,000 visits per 1,000 pop. and one library for every 24,910 

residents. Havering is also split between its north-east commuities of villages on the London fringe, 

and Rainham and Romford in the south which of the borough which are urban, formerly dominated 

by docks and car manufacturing and demographically very similar to Birkenhead. 

9.16 This is not simply about the amount of resources available to each service; these three services have 

very different budgets, one is higher and two are lower than Wirral’s was in the same year.  Based 

on 2015/16 data16, Havering’s library budget equated to £12.34 per resident, Oldham spent £24.43 

per resident, Stockton spent £13.17 per resent – and for comparison Wirral spent a total of £13.44 

per resident. The England average was £14.08 per resident.  

Mobilising Friends and volunteer groups 
9.17 From areas with skilled volunteers and high levels of social capital we heard a willingness among 

Friends groups and volunteers to support libraries in their areas and adopt a greater role in the day-

to-day management of local libraries.  

9.18 This provides an open opportunity to work closer with Friends groups.  Friends groups were 

concerned at the disparity and inequality in the ability of communities to self-organise – the clearest 

example being that libraries in deprived parts of the borough are least likely to have Friends groups. 

Not only might it be more difficult to recruit volunteers in these areas, but the capacity of volunteers 

to deliver high impact activities may require more attention or require professional staff to deliver 

them.  As we have mentioned already, this concern extended to a willingness among Friends groups 

to work with the Council and other partners to help support communities with less social capital and 

fewer skill and resources.  

9.19 Our model assumes some libraries could become branches where volunteers are the main public 

face of the service every day they are open.  Branches in some areas, whether in their current 

location, or collocated with other existing council services - such as community centres - could 

remain within the library network and within scope of the strategic aims of the council and its 

partners, but with volunteers as the primary public face.  This would enable the capacity of the 

                                                           
16 Using the column “Total Revenue Expenditure per 1,000 pop. (152)”, CIPFA 2015/16 data 

Page 125



 
38 

Friends and volunteer groups to contribute directly to the library service with their time, skills, and 

resources – and will contribute significantly towards savings. 

9.20 However, this type of approach will also require a structured high quality volunteering programme 

to recruit and manage volunteers. 

Buildings and Physical Assets 
9.21 The strategic assets review creates a clear chance for the library service to commence an active 

watching brief for opportunities to improve the remaining library estate – with options kept under 

constant review for improving existing buildings (e.g. linked to nearby developments) and/or for re-

locating library branches within communities to higher impact locations with higher footfall, better 

access, and better floorplans.  Buildings no longer required would either be sold commercially or 

transferred for community use and have no further role in relation to the library service. Preparatory 

work would need to be done prior to closures to avoid prolonged vacancies which might blight an 

area and/or cost the council fees in security and upkeep. 

Criteria for decision-making on closures 
9.22 Decision-making around library closures is clearly difficult, and subject to intense scrutiny.  Above all 

such decisions must be based on the best evidence, especially evidence of need.    Nonetheless, as 

we have set out, we do not consider it possible to deliver a sustainable model within a lower budget 

while attempting to maintain a network of 24 sites. So how might these difficult decisions on 

closures be approached?  Our findings around alignment of library services to the 20 Pledges, 

patterns of need and use, and our description of a new model in paragraphs 9.1 – 9.9, provide the 

logic behind the conclusions we have reached.  These can be used as a set of criteria which 

synthesise our conclusions into matrix as follows: 

 Criteria Which scores higher? 

NEEDS 

Index of multiple deprivation More deprived 

Distance to nearest library Greatest distance 

USE 

Footfall per hour of opening Highest number 

Book loans per hour of opening Highest number 

Combined ICT and WiFi sessions per hour of opening Highest number 

ALIGNMENT WITH PLEDGES 

Timetabled activities per opening hour Highest number 

Volunteers and Friends Most active 
Figure 18 - Criteria for decision making on closures 

9.23 We have specifically not included the quality or suitability of library buildings – because we do not 

think this indicates either need, or degree of alignment with the 20 Pledges.  If a library in poor 

quality building scores highly then the priority will be to seek opportunities to improve the building, 

or move to a better premises in the same area. 

9.24 As with any process which uses criteria in this way, there must still be a final sense checking, and we 

would imagine some form of wider consultation.  There are bound to be other factors too which 

these criteria do not capture.  This means that the final decisions cannot be arrived at through a 

purely mechanical process – but we would expect it to provide a clear guide and logical rationale. 

Page 126



 
39 

An outcomes and needs-orientated service 
9.25 We have explained how we identified seven of the 20 Pledges to which libraries contribute most, 

and where the library service earns its keep; skills, adult literacy and school readiness, tackling 

isolation, and supporting health and well-being.  But we have also have explained that this 

contribution is not as structured, planned or measurable as it could be or needs to be. 

9.26 We were asked to consider possible models for assessing the social value of the service to use in 

future cost benefit analyses and provide evidence of contributions to the 20 Pledges. What we 

suggest is an outcomes framework based specifically on the seven Pledges which we have identified. 

This would align library activities with the specific goals and actions which sit beneath the Pledges as 

follows: 

Pledge  Action Library outcome 

Older people 
living well 

Promote schemes and initiatives to 
encourage older residents to be 
physically and mentally healthy  

Use outreach to increase visits by 
residents aged over 65 and from LSOAs 
rated high risk of loneliness 

Children ready for 
school 

Close the gap in readiness for 
school for disadvantaged children 

Attract more under 5s and their 
parents to early years reading groups 
and have more attend 3+ consecutive 
weeks 

Young people 
ready for work 
and adulthood 

To close the inequalities gap in 
attainment between those young 
people in receipt of free school 
meals and their peers 

Increased participation (via school 
partnerships) in Summer Reading 
Challenge and other structured literacy 
activities by FSM children  

Workforce skills 
match business 
needs 

Skills provision more responsive 

to local employer and economic 

growth priorities 

Co-ordinate skills and learning offer 
with local businesses and use MOOCs 
to respond rapidly to changing skills 
priorities  

Leisure and 
cultural 
opportunities for 
all 

Develop, promote and support good 
referral 
pathways between GPs and sports, 
leisure, social and physical activities 

Increase therapeutic referrals (via GPs) 
to library-based social and reading 
activities using Books on Prescription as 
a prototype pathway 

Wirral residents 
live healthier lives 

Developing a comprehensive 
information and advice offer for 
local people 

Integrate library resources into local 
health information offer e.g. Books on 
Prescription and Shelf Help, Macmillan 
Information Points, food and cookery 
collections, access to online CBT for 
depression 

Community 
services are 
joined up and 
accessible 

Designing services around 
residents not the organisations 
which provide them 

Number of One Stop Shop users 
signposted back (post appointment) to 
library resources/ activities which 
enable them to help themselves 

Figure 19 - Seven pledges, outcomes framework 

  

Page 127



 
40 

Different service models for different parts of the borough 
9.27 Shifting the focus of the library service more towards social impact is a major undertaking, although 

the gain in our view is worth the effort. But this still leaves a second challenge for a borough like 

Wirral which serves very different communities – can the library service operate differently in 

different parts of the borough?   Many of the stakeholders we spoke to suggested the service 

needed to be geographically differentiated in some way – but this may be too much to take on at 

once. Instead we suggest that while the goal is a service which focuses more on social impact and 

which is geographically differentiated – it might be more realistic to leave geographic differentiation 

for a second stage of change. 

9.28 If we think of there being four possible models as shown below, we suggest the immediate goal 

should be to move from the bottom right square to the top right square. Then after a period of 

consolidation, the next step would be to move to the top left square.  

9.29  Geographically differentiated Vs Undifferentiated 

P
ri

m
ar

y 
fo

cu
s 

o
n

 s
o

ci
al

 im
p

a
ct

 V
s 

 

p
ri

m
ar

y 
fo

cu
s 

o
n

 b
o

o
k-

le
n

d
in

g 

Geog. differentiated 

Primary focus on social impact 

Undifferentiated 

Primary focus on social impact 

Geog. differentiated 

Primary focus on book-lending 

Undifferentiated 

Primary focus on book-lending 

Figure 20 - Primary focus on social-impact vs. primary focus on book-lending 

  

Page 128



 
41 

Other Issues 

Trusts/Mutuals:  

9.30 We heard interest from partners and staff in the possibility of creating a public sector spin-out in the 

form of a library-specific staff-led Mutual or Trust.  For the four English library services who have 

gone down this route so far, it has provided new opportunities and leadership has been invigorated. 

At the same time however, it has also brought new challenges related to creating substantial new 

enterprises in a tough financial climate.   

9.31 We are also aware that nationally, support is available via several Government routes to support 

library services looking to explore this route.  

9.32 However, the four library mutuals established in England to date (York, Suffolk, Devon and 

Nottinghamshire) have all taken up to two years from conception to going live, and our 

understanding is that this kind of prolonged timescale is not feasible because of the urgency to find 

savings for 2016/17; a twin-track approach however, might be possible. 

Quick wins: 

9.33 There were a host of lower-level house-keeping issues we encountered which taken together could 

help improve the impact and cost-benefit of the service quickly.  These include: 

• A more proactive approach to securing Arts Council England grant-funding for strategic development 

projects, such grants (some up to £250k) could provide much-needed investment to help test out 

new approaches or create elements of the new service model. 

• Improving communication about the service offer especially to disadvantaged groups – either 

directly or via intermediary agencies – would enable the service to increase its impact relatively 

quickly in terms of number of high needs families reached and supported. 

• Ensuring specific approaches around early years, older people, literacy, and adult skills are evidence 

based (presently too many activities are not based on proven models and/or lack consistency in 

delivery) – again this could help increase impact and build reputation with partners for whom it is 

important to demonstrate evidence-based approaches either to build partnerships or secure 

commissioning budgets.  

• Improving data capture especially on issues which provide evidence of the extent libraries are 

contributing to the Pledges. For example this could include data on: whether families taking part in 

early years activities come from the most deprived parts of the borough, and the numbers taking 

part; where participants in adult learning programmes come from, their skills levels when they start, 

and any evidence of progression or employment success; the number of older people who come 

from areas identified as areas with the highest risk of isolation.  

 

 

Page 129



 
42 

Appendix I 

Wirral 20 Pledges to the community and 
residents 

Direct Library Service Contribution Notes: (frequency; hours; % of 
total opening times; volunteer 
run / resourced) 

People: “Wirral is a place where the vulnerable are safe and protected, every child gets a good start in life and older residents are respected and valued”. 

1. Older People Live well 
 
 
 

Skills 

• Age UK IT group 

• Age UK IT courses 

• Age UK art classes 

• U3A self-led craft group 

• U3A reading groups  

• U3A German language  

• U3A art group 

• U3A craft group 
Social activities 

• Fortnightly knitting groups for older people  

U3A = University of the Third-
Age 

2. Children are ready for school 
 

For parents 

• Breast feeding clinic - weekly 
Storytimes, rhymetimes and play 

• Storytime 

• Bounce and Rhyme 

• Story-shaker 

• Wallabies craft and play 

• Moo-moo music for babies and under-5’s 

• Orchard Stories and staff (GMEYC) 

• Hummingbirds sing-a-long (GMEYC) 

• Smudge Group (GMEYC) 

• Weekly Little Chicks 

• ‘Lavender Daisy & Little Ladybirds’  

GMEYC = Ganney Meadows 
Early Years Centre 

P
age 130



 
43 

Wirral 20 Pledges to the community and 
residents 

Direct Library Service Contribution Notes: (frequency; hours; % of 
total opening times; volunteer 
run / resourced) 

Nursery and Reception support 

• Prenton Prep nursery 

• Fender Reception and Yr 1 support 

• St Michaels Reception monthly  

• Seacombe Chipmunks 

• Spanish for tots 

• Under-5 storytime 

• After school storytime 

3. Young people are ready for work 
and adulthood 
 

Reading and literacy 

• Literacy buddies 

• Children’s creative writing 
Other support and advice 

• Learning buddies 

• Connexions service 

• Monthly Media Monkeys 

• Weekly French lessons 

• Spanish for kids 

 

4. Vulnerable children reach their 
full potential 
 

  

5. Reduce child and family poverty (Overlap with several services listed under pledge 17 “Community Services are 
joined up and accessible”) 
 

 

6. People with disabilities live 
independently 

 

• LLL sign language / British Sign Language courses 

• Connexions service for those with disabilities aged <25 

 

7. Zero tolerance to domestic 
violence 
 

• Monthly women’s reading group  

• Involve Northwest Leapfrog Scheme (for child witnesses of DV) 

• ‘Building Better Relationships’ (for male perpetrators of DV)*  

*see Wirral domestic abuse 
JSNA p16   

P
age 131



 
44 

 
Wirral 20 Pledges to the community and 
residents 

Direct Library Service Contribution Notes: (frequency; hours; % of 
total opening times; volunteer 
run / resourced) 

Business: “Wirral is a place where employers want to invest and businesses thrive”. 

8. Greater job opportunities in 
Wirral  
 

• Library volunteering programmess 

• REMPLOY weekly sessions 

• Weekly Involve/Reach Out job club  

• Adult career connect 

 

9. Workforce skills match business 
needs 
 

Literacy 

• Monthly reading groups for adults 
Numeracy 

• LLL Maths skills 1-3 

• LLL improve your maths 
Languages 

• LLL Awards in English Skills 

• LLL improve your English 

• LLL British Sign Language 

• Weekly Spanish lessons 

• Beginners French 
ICT 

• LLL Next Steps Computers 

• LLL easy steps computers 

• LLL IT skills for work assessment 

• Weekly computer classes 

• Weekly computer groups 
Other skills 

• Foster carer training (e-safety) 

• LLL Functional Skills 

 

10. Increase inward investment 
 

  

P
age 132



 
45 

Wirral 20 Pledges to the community and 
residents 

Direct Library Service Contribution Notes: (frequency; hours; % of 
total opening times; volunteer 
run / resourced) 

11. Thriving small businesses 
 
 

  

12. Vibrant tourism economy 
 
 

  

13. Transport and technology and 
Infrastructure fit for the future 

 

• IT safety classes 
 

 

14. Assets and buildings are fit for 
purpose for Wirral’s businesses 

 

  

 

Wirral 20 Pledges to the community and 
residents 

Direct Library Service Contribution Notes: (frequency; hours; % of 
total opening times; volunteer 
run / resourced) 

Environment: “Wirral has an attractive and sustainable environment, where good health and an excellent quality of life is enjoyed by everyone that lives 
here”.  

15. Leisure and cultural opportunities 
for all 

 
 

Writing and literature 

• Jean Hignett literature group 

• Riverside monthly writers group 

• Creative writing group 

• Weekly poetry and literature group 

• Monthly crime reading group 

• Veronica’s reading group 

• Mayer Reading group 
Crafts and Making 

• Tapestry group 

 

P
age 133



 
46 

Wirral 20 Pledges to the community and 
residents 

Direct Library Service Contribution Notes: (frequency; hours; % of 
total opening times; volunteer 
run / resourced) 

• Crafty chatter  

• Monthly / weekly ‘Yarn bombing’ 

• Fortnightly ‘get crafty’ 

• Fortnightly ‘In Stitches’ 

• Fortnightly ‘knit and natter’ 
Visual arts 

• Painters group  

• Weekly art group 

• Wallasey Arts group 
Film and cinema 

• Film Club 
History and Geneaology  

• Friends History Group 

• History society 

• Family History / ancestry research helpdesk service 
Social / games activities 

• Weekly Coffee Club 

• Bridge 

• Fortnightly Scrabble  

• Adult Colouring group 

16. Wirral residents live healthier 
lives 

 

Mental health 

• ‘Get Into Reading’ (GIR) outreach service - for those with / to 
preventatively address - mental health issues 

• Book at breakfast (GIR) 
Physical health 

• Circuit training 

• Monthly Fibromalgia support group 

• Local Ramblers society meetings 
Wellbeing 

 

P
age 134



 
47 

Wirral 20 Pledges to the community and 
residents 

Direct Library Service Contribution Notes: (frequency; hours; % of 
total opening times; volunteer 
run / resourced) 

• Weekly Tai Chi classes 

• Health and Wellbeing Week (~30 activities across the network – 
reading, crafts, social, physical activities)   

• Wirral ways to recovery partner led groups 

• Health Watch 

17. Community Services are joined 
up and accessible 

 

• Councillor surgeries  

• MP surgeries 

• Friends committee meetings / events 

• Citizens Advice Bureau drop-in 

• Connexions service drop-in 

• Involve Northwest advice services 

• Royal British Legion drop-in 

 

18. Good quality housing 
 
 

  

19. Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are safe 
 
 

• Monthly police surgeries  

• Police drop-ins  

 

20. Attractive local environment for 
residents 

 

  

P
age 135



 
48 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Europoint Centre, 5-11 Lavington 

Street, London, SE1 0NZ 

020 7756 7600 

 

www.sharedintelligence.net 

solutions@sharedintelligence.net   

@sharedintel on Twitter 

 

Page 136


	Agenda
	2 Call-in of Cabinet Minute 113 - Leisure and Cultural Services- Future Provision of Services
	Callinminute113Leisureandculturalservicesfutureprovisionofservices
	MINUTE NO.113 - LEISURE AND CULTURAL SERVICES - FUTURE PROVISION OF SERVICES
	LeisureandCulturalServicesReport
	AppendixLeisureandCulturalServices
	Shared Intelligence - Sustainable Librariy Service


